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Notice of Forty-FOURTH
Annual General Meeting

NOTICE IS HEREBY
GIVEN THAT the
Forty-Fourth

44

th

Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of Yee Lee Corporation Bhd
(“YLC” or “Company”) will be held at Weil Ballrooms 3 & 4,
Level 6, The Weil Hotel, No. 292, Jalan Sultan Idris Shah,
30000 Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan on Tuesday, May 30, 2017 at
10.30 a.m. for the transaction of the following business:-

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1.	To receive the Audited Financial Statements for the financial year ended December 31,
2016 and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors thereon.
Please refer to Explanatory Note 1
2.	To declare a first and final dividend of 4.5 sen per share, under the single tier system in
respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2016.
3.	To re-elect the following Directors who retire by rotation in accordance with Article 85
of the Company’s Constitution and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election:(i) Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik
(ii) Sow Yeng Chong

Resolution 1

Resolution 2
Resolution 3

4.	To re-elect Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha who retires in accordance
with Article 92 of the Company’s Constitution and, being eligible, offers himself for
re-election.

Resolution 4

5. To re-appoint Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong as Director of the Company.

Resolution 5

Please refer to Explanatory Note 2
6. To re-appoint Mr. Thang Lai Sung as Director of the Company.

Resolution 6

Please refer to Explanatory Note 2
7.	To approve the payment of Directors’ fees in respect of the financial year ended December
31, 2016.

Resolution 7

8.	To approve the payment of allowances of up to RM60,000 to the Non-Executive Directors
from January 1, 2017 until the next AGM of the Company.

Resolution 8

9.	To re-appoint Deloitte PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors to
fix their remuneration.

Resolution 9
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SPECIAL BUSINESS
To consider and if thought fit, to pass the following Ordinary Resolutions:10. Authority to issue shares pursuant to Section 75 of the Companies Act 2016
	
“THAT pursuant to Section 75 of the Companies Act 2016, the Constitution of the
Company and subject to the approvals of the relevant governmental and/or regulatory
authorities, the Directors be and are hereby empowered to issue shares of the Company,
from time to time, upon such terms and conditions, for such purposes and to such
persons whomsoever as the Directors may, in their absolute discretion, deem fit, provided
that the aggregate number of shares issued does not exceed ten per cent (10%) of the
total number of issued shares of the Company for the time being, and that such authority
shall continue to be in force until the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.”

Resolution 10

11.	
Proposed Renewal of Existing Shareholders’ Mandate for Recurrent Related Party
Transactions and Proposed New Shareholders’ Mandate for Additional Recurrent Related
Party Transactions of a Revenue or Trading Nature (“Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate”)
	“THAT approval be and is hereby given to the Company and its subsidiary companies to
enter into recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature which are
necessary for the Group’s day-to-day operations as set out in Section 2.4 of the Circular
to Shareholders dated April 28, 2017 subject to the followings:(i)	the transactions are carried out in the ordinary course of business and on normal
commercial terms which are not more favourable to the related parties than
those generally available to the public and are not to the detriment of the minority
shareholders of the Company; and
(ii)	
disclosure is made in the annual report of the aggregate value of transactions
conducted pursuant to the Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate during the financial
year with a breakdown of the aggregate value of the recurrent transactions based on
the following information:		

(a) the type of the recurrent transactions made; and

		

(b)	the names of the related parties involved in each type of the recurrent transactions
and their relationships with the Company.

AND THAT such approval shall continue to be in force until:(i)	the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company, at which time it will lapse, unless
by a resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in a general meeting, the
authority is renewed; or
(ii)	the expiration of the period within which the next AGM of the Company is required to
be held pursuant to Section 340(2) of the Companies Act 2016 (but shall not extend
to such extension as may be allowed pursuant to Section 340(4) of the Companies
Act 2016); or

Resolution 11
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(iii)	revoked or varied by a resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company in a
general meeting,
whichever is the earliest.
	AND THAT the Directors be and are hereby authorised to complete and do all such acts
and things as they may deemed necessary or expedient to give full effect to the Proposed
Shareholders’ Mandate.”
12. Continuing in Office as Independent Non-Executive Directors
(i)	“THAT subject to the passing of the Resolution 2, authority be and is hereby given to
Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik, who has served as the Independent Non-Executive
Director of the Company for a cumulative term of more than nine (9) years, to
continue to act as an Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company.”

Resolution 12

(ii)	“THAT authority be and is hereby given to Lee Kee Hong, who has served as the
Independent Non-Executive Director of the Company for a cumulative term of more
than nine (9) years, to continue to act as an Independent Non-Executive Director of
the Company.”

Resolution 13

13.	To transact any other business of which due notice shall have been given in accordance with the Companies
Act 2016 and the Company’s Constitution.

NOTICE OF DIVIDEND ENTITLEMENT AND PAYMENT
NOTICE IS ALSO HEREBY GIVEN THAT a first and final dividend of 4.5 sen per share, under the single tier system,
in respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2016, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the 44th
AGM will be paid on July 18, 2017 to Depositors whose names appear in the Record of Depositors at the close
of business on July 4, 2017.
A Depositor shall qualify for entitlement to the dividends only in respect of:(a)	Shares transferred into the Depositor’s Securities Account before 4.00 p.m. on July 4, 2017 in respect of
transfers; and
(b)	Shares bought on Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”) on a cum entitlement basis according
to the Rules of Bursa Securities.
By Order of the Board

YAP SIN KHEONG (MIA 22814)
TAN BOON TING (MAICSA 7056136)
Company Secretaries
Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan
April 28, 2017
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Notes:1.	Appointment of Proxy
(i)	A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this meeting is entitled to appoint not more
than two (2) proxies to attend and vote on his behalf. A proxy may but need not be a member of the
Company.
(ii)	The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney
duly authorised in writing or, if the appointor is a corporation, either under Seal or under the hand of an
attorney.
(iii)	Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy, the appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies
the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy.
(iv)	Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities
Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991 which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple
beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to the number of
proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it hold.
(v)	The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Lot
85, Jalan Portland, Tasek Industrial Estate, 31400 Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan not less than forty-eight (48)
hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
(vi)	Only a depositor whose name appears on the Record of Depositors as at May 23, 2017 shall be entitled
to attend the said meeting or appoint proxies to attend and/or vote on his behalf.
2.	Explanatory Notes on Ordinary Business
	Note 1
	This agenda item is intended for discussion only as under Section 340(1)(a) of the Companies Act 2016, the
Audited Financial Statements do not require formal approval of shareholders. As such, this agenda item will
not be put forward for voting.
	Note 2
	Resolutions 5 and 6 - Re-appointment of Directors
	With the coming into force of the Companies Act 2016 on January 31, 2017, there is no age limit for directors.
	Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong and Mr. Thang Lai Sung, both are above the age of 70, were reappointed pursuant to Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965 at the 43rd AGM of the Company held on May
26, 2016 to hold office until the conclusion of the 44th AGM. Their term of office will end at the conclusion
of the 44th AGM and they have offered themselves for re-appointment as Directors of the Company.
	This proposed Resolutions 5 and 6, if passed, will approve and authorise Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong
and Mr. Thang Lai Sung to continue to act as Directors of the Company and they shall subject to retirement
by rotation at a later date.

Yee Lee Corporation Bhd

006

Notice of Forty-FOURTH
Annual General Meeting

3.	Explanatory Notes on Special Business
	Resolution 10
	The proposed Resolution 10, if passed, will give a renewed mandate to the Directors of the Company, from
the date of the forthcoming AGM, the authority to allot and issue ordinary shares of the Company up to an
amount not exceeding ten per cent (10%) of the Company’s total number of issued shares for purpose of
funding the working capital or strategic development of the Group. This would eliminate any delay arising
from and cost involved in convening a general meeting to obtain approval of the shareholders for such
issuance of shares. This authority, unless revoked or varied by the Company at a general meeting, will expire
at the conclusion of the next AGM of the Company.
	As at the date of this Notice, the Company has not issued any new shares pursuant to Section 75 of the
Companies Act 2016 under the general authority which was approved at the last AGM held on May 26, 2016
and which will lapse at the conclusion of the forthcoming 44th AGM.
	Resolution 11
	The proposed Resolution 11, if passed, will authorise the Company and its subsidiary companies to enter into
recurrent related party transactions of a revenue or trading nature in the ordinary course of business.
	Resolutions 12 and 13
	
The proposed Resolutions 12 and 13 are pursuant to Recommendation 3.3 of the Malaysian Code of
Corporate Governance 2012 and if passed, will enable Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik and Mr. Lee Kee Hong
to continue to act as Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The full details of the Board’s
justifications and recommendations for the retention of the above two (2) Directors as Independent NonExecutive Directors are set out in the Statement on Corporate Governance in the Annual Report 2016.
Please refer to the Circular to Shareholders dated April 28, 2017 for further information on Resolution 11.
4. 	Poll Voting
	Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Securities, all the Resolutions
set out in this Notice will be put to vote by poll.
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Executive Directors
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AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

100%

Yee Lee Edible Oils
Sdn Bhd

®
®

100%

Yee Lee Trading Co
Sdn Bhd

100%

Mini Motors Sdn Bhd

100%

Yee Lee Marketing
Sdn Bhd

100%
9

Yee Lee Palm Oil
Industries Sdn Bhd

100%

Palker Sdn Bhd *

100%

Sementra Plantations Sdn Bhd

100%

South East Asia Paper
Products Sdn Bhd

100%

Canpac Sdn Bhd

100%

Good Cans Sdn Bhd
(In Members’ Voluntary Winding-Up)

100%

Canpac Vietnam Pte, Ltd

100%

Intanwasa
Sdn Bhd

100%

Sementra Resort
Sdn Bhd

32.50%
Spritzer Bhd

* In the midst of striking-off.

100%

Desa Tea Sdn Bhd

100%

Sabah Tea Sdn Bhd

100%

Sabah Tea Resort Sdn Bhd
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			 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012
FINANCIAL
Revenue
Profit before interest,
taxes and depreciation
Profit before tax
Profit attributable to owners
of the Company
Total assets
Share capital
Shareholders’ equity

FINANCIAL INDICATORS
Revenue growth
Return on equity
Net assets per share
Net Debt to equity ratio#
Basic earnings per share
Net dividend per share
Share price as at 31 Dec
Market capitalisation

#

(RM’000)

1,057,810

799,208

690,450

658,290

699,775

(RM’000)
(RM’000)

75,484
56,506

58,713
41,485

50,483
34,408

57,976
42,738

45,726
29,390

(RM’000)
(RM’000)
(RM’000)
(RM’000)

44,487
934,556
94,332
577,644

31,912
841,190
91,968
523,112

27,014
588,297
90,323
352,550

33,545
561,187
89,182
323,929

22,027
541,760
87,793
289,015

(%)
(%)
(RM)
(%)
(sen)
(sen)
(RM)
(RM’000)

32.36
7.70
3.06
11.31
23.78
4.50
2.36
445,247

15.75
6.10
2.84
8.45
17.52
3.50
2.12
389,942

4.89
7.66
1.95
18.02
15.04
3.00
1.40
252,906

(5.93)
10.36
1.82
20.68
18.96
3.00
1.26
224,739

(8.84)
7.62
1.65
29.66
12.55
2.00
0.85
149,248

Based on net debt (being total borrowings less deposits, cash and bank balances) expressed as a percentage of
total equity.						

®
®
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Revenue (RM’000)

Profit before tax (RM’000)
1,057,810

2016

56,506
2016

799,208
2015

41,485
2015

690,450
2014

34,408
2014

658,290

42,738

2013

2013
699,775

29,390

2012

2012

Shareholders’ equity (RM’000)

Basic earnings per share (sen)

577,644
2016

23.78
2016

523,112

17.52

2015

2015
352,550

15.04

2014

2014
323,929

18.96

2013

2013
289,015

12.55

2012

2012

net Dividend per share (sen)

Share price as at 31 Dec (RM)

4.50
2016

2.36
2016

3.50
2015

2.12
2015

3.00
2014

1.40
2014

3.00
2013

1.26
2013

2.00
2012

0.85
2012
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CHAIRMAN’S
STATEMENT
On behalf of the Board of
Directors, it is my pleasure to
present the Annual Report
of Yee Lee Corporation Bhd
for the financial year ended
December 31, 2016.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE
Year 2016 was indeed a tough year surrounded by
global economic headwinds and erratic market
conditions. Amidst the sluggish global economic
growth and challenges, the Group managed to cross
a significant milestone in the Group’s history by
achieving revenue above the RM1 billion target and
historical high pre-tax profit. The Group’s revenue
grew by 32.4% from RM799.21 million in 2015 to
RM1.06 billion while the pre-tax profit increased by
36.2% from RM41.49 million to RM56.51 million. Profit
attributable to shareholders was RM44.49 million
(2015: RM31.91 million) translating to a higher basic
earnings per share of 23.78 sen (2015: 17.52 sen). All
the divisions except plantation performed better than
last year. The manufacturing division remained the
main profit contributor to the Group while the trading
division is narrowing the gap with its impressive 39.6%
revenue growth and almost double its pre-tax profit
from the preceding year.
Shareholders’ funds at the close of the year was
RM577.64 million while net assets per share stood at
RM3.06. In view of the dilution of the shareholding
in the associated company, Spritzer Bhd arising from

exercise of employees’ share options and conversion
of warrants, the Company had further invested
RM19.59 million during the year, to acquire Spritzer
Bhd shares and converted all its warrants to increase
its shareholding in Spritzer Bhd to 32.50% from 32.25%
in 2015. As a result, net debt to equity ratio increased
to 11.3% from 8.4% in 2015 which is still within the
healthy level.

DIVIDENDS
The Board of Directors is pleased to recommend a
first and final dividend of 4.5 sen (2015: 3.5 sen) per
share, under the single tier system for the year ended
December 31, 2016. The dividend, if approved, will be
paid on July 18, 2017.

CORPORATE DEVELOPMENT
In line with our rationalisation of non-core assets, we
are in the process of striking off the non-operating
indirect subsidiary, Palker Sdn Bhd and members’
voluntary winding-up of the dormant indirect
subsidiary, Good Cans Sdn Bhd.

Yee Lee Corporation Bhd
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ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

OUTLOOK

FINANCIAL
PERFORMANCE
Group’s revenue grew by

+32.4%
RM1.06 bn

Pre-tax profit increased by

+36.2%
RM56.51 m

Profit attributable to shareholders

44.49m

RM

2015: RM31.91 m

Although the global economy
is projected to improve in 2017,
the Board expects the market
conditions to remain volatile and
challenging in view of the downside
risks from a potential retreat from
globalisation and free trade, and
the uncertainties over the impact
from the Brexit vote and the
US’s monetary policy. Malaysia’s
economy is expected to grow
moderately in 2017, supported
by domestic consumption which
is expected to remain relatively
resilient despite persisting weak
consumer sentiments. Our Group
will continue to focus on our core
business driven by organic growth
and internal improvement while
exploring for business opportunity
and securing distributorship rights
of prominent brands to drive
growth.

On May 26, 2016, Dato’ (Dr.) Haji
Mohamed Ishak bin Haji Mohamed
Ariff announced his retirement
from his position as Independent
Non-Executive Chairman of the
Company. He has been with us
since our Company went for
listing in 1993 and we truly value
his leadership and commitment
to the Group. On behalf of the
Board, I would like to record
our appreciation to him for his
contributions to the Group. I
am honoured that the Board of
Directors has confidence in me
to succeed him as the Executive
Chairman. I am also thankful
to the Board members and
management team whom I have
had the privilege of working with
for these years. With their support,
I am confident the Group can
continue to expand and grow. I
would also like to welcome our
new Independent Non-Executive
Director, Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad
Pena bin Nik Mustapha who joined
the Board on May 26. 2016. The
Board will undoubtedly benefit
from his experience and expertise.
On behalf of the Board, I would
like to extend my appreciation and
gratitude to the management and
staff for their strong commitment
and dedication. In addition, I
would like to thank our valued
shareholders, financiers, suppliers,
business associates, customers,
consumers and other parties
involved for their continued support.

DATO’ LIM A HENG @
LIM KOK CHEONG
Chairman
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GROUP CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S REVIEW

Despite the challenging
economic conditions,
the Group performed well
in 2016 achieving a record
high revenue and pre-tax
profit.

Yee Lee Corporation Bhd group began its core business
as an edible oil repacker in Malaysia in 1968. Since then
we have grown into a fully integrated manufacturer and
distributors. The Group is involved in manufacturing of
packaging materials such as aerosol can and corrugated
carton boxes, palm oil refinery and mill, marketing and
distribution of fast moving consumer products, tea and
oil palm plantation and eco-tourism. Our core business
is divided into manufacturing, trading and plantation. Our
vision is to be the leading provider of household products
bringing Malaysian families a better quality of life. We
are committed to developing Malaysian products using
Malaysian resources making them affordable with superior
quality and value, striving for excellence in total quality and
customer satisfaction through continual improvement
in productivity, innovations and fulfilling social and
environmental responsibilities, forming strategic alliances
with agencies carrying quality products and serving our
valued customers promptly through our well-established
distribution networks.
The world economy recorded the lowest growth rate
in 2016 since the Global Financial Crisis. The global
economic climate was turbulent with subdued investment
activity amid weak business sentiments, heightened
political and policy uncertainties and sluggish global trade
weighing down both emerging and developed nations.

Yee Lee Corporation Bhd
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Our domestic economy was not spared as well with
lower gross domestic product growth of 4.2% as
compared to 5.0% in 2015. Despite the challenging
economic conditions, the Group performed well
in 2016 achieving a record high revenue and pretax profit. Revenue grew by 32.4% from RM799.21
million in 2015 to RM1.06 billion while the pre-tax
profit increased by 36.2% from RM41.49 million to
RM56.51 million. Profit attributable to shareholders
reached RM44.49 million, an increase of 39.4% over
the preceding year. Our manufacturing division
remained the main profit contributor, followed by
trading division. Our plantation division, however,
recorded a deficit this year. Profit contribution from
the associated company, Spritzer Bhd this year was
also higher by 10.3% to RM8.05 million.
Our net debt to equity ratio increased from 8.4% in
2015 to 11.3% mainly due to further investment of
RM19.59 million in Spritzer Bhd by the Company
during the year to avoid dilution in its shareholding
as a result of further increase in Spritzer Bhd’s paidup share capital arising from exercise of employees’
share options and conversion of warrants. As a
result, the Company holds 32.50% (2015: 32.25%)
equity shareholding in Spritzer Bhd as at December
31, 2016. Our financial position remain strong with
shareholders’ funds standing at RM577.64 million. Net
assets per share increased from RM2.84 to RM3.06.
The Company’s paid-up share capital as at December
31, 2016 consists of 188,663,700 ordinary shares of
RM0.50 each and a market price of RM2.36 per share
bringing it to a market capitalisation value of RM445.25
million.
Given our prudent management of cash flow and to
enhance shareholder value further while rewarding
our shareholders, the Board of Directors is pleased to
recommend a first and final dividend of 4.5 sen (2015:
3.5 sen) per share, under the single tier system for the
year ended December 31, 2016. The total dividend
payout is estimated to be RM8.49 million based on
the enlarged share capital as at December, 31 2016 as
compared to RM6.57 million in 2015.

MANUFACTURING DIVISION
Our manufacturing division consists of aerosol can
and corrugated carton boxes packaging business

and palm oil refinery and mill. This division recorded
a higher pre-tax profit of RM27.93 million this year
against RM22.88 million in 2015 on the back of a
15.2% increase in revenue. The packaging business
dominated 91.4% of the total manufacturing division’s
pre-tax profit and was contributed by the aerosol can
business as the corrugated carton boxes business still
suffered losses of RM0.94 million this year. We saw
substantial improvement in palm oil refinery and mill
which recorded a pre-tax profit of RM2.40 million this
year as compared to a pre-tax loss of RM1.43 million
in 2015. Although our palm oil mill has not turnaround,
its pre-tax loss has substantially reduced by 49.0% to
RM1.22 million.
The aerosol can business started off with one aerosol
can factory in Rawang, Malaysia before the Group
ventured into Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam in 2004
by setting up another aerosol can factory. We are
currently one of the leading aerosol can manufacturers
in Malaysia. Our aerosol cans are widely used as
packaging material for a variety of products such
insecticide spray, air refresher, paint, automobile,
household, industrial and personal care products,
with majority of our business is from insecticide spray.
Approximately 23.7% of our sales were exported to
Australia, Bangladesh, India, Thailand and Cambodia.
The aerosol can business achieved a sales growth of
5.9% this year driven by increased demand for aerosol
can mosquito spray arising from the Zika virus scare,
which is transmitted to people primarily through the
bite of infected Aedes species mosquito. The additional
sales of printed tinplate to tin can manufacturer also
contributed to the increase in revenue. Our aerosol
can business has a total production capacity of 132
million cans per year, of which approximately 76%
production capacity is from the Rawang factory. The
weakening of the Ringgit Malaysia had caused the
imported tinplate to be more costly. Besides facing
fierce competition from local large conglomerate
competitors, we are also facing fierce price competition
from China. In order to enhance its competitiveness,
the aerosol can operation in Rawang will further
invest in a new printing machine which would enable
us to offer premium quality print to customers while
reducing wastages and improving printing efficiency.
The minimum wage in Vietnam is on the uptrend,
increasing by 12.9% to VND3.50 million per month in
2016 and again increased by 7.1% to VND3.75 million
per month effective January 1, 2017. This has resulted
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in further increase in labour cost of our aerosol can
operation in Vietnam. The Vietnam operation will
continue to focus on cost controls and internal
improvements such as upgrading its machineries to
maximise productivity and efficiency. It is currently
also expanding its warehouse to cater for sales growth
and future expansion.
Our corrugated carton boxes factory which is located
in Lahat, Perak is currently running at 68% of its
capacity. The corrugated carton industry continued
to face aggressive competition with oversupply
dominating the industry. The growth in this industry is
highly correlated to the growth of the manufacturing
sector which in turn is dependent on the state of the
economy. Despite achieving a marginal sales growth
of 1.9%, our corrugated carton business continued to
suffer losses due to difficulty in passing on full cost
increases to its customers as a result of intense price
competition from its competitors. Moreover, the
depreciation of the Ringgit Malaysia had increased
the cost of its main raw material, paper, as 14% of its
papers are imported. The shortage of skilled workers
is also affecting its operation. In order to turnaround
the business, we are investing in a new Flat Bed Die
Cut machine and upgrading its existing machineries
to reduce manpower and wastages while improving
on its production efficiency and quality.
Our Group owns a palm oil mill strategically located
in Bidor, Perak with milling capacity of 60 MT per
hour and a palm oil refinery located in Ipoh, Perak
with refinery capacity of 600 MT per day. The palm oil
mill has established a long term business relationship
with surrounding estates, dealers and small holders to
ensure continuous supply of fresh fruit bunches (“FFB”).
A total of 294,219 MT (2015: 312,673 MT) of FFB were
processed this year. The drop in FFB processed was
attributed to the decrease in the availability of crop as
the overall FFB yield in Peninsular Malaysia substantially
dropped by 16.0% as a result of the prolonged period
of dry weather caused by El Nino. The erratic weather
condition has resulted in false ripening of FFB with
smaller fruitlets that affected the overall industry
oil extraction rate (“OER”) and palm kernel recovery
rate (“KER”). Our average OER was 18.8%, a slight
improvement from 18.6% last year. However, our OER
is still below the Perak region’s average of 19.4%. Crude
palm oil production stood at 55,327 MT, lower than
58,129 MT in 2015. Palm kernel production was lower

With the passing of every year,
it is only natural to look back
at what we have achieved
throughout the years.

9
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by 9.3% to 14,713 MT as the average KER rate dropped
from 5.2% in 2015 to 5.0% this year. The drop in palm
kernel production was cushioned by the substantial
increase in palm kernel price by 57.4% to RM2,577 per
MT arising from bullish domestic crude palm kernel
oil price sentiment and firmer world lauric oil prices.
Focus on OER improvement will always remain our
paramount in order to turnaround the mill. With the
current low industry OER, we had also implemented
the FFB price reduction scheme in the event that
the average OER does not improve. We have been
in cooking oil business since 1968 establishing our
various famous cooking oil brands, Helang, Vesawit,
NeuVida, SunLico, Vecorn and Vesoya. Our palm
oil refinery performed much better this year driven
by higher sales volume of bulk oils, coupled with
better selling price of palm based products. During
the Government imposition of ceiling price on palm
based cooking oils, the local sales quantity of palm
based cooking oil for pack size 5kg and below was
restricted by subsidy quota. This has somehow limited
the sales of palm based cooking oils especially in 2016
where the quota was progressively reduced with the
Government’s intention to remove the subsidy. With
the removal of the Government controlled ceiling price
effective November 1, 2016 except for 1kg poly bag,
our sales of cooking oils has remained steady as there
are no quota restriction and the refinery is now able
to set their own price with reasonable profit margin.
Moving forward, we foresee intense competition
among cooking oil manufacturers to secure more
market share. However, with our long established
brands and strong distribution channel and network,
we are confident of maintaining our market position.

TRADING DIVISION
Year 2016 was a challenging year with the overall
business environment confronted with flagging
macroeconomic conditions and weak consumer
sentiments. Consumer spending patterns remained
cautious in view of the escalating cost of living and
the depreciating of the Ringgit Malaysia. Against all the
challenges, the trading division managed to achieve a
strong sales growth of 39.6%, increasing its revenue
from RM561.54 million in 2015 to another record
high of RM783.68 million. The strong sales growth
was mainly driven by higher sales of Campbells’
products and beverages especially bottled water and

Against all the challenges,
the trading division managed
to achieve a strong sales
growth of 39.6%, increasing
its revenue from RM561.54
million in 2015 to another
record high of RM783.68
million.
both the newly secured distributorship of Red Bull
Gold energy drink commencing in August 2015 and
Ribena and Lucozade products in September 2016.
Correspondingly, the division’s pre-tax profit increased
substantially by 98.3% from RM10.03 million in 2015 to
RM19.88 million this year.
Our trading division has in total 16 distribution centres
with warehousing facilities of which 10 are located
in Peninsular Malaysia, 3 in Sabah and 3 in Sarawak.
All these distribution centres are located in major
towns. It also has sales offices in Seremban and
Batu Pahat to serve the sales and distribution points
closer and better. We are currently providing market
access and coverage for more than 50 well-known
brands, mostly food & beverage, and household
products for 18 distributorships. With 49 years in this
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industry, the trading division had established a wide
distribution network with a customer base of almost
33,000 encompassing hypermarkets, supermarkets,
departmental stores, retail outlets, sundry shops,
convenience stores, petrol kiosks, wholesalers and etc.
Together with rented warehouses, the trading division
has a total storage space of approximately 480,000
square feet. In line with our expansion programme,
the Kota Bharu distribution centre will be shifting
from its existing rented warehouse to its own newly
constructed warehouse in the second quarter of year
2017 with an additional capacity of 23,000 square feet
to house more products to meet customers’ need
and future growth. The trading division will continue
to focus on warehouse and logistics management to
maximise efficiencies while strengthening of supply
chain and distribution network in order to secure for
more distributorship of well-known brands to enlarge
its product portfolio and profitability.

PLANTATION DIVISION
Our plantation division consists of one tea plantation
located in Kampung Nalapak, Sabah and two oil palm
estates in Tapah and Gopeng. Both tea and oil palm
plantations suffered losses this year resulting in the
plantation division incurred a pre-tax loss of RM1.20
million as compared to a pre-tax profit of RM0.01
million in 2015.
Our tea plantation is nestled in the lush tropical
wilderness of Malaysia’s first ever World Heritage Site,

Mount Kinabalu, sitting on a 6,200-acre land at 2,272
feet above sea level. It is surrounded by the world’s
oldest rainforest of about 130 million years. Our tea
plantation is the largest commercial tea plantation
in Borneo and is also one of the few tea plantations
in the world that are certified to produce organic
tea by SKAL International B.V of the Netherlands, an
internationally recognised organisation that performs
inspections and grants certification for organic
production methods. Our trees were planted since
late 1970’s with Chinese and Asamica clones and are
pesticide free. Total planted area is 253 hectares. Due
to shortage of skilled harvesters, the production of
green tea leaf has been reduced by 6.5% to 595 MT with
processed made tea of 113 MT. Our tea plantation is
still unable to turnaround as the current sales volume is
insufficient to cover its plantation costs. Besides facing
competition from other black tea manufacturers, we
are also facing competition from product substitute,
coffee especially the convenient 3-in-1 packs. Besides
focusing on estate management, greater emphasis
will be placed on marketing campaigns in promoting
our Sabah Tea brand products to both domestic and
international markets to boost sales and turnaround.
The oil palm plantation has a total land bank of 295
hectares of which 143 hectares are planted with oil
palms with an average age profile of approximately
20 years while a further 119 hectares with mature age
profile of above 30 years are under replanting. The
replanting of old and low yield field which started
in 2015 is to improve future FFB yield. The adverse
weather condition and the replanting programme
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undertaken have resulted in FFB production dropping
by 30.5% to 2,338 MT while FFB yield averaged at
16.3 MT per hectare. The low FFB production has
severely impacted the oil palm plantation’s bottom
line. Moving forward, the plantation will focus on
good estate management with greater emphasis on
fertiliser application, treatment of palm trees and
efficient harvesting and collection of FFB to improve
its yield. The Group is expanding its oil palm land
bank by developing its idle land in Ranau, Sabah of
approximately 1089 hectares into oil palm estate. This
will enhance the plantation division’s earnings once
the palm trees are mature for harvesting at the end
of 2019.

With our strong distribution
channel and network,
we will be able to secure
more distributorships of
prominent brands to enlarge
our product portfolio
in order to enhance our
revenue and profitability.

OUTLOOK

has rebounded slightly in 2016, the level still remain
pessimistic. The weak consumer sentiments coupled
with rising inflation pressure have resulted in cautious
consumer spending. With the Government’s initiatives
to increase disposable income, consumer spending
is expected to gradually recover in the second half
of 2017. In order to address this adverse position,
our trading division will continue to execute more
marketing campaigns and offer more variety of
choices for our consumers in the form of product
variety and different pack sizes to spur sales growth.
The newly secured distributorship of Ribena and
Lucozade products in late 2016 is expected to provide
further sales growth for this division. With our strong
distribution channel and network, we will be able to
secure more distributorships of prominent brands to
enlarge our product portfolio in order to enhance our
revenue and profitability.

The Malaysian economy is projected to register a
sustained growth of 4.3% - 4.8% in 2017 with projected
improvement in the global economy activity.
Nonetheless, the global economy is subjected to
several downside risks such as potential retreat from
globalisation and free trade and the uncertainties over
the impact from the Brexit vote and the US’s monetary
policy. Although our domestic consumer confidence

During this replanting period, we do not expect our
oil palm plantation to generate positive results until
the replanted trees and the young trees at the new oil
palm estate are mature for harvest.
As the market conditions are expected to remain
challenging in 2017, our Group will remain focused
on our core business for internal improvements while
exploring for business opportunity and expansion to
drive growth.

LIM EE YOUNG
Group Chief Executive Officer
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(RYDSP) to celebrate Chinese
New Year with needy families,
visits to houses for the disabled
at Persatuan Kebajikan Rumah
Orang Kurang Upaya and Yayasan
Amanah An-Nur Maisarah, and
sponsoring a wheelchair for
terminally ill and poor patients who
have been referred by the Medical
Social Welfare Department.

CSR For Schools

Giving back to
the community
is a big part of
our what we do
at yee lee. We
actively support
local events
and institutions
via logistical
support or
products inkind, and give
special focus to
initiatives based
in our hometown
of ipoh.

In 2016, we played a big role in
school sports days, supporting
those held in Poi Lam Primary
School and Tadika Methodist
Ipoh by sponsoring some of our
most popular products to help
the kids cool off from a hot day.
We also assisted local schools by
supporting school fairs at Shen
Jai High School and Poi Lam
High School, funding upgrades
to existing school facilities and
promoting continuing education.
Our help also extended to younger
children as we conducted dental
care roadshows at kindergartens
around the Selangor area.

CSR For The Less Fortunate
Our commitment to helping those
in need led to us lending our help
to several worthy projects in 2016.
These
projects
included
a
collaboration with the Ranjung
Yeshe Dharma Society Perak
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CSR For Public

In taking part in these small but
meaningful initiatives, we hope
that we can spread goodwill and
happiness amongst those who
need it the most.
We also partnered with Malaysian
Care on their project “Ladang Care”
which aims to empower the Orang
Asli community in Sungai Cincin,
Perak to create independent
and self-sustaining economic
opportunities through sustainable
agriculture. This was also a good
opportunity to educate Orang Asli
children on the principles of good
oral care.

CSR For The Country
Our efforts are not only in Ipoh!
In conjunction with the Malaysian
Embassy in Tokyo, we sponsored
Sabah Tea for the NHK Charity
Bazaar held at the Malaysian
Embassy in Tokyo, helping to
strengthen ties between Malaysia
and Japan while building the
Yee Lee brand name in Japan.
Sales from our contribution were
donated to the “Cambodian
Beauty Vocational School Project”
of SOBBHANA JAPAN.

We helped promote healthier,
happier lifestyles in 2016 by
getting behind a variety of
initiatives in Ipoh. This included a
Health Wellness Day held at Yee
Lee Recreation and Sports Club
to create awareness about blood
donation and a medical checkup,
as well as a recycling drive also
held at Yee Lee Recreation and
Sports Club. We even raised funds
to help the charities by washing
staff cars.
In addition, we also turned our eye
to local runs in 2016, with a mind
to promoting a healthier lifestyle
in the community and amongst
our own staff. As a result, both
the Ipoh International Run and the
KRI Annual Run were beneficiaries
of in-kind donations of Yee Lee
products in 2016.
Lastly, we supported the Malaysian
Fo Guang Buddhist Association
Ipoh Branch and the Buddhist
Society Ipoh (BSI) during the
festive season, helping to ensure
that their festive celebrations were
a success!
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Dato’ Lim A Heng @
Lim Kok Cheong,

Dato’ Lim was appointed to the Board on January 10, 1973. He is one of the
founders of Yee Lee Group of Companies.

JSM, DPMP, JP

He has more than 42 years of experience in the trading and manufacturing
of edible oils and consumer products industry.

Executive Chairman
Aged 72, Male, Malaysian

He is the Life Honorary President of both the Associated Chinese Chambers
of Commerce and Industry of Malaysia and the Perak Chinese Chamber
of Commerce and Industry. He is the Chairman of Poi Lam High School
(Suwa) and the Honorary President of Perak Hock Kean Association and the
Federation of Hokkien Associations of Malaysia.
He is the Chairman of Spritzer Bhd, a public company listed on Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad, as well as the Chairman of Yee Lee Organization
Bhd, a non-listed public company in Malaysia.
He is the father of Lim Ee Young, a director of the Company and the spouse
of Datin Chua Shok Tim @ Chua Siok Hoon. He is also a director and major
shareholder of Yee Lee Organization Bhd. Both Datin Chua Shok Tim
@ Chua Siok Hoon and Yee Lee Organization Bhd are major shareholders
of the Company.

Lim Ee Young
Executive Director
Group Chief Executive Officer
Aged 45, Male, Malaysian

Mr. Lim was appointed to the Board on December 3, 2002. He graduated with
a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) from University of Ballarat, Australia and
Master of Business Administration from University of Bath, United Kingdom.
He is a Chartered Accountant of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and
a member of CPA Australia.
He joined Yee Lee Corporation Bhd as a Management Trainee in 1993. Since
1993 until to date, he has been involved in the accounts, marketing and
administration functions of Yee Lee Group. He is presently involved in the
management of several related companies and business expansion projects.
He is the son of Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong, a member of the
Board and Datin Chua Shok Tim @ Chua Siok Hoon. He is also a director
and shareholder of Yee Lee Organization Bhd. Both Datin Chua Shok Tim @
Chua Siok Hoon and Yee Lee Organization Bhd are major shareholders of
the Company.
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Chok Hooa @
Chok Yin Fatt,
PMP
Executive Director
Aged 70, Male, Malaysian

Mr. Chok was appointed to the Board on April 30, 1990. He graduated
with a Bachelor Degree in Business Studies from Curtin University
of Technology, Australia and Master in Business Administration from
University of Strathclyde, United Kingdom. He is a Chartered Accountant
of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants, fellow members of CPA Australia
and Malaysian Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and a
member of the Malaysian Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
He has extensive experience in the field of financial management,
accounting and corporate secretarial functions. He was attached to UAC
Berhad from 1974 to 1982. In 1982, he joined Yee Lee Corporation Bhd as
Chief Accountant and was promoted to the Board as an Executive Director
in 1990.
He is a Director of OKA Corporation Bhd and Spritzer Bhd, and other public
companies which are not listed on the Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
including Yee Lee Organization Bhd and MSHK Corporation Bhd. He is also
the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Thang Lai Sung

Mr. Thang was appointed to the Board on January 10, 1973. He is one of the
founders of Yee Lee Group of Companies.

Executive Director

He has more than 36 years of experience in the edible oils industry, having
managed his own business in edible oil retailing for ten years from 1965 to
1974. He is actively involved in social and community services. Presently, he
is in charge of the general affairs of Yee Lee Group.

Aged 79, Male, Malaysian

He was the Assistant Secretary-General of Poi Lam High School (Suwa),
Perak for over ten years. Currently he is the Vice President of Poi Lam High
School (Suwa), Perak, the Honorary Advisor of Perak Chinese Chamber of
Commerce and Industry, Vice President of Perak Han Kang Kong Hoey and
a director of Yee Lee Organization Bhd.
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Dato’ Ir. Nik
Mohamad Pena
bin Nik Mustapha,
DIMP
Independent Non-Executive
Director
Aged 66, Male, Malaysian

Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena was appointed to the Board on May 26, 2016.
He obtained a Degree of Bachelor of Science (Civil Engineering) from
University of Glasgow, United Kingdom in 1975. He holds the memberships
in the following professional bodies, namely the Board of Engineers
Malaysia, Institution of Engineers Malaysia, Institution of Highways and
Transportation United Kingdom and Association of Consulting Engineers
Malaysia. He advises the Board members on all matters relating to civil and
structural aspect of the Group’s buildings.
He is a consultant engineer and the Managing Director of Nik Jai Associates
Sdn Bhd, a company of civil and structural engineering consultants. He
started his career as a civil engineer with Jabatan Kerja Raya (JKR) in 1975
and was promoted to the post of Senior Executive Engineer in 1980. He
left JKR in 1983 and joined an engineering consulting firm. In 1985, he set
up his own partnership firm, Nik Jai Associates. In 1990, he incorporated
his company, Nik Jai Associates Sdn Bhd which specialises in multi-storey
buildings, highways, bridges and water resources.
He is a director of Spritzer Bhd, a member of the Audit Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company.

Dato’ Mohd Adhan
bin Kechik,
DJMK, SMK
Independent Non-Executive
Director
Aged 61, Male, Malaysian

Dato’ Mohd Adhan was appointed to the Board on March 2, 1993. He
graduated with a Bachelor of Laws (Honours) Degree and Master of Laws
Degree from University of Malaya. He is currently the Chairman of the
National Kenaf and Tobacco Board (Lembaga Kenaf dan Tembakau Negara).
He is a lawyer by profession. Currently, he is practising as a partner at Messrs
Adhan & Yap. Prior to setting up his own private practice in Kota Bharu,
Kelantan in 1984, he was attached to the Legal and Judicial Department for
five years serving in the Magistrate Court, High Court, Public Trustee’s office
and Attorney General’s office before being appointed the Legal Adviser to
the Ministry of Transport in 1983. He also served the State Government of
Kelantan for four years as Menteri Besar’s political secretary from 1986 to
1990. He is an elected State Assemblyman of Kelantan for Kemahang from
1995 to 1999 and Bukit Bunga since 2004.
He is also a director of Spritzer Bhd, the Chairman of the Audit Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and Remuneration Committee of
the Company.
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Lee Kee Hong
Independent Non-Executive
Director
Aged 69, Male, Malaysian

Sow Yeng Chong
Non-Independent
Non-Executive Director
Aged 60, Male, Malaysian

Mr. Lee was appointed to the Board on March 2, 1993. He was involved in
the senior management of several public listed companies between 1970
and 1990. Currently, he runs his own private business.
He is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, a member of the Audit
Committee and Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Sow was appointed to the Board on December 3, 2007. He has a wide
working experience in the field of accounting and corporate finance. He
started his career in 1981 as an Audit Assistant with Payne Davies & Co.
and subsequently worked as an Accountant of Far East Marble & Handicraft
Sdn Bhd. He was employed by Yee Lee Corporation Bhd Group from 1985
to 1997 in various capacities and his last position being Group Financial
Controller. He was a remisier with TA Securities Holdings Bhd from 1997 to
2009. He is currently employed by Spritzer Bhd Group as Group Financial
Controller and Joint Company Secretary.
He is a director of Kumpulan Belton Berhad and a member of the Malaysian
Institute of Accountants. He is also a member of the Audit Committee of
the Company.

Note:Save as disclosed, none of the above Directors has:1)
2)
3)
4)

 ny family relationship with any Director and/or major shareholder of the Company;
a
any conviction for offences within the past five years other than traffic offences;
any public sanction or penalty imposed by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year; and
any conflict of interest with the Company.
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For Key Senior Management Profiles of Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong, Mr Lim Ee Young, Mr Chok Hooa
@ Chok Yin Fatt and Mr Thang Lai Sung, kindly refer to the Directors’ Profile in this Annual Report.

LEE KON CHENG
Group General Manager
Aged 74, Male, Malaysian

Mr Lee is a Fellow of the Institution of Certified Engineers (M), Member of the
Institute of Engineering Technologists (UK), 1st Grade Engineer (Steam), 2nd
Grade Engineer (Internal Combustion Engines), Canadian Power Engineer
and holds a Diploma in Management Programme (MIM).
He started his career serving a 4-year apprenticeship in mechanical
engineering with Perak Hydro, the sole power generation and supply
Company for the whole of Perak from the 1940s till 1970s. On graduation,
he served the Company for 2½ years in power station practice before
moving to palm oil milling in Socfin and then Sime Darby. Mr Lee has 23
years of experience in the palm oil milling and refining. In 1983/84, he
oversees the design, supervision of construction and commissioning of our
palm oil mill in Bidor. He spent a spell of 8 years from 1984 as General
Manager of Mechmar Bestobell Bhd taking charge of the boiler, pressure
vessel and mini power plant division.
In 1992, Mr Lee re-joined the Group, taking charge of our corrugated
carton boxes plant. In 1998, he was appointed as Group General Manager
providing engineering advisory services to subsidiaries in the Group while
concurrently responsible for managing the corrugated carton boxes plant
and palm oil mill.

YAP SIN KHEONG
Group Financial Controller/
Company Secretary
Aged 48, Male, Malaysian

SEOW SOON HOO
Senior General Manager,
Trading Division
Aged 55, Male, Malaysian

Mr Yap is an Associate Member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants (CIMA, UK) & Chartered Global Management Accountant
(CGMA) and Member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA). He has
served the Group for the past 23 years in various capacities in the Accounts
Department and was promoted to Group Financial Controller in January
2008. Mr Yap also serves as Joint Company Secretary of the Company
since February 2009. He was also the Joint Company Secretary of Spritzer
Bhd from 2009 to 2010. Prior to joining the Group, he was an auditor with
Monteiro & Heng for almost 2 years.
Mr Seow graduated from University Malaya with a degree in Bachelor of
Economics majoring in Business Administration. He joined Yee Lee Trading
Co. Sdn Bhd in August 2006 as General Manager, Principal Division and
was subsequently promoted to Senior General Manager in May 2008. He is
responsible for the overall business operation of the trading division including
business development and formulation of marketing plans and policies.
Mr Seow has more than 25 year in Fast Moving Consumer Product industry.
Prior to joining the Group, he was the Indirect Sales Team Leader of Colgate
Palmolive (Guangzhou) Co Ltd, responsible for the total general trade
business of Colgate Palmolive China. He has been with Colgate Palmolive
since 1986 starting as sales representative before being promoted to National
Sales Manager.
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WONG HUNG
Managing Director,
Aerosol can business
Aged 61, Male, Malaysian

GOH MUNG CHWEE
Executive Director, Plantation
& Tourism
Aged 57, Male, Malaysian

CHONG VAI MING
Internal Auditor – Head / Risk
Assessor
Aged 49, Male, Malaysian

Mr Wong was appointed as the Managing Director of Canpac Sdn Bhd
(“Canpac”) in June 2009. He joined Canpac in 1991 as Factory Manager and
was appointed to the Board of Canpac in 1994. Mr Wong is the Managing
Director of Canpac since June 2009 and is responsible for managing the
business operations of both the aerosol can factory in Rawang, Malaysia
and Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. He graduated from Federal Institute of
Technology with a Diploma in Mechanical Engineering. Prior to joining
the Group, he was with Malaysian Can Packaging (Malaysia) Sdn Bhd for
13 years as superintendent. Mr Wong has 39 years of experience in can
packaging industry and was instrumental in setting up our aerosol can
manufacturing business in Vietnam in 2004.
Mr Goh holds a Bachelor of Commerce (Hons) majoring in Business
Administration from University of Windsor, Ontario, Canada. He has served
the Group for the past 34 years in various capacities including General
Manager and Advisor of Yee Lee Trading Co Sdn Bhd (East Malaysian
Region). Mr Goh was appointed as Executive Directors of Desa Tea Sdn
Bhd, Sabah Tea Sdn Bhd and Sabah Tea Resort Sdn Bhd in November 1996,
August 1998 and May 2012 respectively. He is responsible for managing the
tea and oil palm plantation and the tourism business in Sabah.
Mr Chong is an Associate Member of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants (CIMA, UK) & Chartered Global Management Accountant
(CGMA), a Chartered Member of Institute of Internal Auditors, Malaysia
(CMIIA), and possesses the Certification in Risk Management Assurance
(CRMA) from the Institute of Internal Auditors. He is also a Member of the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants (MIA).
Mr Chong has served the Group for the past 22 years. He joined as the
Assistant Internal Auditor in 1994 and was promoted as the Head of Internal
Audit Department since January 1999. He was instrumental in setting up
Group’s Risk Management Department in 1995 and appointed as the Risk
Assessor to lead the department there-of. He oversees the effectiveness
of strategic internal audit and risk management functions for the Group.
Prior to joining the Group, he began his career at Carsem Semiconductor
Sdn. Bhd. from 1990 to 1994, where he was responsible for overseeing
the Company’s costing system, inventory control, factory insurance, fixed
assets management, treasury and banking portfolios.

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION:
1.	Save for Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong, Mr Lim Ee Young, Mr Chok Hooa @ Mr Chok Yin Fatt and Mr Thang Lai Sung, none of
the other Key Senior Management has any directorship in public companies and listed issuers.
2.	Save for Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong and Mr Lim Ee Young, none of the Key Senior Management has any family relationship
with any Directors and/or major shareholders of the Company.
3.	None of the Key Senior Management has:(i) any conflict of interest with the Company;
(ii) been convicted of any offence (other than traffic offence) within the past five (5) years; and
(iii) been imposed with any public sanction or penalty by the relevant regulatory bodies during the financial year.
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The Audit Committee (“AC”) of Yee Lee Corporation Bhd is pleased to present the AC Report for the financial year
ended December 31, 2016 in compliance with Paragraph 15.15 of the Main Market Listing Requirements (“Listing
Requirements”) of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad (“Bursa Securities”).
The purpose, authority, composition, membership, meetings and responsibilities of the AC are set out in the AC
Charter which can be viewed at the Company’s website: http://www.yeelee.com.my.

MEMBERSHIP AND ATTENDANCE
During the financial year ended December 31, 2016, the AC held 4 meetings. Details of the membership and
record of the attendance at these meetings are as follows:Members

Number of Meetings Attended

Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik - Chairman
Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4

Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha - Member
Independent Non-Executive Director
(Appointed to be committee member on May 26, 2016)

2/2

Sow Yeng Chong - Member
Non-Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4

Lee Kee Hong - Member
Independent Non-Executive Director

4/4

Composition
The AC, appointed by the Board from amongst its members, presently comprises four (4) Non-Executive Directors,
with a majority being independent directors. The Independent Directors satisfy the test of independence under
Paragraph 1.01 of the Listing Requirements. The Chairman is elected from among the members and is an
independent director pursuant to Paragraph 15.10 of the Listing Requirements.
Mr. Sow Yeng Chong is a member of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants. In this respect, the Company is in
compliance with Paragraph 15.09(1)(c)(i) of the Listing Requirements.
Meetings
The Minutes of the meeting were recorded and tabled for confirmation at the next following meeting and
subsequently presented to the Board for notation. The AC Chairman had presented to the Board the Committee’s
recommendations to approve the annual and quarterly financial statements.
The AC Chairman also conveyed to the Board matters of significant concern as and when raised by the External
Auditors or Internal Auditors.
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SUMMARY OF WORKS OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
During the financial year ended December 31, 2016, the AC had discharged its duties and responsibilities by
carrying out the following works and activities:Financial Reporting
1. 	Reviewed the quarterly financial results including the draft announcements pertaining thereto, and make
recommendations to the Board for approval of the same as follows:			
Date of meetings

Review of unaudited quarterly financial results and audited financial
statements

February 29, 2016
			

Fourth quarter unaudited financial results as well as the audited financial statements
of the Group for the financial year ended December 31, 2015

May 26, 2016

First quarter unaudited financial results for the financial year ended March 31, 2016

August 25, 2016

Second quarter unaudited financial results for financial year ended June 30, 2016

November 24, 2016
			

Third quarter unaudited financial results for financial year ended September 30,
2016

February 28, 2017
			
			

Fourth quarter unaudited financial results as well as the audited financial
statements of the Group for the unaudited financial year ended December 31,
2016

	The above review is to ensure that the Company’s quarterly financial reporting and disclosures present a true
and fair view of the Group’s financial position and performance and are in compliance with the Malaysian
Financial Reporting Standards, International Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the
Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia; and
2. 	Review with the management on any significant accounting and reporting issues, including complex or
unusual transactions and highly judgmental areas, and recent professional and regulatory pronouncements,
and understand their impact on the financial statements and steps taken to address the matters.
Risk Management and Internal Control
1. 	Deliberated and reviewed with the Group Risk Management Advisory Committee on the Group’s risk profile,
the key risks identified and the risk management process to ensure that all high and critical risk areas are being
addressed;
2. 	Reviewed with the management and internal auditors on the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal
control system to ensure compliance with the internal controls and procedures set up within the Group and
adequate scope coverage over the activities of the Group;
3. Reviewed and deliberated the internal audit reports and to monitor/follow-up on remedial action;
4. 	Reviewed the Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control and recommend to the Board for approval
prior to the inclusion in the Company’s Annual Report 2016; and
5.	Reviewed the adequacy of resource requirements and competencies of staff within the internal audit function
to execute the annual audit plan and the results of the work.
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External Audit
1. 	Discussed and considered the significant accounting and auditing issues arising from the interim audit as well
as the final audit with the External Auditors. The AC also had a private discussion with the External Auditors
on February 28, 2017 without the presence of Management during the review of the Professional Services
Planning Memorandum for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 to discuss any fraudulent case and/
or problems/issues arising from the audit review;
2. 	Reviewed with the External Auditors at the meeting held on November 24, 2016, their audit plan in respect
of the financial year ended December 31, 2016, outlining the auditors’ responsibilities, financial and business
highlights, materiality level of the Group, audit risk assessment, significant risks and areas of audit focus,
consideration of fraud, internal control plan, involvement of internal auditors, involvement of internal specialists,
involvement of audit data analytics, involvement of component auditors, timing of audit, engagement quality
control, independence policies and procedures and financial reporting and other updates; and
3. 	Reviewed and evaluated the performance, competency, professionalism and the confirmation of independence
from the External Auditors. In respect of the financial year ended December 31, 2016, Deloitte PLT (“Deloitte”)
has confirmed their independence to act as Company’s External Auditors in accordance with the relevant
professional and regulatory requirements.
	
The AC, having been satisfied with the performance, independence and suitability of Deloitte, had
recommended to the Board for approval of the re-appointment of Deloitte as the External Auditors for the
financial year ending December 31, 2017 at its meeting held on February 28, 2017 at a fee to be determined
later.
Internal Audit
1. 	Reviewed and approved the Internal Audit Plan for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 to ensure that
the scope and coverage of the internal audit of the Group is adequate and comprehensive;
2. 	Reviewed the quarterly internal audit reports and considered the findings and recommendations made
including the Management’s responses and the corrective action, if necessary. The Internal Auditors monitored
the implementation of management’s action plans on outstanding issues through follow up audits to ensure
that all key risks and weaknesses were being properly addressed; and
3. 	Reviewed the performance and effectiveness of the internal audit functions.
Other activities
1.	Reviewed on a quarterly basis, the recurrent related party transactions entered into by the Company and the
Group to ascertain that the transactions are conducted at arm’s length and on normal commercial terms
which are not more favourable to the related parties than those generally available to the public and are not
to the detriment of the minority shareholders;
2. 	Reviewed and/or updated the Group’s Code of Conduct, Corporate Disclosure Policy, Whistleblowing Policy
and AC Charter prior to recommendation to the Board for approval; and
3.	Reviewed the AC Report and Statement on Corporate Governance for inclusion in the Annual Report 2016
before recommend to the Board for approval.
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SUMMARY OF WORKS OF THE GROUP INTERNAL AUDIT DEPARTMENT
The Group Internal Audit Department (GIAD) continues to adopt a risk-based approach, and prepares its audit
strategy and plan based on risk profiles of the business units of the Group. The GIAD would conduct activities
in accordance with the annual audit plan being approved by the AC. It also undertakes special reviews and
investigations at the request of the senior management. Its audit functions include:•
•
•
•
•

 roviding reasonable assurance in relation to the adequacy, efficiency and effectiveness of the internal control
p
system;
independent assessment and systematic review of the operational efficiency of the Group member;
identifying and evaluating potential risk areas;
assessing the reliability of systems and the reported information; and
ensuring compliance with the established policies, procedures, guidelines, rules and legislations.

During the year, the GIAD had performed its roles with impartiality, proficiency and due professional care. The
scope of audit encompassed assets management, cash collections and disbursements, credit policy, inventory,
purchasing and sales, operations, safety & security, risk management and corporate governance processes. The
management is responsible for ensuring that corrective actions are taken to overcome the reported weaknesses
within an appropriate time frame. Audit report incorporating the audit findings and recommendations to
overcome systems and control weaknesses are presented to the management concerned, and thereafter to the
AC for review on a quarterly basis.
The current internal audit function is performed in-house with a total cost incurred of RM294,000.00 (2015:
RM211,000.00) for the financial year ended December 31, 2016.
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The Board of Directors (“Board”) of Yee Lee Corporation Bhd (“Company”) acknowledges the importance of
practising good corporate governance and strives to adopt the principles and recommendations of corporate
governance throughout the Group in the manner prescribed by the Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance
2012 (“MCCG 2012”) and Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad’s (“Bursa Securities”) Main Market Listing Requirements
(“Listing Requirements”).
Set out below is a statement of how the Group has applied principles of good governance and the extent of
the Group’s compliance with the recommendations of the MCCG 2012 throughout the financial year ended
December 31, 2016:1. ESTABLISH CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES
1.1

Clear Functions of the Board and the Management

		There is a division of functions between the Board and the Management. The Board is focused on the
Group’s overall governance by ensuring the implementation of strategic plans and objectives are in
line with its vision and missions; and that accountability to the Group and stakeholders is monitored
effectively. The Board does not actively manage but rather oversees the overall management of the
Group which is delegated to the Group Chief Executive Officer, Executive Directors and other officers
of the Group. The Management supports the Group Chief Executive Officer and implements the
running of the financial and general operations of the Group.
		To ensure the effective discharge of its function and responsibilities, the Board also delegates some
of the Board’s authorities and discretion to the properly constituted Board Committees, namely the
Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee, Group Risk Management
Advisory Committee and Executives’ Share Option Scheme Committee, which are entrusted with
specific responsibilities to oversee the Group’s affairs, with authority to act on behalf of the Board in
accordance with their respective Terms of Reference. The ultimate responsibility for the final decision
on all matters deliberated in these Committees, however, lies with the Board. Besides that, the Chairman
of the relevant Board Committees also reports to the Board on key issues deliberated by the Board
Committees at their respective meetings.
		The Board may also delegate specific functions to ad hoc committees as and when required. The
powers delegated to these committees are set out in the Terms of Reference of each of the Committees
as approved by the Board.
		
The Independent Non-Executive Directors provide objective and independent judgement to the
decision making of the Board which provides an effective check and balance to the Board’s decisionmaking process.
		In addition, the Board is guided by the documented and approved Board Charter which sets out
the roles, functions, authority, responsibilities, membership, key matters reserved for the Board,
relationships with management and other matters.
		The Board will review the Board Charter annually and ensure it is updated in accordance with the needs
of the Company and any new regulations that may have an impact on the discharge of the Board’s
responsibilities to ensure its effectiveness.
		The Board Charter can be viewed at the Company’s website at http://www.yeelee.com.my.
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1. ESTABLISH CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)
1.2

Clear Roles and Responsibilities

		The Board provides stewardship to the Group’s strategic direction and operations, and ultimately the
enhancement of long-term shareholders’ value. The Board is primarily responsible for:		

(a) 	Reviewing and adopting the Company’s strategic plans – The Board has in place a strategy
planning process, whereby it will be presented for discussion on a quarterly basis during board
meeting and the Group Chief Executive Officer reports on the results and challenges met. The
Board objectively reviews and monitors the implementation of the plan by management and
provides input and feedback to the management.
		
(b) 	Overseeing the conduct of the Company’s business – The Board oversees the performance of the
Management by reviewing the actual performance and provides guidance to the Management
on measures to be undertaken to improve business performance and minimise risk areas.
		
(c) 	Overseeing the development and implementation of a shareholder communication policy for
the Company – The Board acknowledges the importance of timely dissemination of information
to its shareholders. Announcements on the major events of the Company and financial results
release provide the shareholders and potential investors with the update of Group’s activities
and financial performances.
			The General Meetings act as the principal forum of dialogue with the shareholders. Shareholders
are notified of the meeting and provided with a copy of the Company’s Annual Report and/
or Circular prior thereto in accordance with the stipulated timeframe set out in the Listing
Requirements and the Companies Act 2016 in order to enable shareholders to fully evaluate
the resolutions being proposed. Shareholders are given the opportunities to raise questions
pertaining to the Group and the resolutions being proposed at each annual general meeting
(“AGM”). Members of the Board and the auditors of the Company are available at the AGM
to respond to all queries and to provide clarification on issues and concerns raised by the
shareholders.
			Besides, the Company has a website where access to its Annual Reports, announcements,
quarterly financial results and other relevant information for shareholders and potential investors
to access anytime.
		
(d) 	input into and final approval of management development of corporate strategy, including
setting performance objectives;
		
(e)
monitoring corporate performance;
		
(f) 	
approving major capital expenditure, acquisitions and divestitures, and monitoring capital
management;
		
(g) 	monitoring and reviewing management processes aimed at ensuring the integrity of financial
and other reporting with the guidance of the Audit Committee;
		
(h) 	reviewing, ratifying and monitoring systems of risk management and internal control under the
guidance of the Audit Committee;
		
(i) 	selecting, appointing and evaluating from time to time the performance of, and succession
planning under the guidance of the Nomination Committee;
		
(j) 	reviewing and approving remuneration of the Executive Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officer,
Executive Directors and the Non-Executive Directors under the guidance of the Remuneration
Committee;
		
(k) 	monitoring Board composition, processes and performance with the guidance of the Nomination
Committee; and
		
(l)
performing such other functions as are prescribed by law or are assigned to the Board.
		In carrying out its responsibilities and functions, the Board may delegate any of its powers to a Board
Committee, a Director, employee or other person subject to ultimate responsibility of the Directors.
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1. ESTABLISH CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)
1.3

Formalised Ethical Standards through Code of Ethics and Conduct

		The Board has formalised a Directors’ Code of Ethics and Conduct that is incorporated in the Board
Charter, which sets out the standard of conduct expected of Directors, with the aim to cultivate good
ethical conduct that permeates throughout the Group through transparency, integrity, accountability
and corporate social responsibility.
		Directors are required to disclose any conflict of interest situations or any material personal interest
that they may have in the affairs of the Group as soon as they become aware of the interest and abstain
themselves from any deliberations on the matter.
1.4 	Whistleblowing Policy and Procedures
		The Board is committed to maintaining the highest possible standard of professionalism, ethics and
legal conduct in the Group’s business activities. The Company’s Whistleblowing Policy provides a
mechanism for its Board members, all levels of employees, contractors, suppliers, bankers, customers
and business associates to report suspected or instances of wrongdoing in the conduct of its business,
whether in matters of financial reporting or other malpractices, at the earliest opportunity and in an
appropriate way.
		
1.5

The Whistleblowing Policy is available on the Company’s website at http://www.yeelee.com.my.
Sustainability of Business

		The Board is committed to promote business sustainability strategies within the Group. Employees’
welfare, responsibility to the market place, environment as well as community responsibilities are
integral to the way in which the Group conducts its business. Report on such activities is set out in the
section on Corporate Social Responsibility on pages 19 and 20 of this Annual Report.
1.6 	Access to Information and Advice
		The Directors have the right to access all information pertaining to the Group for the purpose of
discharging their duties. The Board is provided with an agenda, reports and other relevant information
at least seven (7) days of the Board Meetings, covering various aspects of the Group’s operations,
so that they have a comprehensive understanding of the matters to be deliberated upon to enable
them to arrive at an informed decision. All scheduled meetings held during the year were preceded
with a formal agenda issued by the Company Secretary. Senior management and advisers are invited
to attend Board Meetings, where necessary, to provide additional information and insights on the
relevant agenda items tabled at Board Meetings. Each Director has unhindered access to the advice
and dedicated support services of the Company Secretary to assist them in carrying out their duties.
		The Chairman leads the presentation of Board papers and discussion. Group Chief Executive Officer will
explain and discuss on the pertinent issues. All Directors are entitled to call for additional clarification and
information to assist them in matters that require their decision-making. Every Director has individual
and independent access to the advice and dedicated support services of the Company Secretaries in
ensuring the effective functioning of the Board.
		In addition, the Board may when necessary, obtain independent professional advice and information
on specific matters, in the furtherance of their duties, at the cost of the Company.
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1. ESTABLISH CLEAR ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES (CONT’D)
1.7

Qualified and Competent Company Secretaries

		The Company Secretaries play an important advisory role and is a source of information and advice
to the Board and its Committees on issues relating to compliance with laws, rules, procedures and
regulations affecting the Company and Group.
		The Board is regularly updated and apprised by the Company Secretaries on new regulations issued
by the regulatory authorities. The Company Secretaries also serve notice to the Directors and Principal
Officers to notify them of closed periods for trading in the Company’s shares. The Company Secretaries
attend and ensure that all Board Meetings are properly convened and that accurate and proper records
of the proceedings and resolutions passed are taken and maintained in the statutory register of the
Company. The Company Secretaries work closely with Management to ensure that there are timely
and appropriate information flows within and to the Board and Board Committees.
		The Board is of the view that the Company Secretaries have been competent and kept themselves
abreast with the evolving regulatory changes and developments through continuous education
programmes and attendance of relevant conferences, seminars and training programmes.
		The Board is satisfied with the performance and support rendered by the Company Secretaries to the Board.

2. STRENGTHEN COMPOSITION
2.1 	Nomination Committee
		The Nomination Committee has three (3) members comprising exclusively Non-Executive Directors,
all of whom are Independent Directors.
		The Nomination Committee is responsible for assessing the performance of the existing Directors
and identifying, nominating, recruiting, appointing and orientating new Directors. The Board has
established an annual performance evaluation process to assess the performance and effectiveness
of the Board and Board Committees, as well as the performance of each Director and each Audit
Committee Member.
		The Nomination Committee meets at least once in a year with additional meetings to be convened,
if necessary. During the financial year under review, the Nomination Committee had met twice on
February 29, 2016 and May 26, 2016; and full attendance by the members was recorded.
		
The members of the Nomination Committee and records of attendance of each member at the
Nomination Committee meetings held during the financial year ended December 31, 2016 are as follows:				

Number of meetings attended

		
		
		

Chairman
Lee Kee Hong
Independent Non-Executive Director

2/2

		
		
		

Members
Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik, DJMK, SMK
Independent Non-Executive Director

2/2
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2. STRENGTHEN COMPOSITION (CONT’D)
2.1 	Nomination Committee (Cont’d)
				
		
		
		

Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha, DIMP
Independent Non-Executive Director
(Appointed on August 29, 2016)

Number of meetings attended
N/A

		The Terms of Reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the Company’s website at
http://www.yeelee.com.my.
		The summary of the activities carried out by the Nomination Committee during the financial year end
are as follows:		
		
		
		
		

		
		
		
		

		
2.2

a) 	reviewed and assessed the mix of skills, expertise, composition, size, experience and effectiveness
of the Board and its Committees;
b) 	evaluated the performance and effectiveness of the Board and its Committees and of each
individual member;
c) 	discussed and identified the training needs of the Directors for continuous education purpose;
d)	discussed and recommended the re-designation of Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong as
Executive Chairman;
e)	discussed and recommended the appointment of Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha
as Independent Non-Executive Director, Audit Committee Member and Nomination Committee
Member;
f)	assessed and evaluated the independence of the independent non-executive directors based on
roles and duties, integrity, governance and independent judgement and participation in meetings;
g) 	assessed and recommended the retention of Independent Non-Executive Directors who have
served on the Board for a cumulative tenure of more than nine (9) years;
h) 	assessed and recommended to the Board for the re-election of the Directors who are due for
retirement pursuant to Article 85 of the Company’s Constitution; and
i) 	
assessed and recommended to the Board for the re-appointment of Directors whose
appointment were made pursuant to Section 129(6) of the Companies Act, 1965 at the 43rd AGM
held on May 26, 2016.
All recommendations of the Nomination Committee are subject to the endorsement of the Board.
Develop, Maintain and Review Criteria for Recruitment and Annual Assessment of Directors

		The Board, together with the Nomination Committee, determines the size and composition of the
Board subject to the provisions of the Company’s Constitution. The composition and size of the Board
is such that it will facilitate the decision making process of the Company. The Board comprises a
minimum of one third of independent non-executive directors and comprises directors with a broad
and relevant range of skills, diversity, expertise and experience.
		

(a)

Recruitment or New Appointment of Directors

			The Nomination Committee is responsible for identifying and recommending suitable candidates
for Board membership and also for assessing the performance of the Directors on an on-going
basis. This process shall ensure that the Board membership accurately reflects the long-term
strategic direction and needs of the Company while it determines the skills matrix needed to
support the strategic direction and needs of the Company.
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2. STRENGTHEN COMPOSITION (CONT’D)
		

(a)

Recruitment or New Appointment of Directors (Cont’d)

			

The process for the appointment of a new director is summarised as follows:-

			

1. 	
The candidate identified upon the recommendation by the existing Directors, senior
management staff and/or other consultants;
2. 	In evaluating the suitability of candidates to the Board, the Nomination Committee considers,
inter-alia, the competency, experience, commitment, contribution and integrity of the
candidates, and in the case of candidates proposed for appointment as Independent NonExecutive Directors, the candidate’s independence;
3. 	Recommendation to be made by Nomination Committee to the Board if the proposed
candidate is found to be suitable. This includes recommendation for appointment as a
member of the various Board committees, where necessary; and
4. 	The final decision as to who shall be appointed as Director remains the responsibility of the
full Board after considering the recommendation of the Nomination Committee.

			

			

			

			As an integral element of the process of appointing new Directors, the Nomination Committee
will ensure that Directors undergo an orientation programme to familiarise themselves with
the Group’s business, which include visits to the Group’s various offices and factory premises
and meetings with senior management. This is to facilitate their understanding of the Group’s
activities and to assist them in effectively discharging their duties.
			During the year, upon the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, the Board has
appointed Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha, DIMP as the Independent NonExecutive Director of the Company.
		

(b)	Gender Diversity Policy

			The Board acknowledges the importance of boardroom diversity and the recommendation
of the MCCG 2012 pertaining to the establishment of a gender diversity policy. Hence, the
Board had always been in support of a policy of non-discrimination on the basis of race,
religion and gender. The Board encourages a dynamic and diverse composition by nurturing
suitable and potential candidates equipped with the competency, skills, experience, character,
time commitment, integrity and other qualities in meeting the future needs of the Company.
Nevertheless, the Board has no immediate plan to implement a gender diversity policy and will
only set specific targets in relation to gender diversity if the situation so requires and if it is in the
best interest of the Company to do so.
		

(c)

Re-election and Re-appointment of Directors

			In accordance with the Company’s Constitution (“Constitution”), all newly appointed Directors
are subject to re-election by shareholders at the first annual general meeting after their
appointments. The Constitution also provide that 1/3 of the remaining Directors be subject to
retirement by rotation at each annual general meeting provided always that all Directors shall
retire from office once at least in each three (3) years but shall be eligible for re-election.
			The Nomination Committee is responsible for recommending to the Board those Directors who
are eligible to stand for re-appointment/re-election.
			With the coming into force of the Companies Act 2016 on January 31, 2017, there is no age limit
for directors. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong and Mr Thang Lai Sung, both are above the
age of 70, were re-appointed pursuant to Section 129 of the Companies Act, 1965 at the 43rd

037

Annual Report 2016

STATEMENT ON
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

2. STRENGTHEN COMPOSITION (CONT’D)
		

(c)

Re-election and Re-appointment of Directors (Cont’d)

			AGM of the Company held on May 26, 2016 to hold office until the conclusion of this 44th AGM.
His term of office will end at the conclusion of the 44th AGM and they have offered themselves
for re-appointment as the Directors of the Company.
			The Directors who will retire by rotation and are eligible for re-election at the forthcoming 44th
AGM pursuant to the Company’s Constitution are Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik, Mr Sow Yeng
Chong and Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha.
			
		

Their profiles are set out on pages 21 to 24 of this Annual Report.

(d) 	Annual Assessment

			The Nomination Committee conducted its annual evaluation on the effectiveness of the Board,
its Committees and the contribution of each director.
			
The evaluation involves individual Directors completing separate performance evaluation
sheet regarding the processes of the Board and its Committees, their effectiveness and where
improvements could be considered. Criteria such as contribution to interaction, quality of
output, understanding of roles and Board Chairman’s role are assessed and evaluated.
			These assessments and comments by all Directors were summarised and discussed at the
Nomination Committee meeting which were then reported to the Board at the Board meeting
held thereafter. All assessments and evaluations carried out by the Nomination Committee in
the discharge of its duties are properly documented.
			
Based on the annual board assessment and evaluation, the Nomination Committee has
recommended the re-election of Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik and Mr Sow Yeng Chong as
Directors at the forthcoming 44th AGM. The Board (saved for the interested directors) is satisfied
that these two (2) directors have continued to contribute to the Board’s effectiveness and have
discharged their responsibilities as directors.
			An assessment and evaluation on the performance and effectiveness of the Audit Committee was
undertaken by the Nomination Committee for the financial year ended December 31, 2016. The
Nomination Committee is satisfied that the Audit Committee and its members have discharged
their functions, duties and responsibilities in accordance with the Audit Committee Charter.
2.3

Directors’ Remuneration

		The Remuneration Committee has three (3) members comprising two (2) Independent Non-Executive
Directors and an Executive Director.
		The Remuneration Committee is responsible to make recommendation to the Board on all elements of
remuneration and terms of employment of Executive Director. Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration
with the recommendation of the Remuneration Committee will be a matter to be decided by the Board
as a whole with the Director concerned abstaining from deliberations and voting decisions in respect
of his individual remuneration.
		The Remuneration Committee is entrusted to assist the Board, amongst others, to recommend to
the Board the remuneration of Executive Directors by linking rewards to the corporate and individual
performance. The Remuneration Committee shall ensure that the level of remuneration is sufficient to
attract and retain Directors of the quality required to manage the business of the Group.
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2. STRENGTHEN COMPOSITION (CONT’D)
2.3

Directors’ Remuneration (Cont’d)

		The current remuneration payable to Non-Executive Directors comprises Directors’ fees which require
shareholders’ approval and meeting allowance, based on the number of meetings they are attending
for a year and a retirement gratuity paid to Dato’ (Dr) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji Mohamed Ariff, DSIS,
DSPN, JSM, DJN, SMS, KMN, PPT, PJK, who retired at the conclusion of the 43rd AGM.
		Meetings of the Remuneration Committee are held as and when necessary, and at least once a year.
The Members met twice in the financial year ended December 31, 2016 and full attendance by the
members was recorded.
		The details of the remuneration paid or payable to the Directors by the Company and the Group
categorised into appropriate components for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 are as follows:							
Benefits
		
Directors’
Salaries
Fee
Bonus
in kind
		 Remuneration
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
		 Group
		
Executive Directors
		
Non-Executive Directors

Others
RM’000

Total
RM’000

					
2,220
221
1,824
128
12
4,405
97
132
229
-

				
2,220
318
1,824
128
144
4,634
						
		
Company						
Executive Directors
99
12
111
		
		
Non-Executive Directors
97
132
229
				
		

-

196

-

-

144

340

Directors’ remuneration are broadly categorised into the following bands:-

				
Group
Company
				
Number of Directors
Number of Directors
					
Non-		
Non				
Executive
Executive
Executive
Executive
		
Range of Remuneration
Directors
Directors
Directors
Directors
		
		
		
		
		
		

RM50,000 and below
RM100,001 to RM150,000
RM350,001 to RM400,000
RM750,001 to RM800,000
RM1,500,001 to RM1,550,000
RM1,750,001 to RM1,800,000

				

1
1
1
1

4
1*
-

4
-

4
1*
-

4

5

4

5

		Directors’ fees and all benefits payable, if any are subject to the approval by shareholders at the
forthcoming 44th AGM of the Company.
		

*Inclusive of retirement gratuity of RM100,000.
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3. REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE
3.1 	Annual Assessment of Independence
		The Board, through the Nomination Committee, assesses the independence of Independent Directors
annually, taking into account the individual Director’s ability to exercise independent judgment at all
times and to contribute to the effective functioning of the Board.
		The Independent Non-Executive Directors are not employees and they do not participate in the dayto-day management as well as the daily business of the Company. They bring an external perspective,
constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy, scrutinise the performance of
Management in meeting approved goals and objectives, and monitor risk profile of the Company’s
business and the reporting of monthly business performances.
		The Board is satisfied with the level of independence demonstrated by all the Independent NonExecutive Directors and their ability to act in the best interests of the Company.
3.2 	Tenure of Independent Directors
		The Company does not have term limits for independent directors as the Board believes that there
are significant advantages to be gained from the long-serving Directors who possess tremendous
insight and in-depth knowledge of the Company’s business and affairs coupled with their calibre,
qualifications, experience and personal qualities.
		One recommendation of the MCCG 2012 states that the tenure of an independent director should not
exceed a cumulative term of nine (9) years.
		However, the Nomination Committee and the Board have determined at the annual assessment carried
out that Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik and Mr. Lee Kee Hong, who have served on the Board for a
cumulative term of more than nine (9) years, remains objective and independent in expressing their
views and in participating in deliberations and decision making of the Board and Board Committees. The
length of their services on the Board does not in any way interfere with their exercise of independent
judgment and ability to act in the best interests of the Company.
3.3	Shareholders’ Approval for the continuance in Office as Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“INED”)
		In addition to the criteria for independence prescribed in the Listing Requirements, INED were assessed
on their ability and commitment to continue to bring independent and objective judgment to board
deliberations.
		The Board is of the view that there are significant advantages to be gained from the INED who have
served on the Board for more than nine (9) years as they possess valuable experience and expertise,
greater insight and knowledge of the business, operations and growth strategies of the Group.
Furthermore, the ability of a director to serve effectively as an independent director is much a function
of his caliber, qualification, experience and personal qualities, particularly of his integrity and objectivity
in discharging his responsibilities in good faith in the best interest of the Company and his duty to
vigilantly safeguard the interests of the shareholders of the Company.
		The Board on the review and recommendation made by the Nomination Committee, is unanimous in
its opinion that the two (2) INED, namely Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik and Mr. Lee Kee Hong, who
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3. REINFORCE INDEPENDENCE (CONT’D)
3.3	Shareholders’ Approval for the continuance in Office as Independent Non-Executive Directors
(“INED”) (Cont’d)
		each has served as an INED of the Company for a cumulative term of more than nine (9) years, have
remained objective and independent in participating in the deliberations and decision making of the
Board and Board Committees.
		Thus, the Board would recommend to the shareholders for approval at the forthcoming 44th AGM for
Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik and Mr. Lee Kee Hong, to continue acting as INED of the Company.
3.4

Separation of positions of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer

		The roles and responsibilities of the Chairman and Group Chief Executive Officer are clearly segregated
to further enhance and preserve a balance of authority, power and accountability. The Chairman
is responsible for ensuring Board effectiveness and conduct and the executive function of the
management of the Company’s business; while the Group Chief Executive Officer leads the Senior
Management of the Company in making and implementing the day-to-day decisions on the business
operations, managing resources and risks in pursuing the corporate objectives of the Group.
3.5

Composition

		The Board currently has eight (8) members, comprising four (4) Executive Directors and four (4)
Non-Executive Directors of whom three (3) are independent. The role of Chairman is held by a NonIndependent Executive Director. This Board composition complies with the Listing Requirements to
have at least one third of the Board consisting of Independent Directors.
		The Board Meetings are presided by the Chairman. The Executive Directors are generally responsible
for making and implementing policies and decisions of the Board, overseeing operations as well as
managing development and implementation of business and corporate strategies. The Independent
Non-Executive Directors are independent of management and free from any business relationship
which could materially interfere with their independent judgment. Their presence ensures that issues
of strategies, performance and resources proposed by the management are objectively evaluated with
their judgment.
		The Board is mindful that the Non-Independent Executive Chairman, Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok
Cheong, is a Non-Independent Director of the Company, which was appointed on May 26, 2016.
However, the presence of sufficient Independent Directors on the Board who provide unbiased and
independent views, advice and judgement plays a vital role in ensuring that there is enough check and
balance and corporate accountability.
		In addition, being the founder of Yee Lee Corporation Bhd Group of Companies and having vast experience
in the trading and manufacturing of edible oils and consumer products which would enable him to lead
and provide the Board with a diverse set of experience, expertise and skills for better management and
running of the Group, he has proven to be able to provide strong leadership and in prioritising business
objectives. Besides that, he had exercised his due care in the interests of the Company and shareholders
during his tenures as the Deputy Chairman and Group Managing Director of the Company. The Board and
its Nomination Committee are of the view that the chairmanship of Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong will
continue to guide the Group for further growth.
		The Board is satisfied with the existing number and composition of the Directors which fairly reflects
the investment of minority shareholders in the Company.
		The profile of each Director is presented on pages 21 to 24 of the Annual Report.
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4. FOSTER COMMITMENT
4.1 	Time Commitment
		The Directors are aware of the time commitment expected from each of them to attend to the matters
of the Group generally, including attendance at Board, Board Committee and other types of meetings.
None of our Directors are directors of more than five (5) public listed companies. The Board is satisfied
that the present directorships in external organisations held by the Directors do not give rise to any
conflict of interests nor impair their ability to discharge their responsibilities to the Group.
		The Board has committed to meet at least four (4) times a year, usually before the announcement of
quarterly results to Bursa Securities, with additional meetings convened when necessary.
		During the financial year ended December 31, 2016, four (4) Board Meetings were held and the
attendance is as follows:			Directors
			

Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong

Attendance
4/4

			Lim Ee Young

4/4

			Thang Lai Sung

4/4

			

Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt

4/4

			

Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik

4/4

			
			

Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha
(Appointed on May 26, 2016)

2/2

			Lee Kee Hong
			

Sow Yeng Chong

4/4
4/4

		The Directors would notify the Company prior to accepting any new directorship in a public listed
company.
4.2

Directors’ Training

		The Board acknowledges that continuous education is vital in keeping them abreast with developments
in the market place and with new statutory and regulatory requirements, besides enhancing
professionalism and knowledge in enabling them to discharge their roles in an effective manner.
		
Relevant training programmes were arranged to facilitate knowledge building for Directors. The
Directors may also attend additional training courses according to their individual needs, to equip
themselves for the discharge of their responsibilities as directors of a public listed company and in the
Board Committees on which they serve.
		All the Directors have attended development and training programmes during the financial year ended
December 31, 2016. The conferences, seminars, workshops and training programmes attended by the
Directors were as follows:-
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4. FOSTER COMMITMENT (CONT’D)
4.2

Directors’ Training (Cont’d)
Name

Conferences, seminars, workshops and training programmes

Dato’ Lim A Heng @
Lim Kok Cheong

•  SERC Global Economic Conference 2016
•  Environmental, Social and Governance Practices for Corporate
Sustainability and Reporting

Lim Ee Young

•  Lean Manufacturing in some Malaysia Companies
•  Green Box - In addition to Will & Trust, What other important steps/
precaution you need to take care
•  Perception of Reality/8 Roles of Effective CEOs.
•  What is Chelation & Its Benefit to our Personal Health
•  Asean Economic Community (AEC) and TransPacific Partnership
Agreement (TPPA)
•  SERC Global Economic Conference 2016

Chok Hooa @
Chok Yin Fatt

•  Seminar on Finnish Business Partnership Programme “Bridging
Business Between Finland-Malaysia”
•  AmBank Economic Talk : The Economy of Malaysia-Marching
Ahead with Eyes Wide Open
•  Market Outlook 2016
•  Briefing on Bank Negara Malaysia’s 2015 Annual Report and
Financial Stability and Payments System Report
•  SERC Global Economic Conference 2016
•  The Impact of Plastics on the Sustainability of Environment : Should
Plastics Be Banned?
•  MAICSA Annual Conference 2016 : Sustainability - Shaping The
Future
•  Launch of AGM Guide and Corporate Governance Breakfast Series
entitled “How to Leverage on AGMs for Better Engagement with
Shareholders”
•  Environmental, Social and Governance Practices for Corporate
Sustainability and Reporting

Thang Lai Sung

•  SERC Global Economic Conference 2016
•  Briefing on Bank Negara Malaysia’s 2015 Annual Report and
Financial Stability and Payments System Report
•  Technical Briefing on Amendments to Listing Requirements
Relating to Disclosure, Corporate Governance Requirements &
Future Financial Information and Common Disclosures Issues and
Case Studies
•  FMM Perak Seminar on Amendments to the Company Act

Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena
bin Nik Mustapha

•  Corporate Governance Breakfast Series for Directors : Future of
Auditor Reporting - The Game Changer for Boardroom
•  Corporate Governance Breakfast Series with Directors:   “ Anticorruption and Integrity - Foundation of Corporate Sustainability”
•  Environmental, Social and Governance Practices for Corporate
Sustainability and Reporting
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4. FOSTER COMMITMENT (CONT’D)
4.2

Directors’ Training (Cont’d)
Name

Conferences, seminars, workshops and training programmes

Dato’ Mohd Adhan
bin Kechik

•  Environmental, Social and Governance Practices for Corporate
Sustainability and Reporting

Lee Kee Hong

•  Corporate Governance Breakfast Series for Directors : Improving
Board Risk Oversight Effectiveness
•  Launch of the AGM Guide & Corporate Governance Breakfast
Series : How to Leverage on AGMs for Better Engagement with
Shareholders
•  Risk Management Programme : I Am Ready to Manage Risk

Sow Yeng Chong

•  Risk Management & Internal Control : Workshop for Audit Committee
Members - “An Integrated Assurance on Risk Management and
Internal Control - Is our Line of Defence Adequate and Effective?”
•  Share Capital at No Par Value, Share Buybacks and Redeemable
Preference Shares : Accounting Implications
•  Companies Bill 2015: A Snapshot of Changes
•  Technical Briefing on Amendments to Listing Requirements
Relating to Disclosure, Corporate Governance Requirements and
Future Financial Information and Common Disclosures Issues and
Case Studies
•  Risk Management Programme : I am ready to Manage Risk
•  Management Discussion and Analysis Statement - What and How
to Disclose
•  MAICSA Annual Conference 2016 : Sustainability - Shaping The
Future

5. UPHOLD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING
5.1

Compliance with Applicable Financial Reporting Standards

		The Board is committed to provide a balanced, clear and meaningful assessment of the financial
performance and prospects of the Company via all disclosures and announcements made. The Board
is assisted by the Audit Committee to oversee and scrutinise the process and quality of financial
reporting which includes reviewing and monitoring of the integrity of the financial statements and the
appropriateness of the Company’s accounting policies to ensure accuracy, adequacy and completeness
of the report, as well as compliance with the relevant accounting standards.
5.2 	Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors
		
The Board has established a formal and transparent arrangement with the external auditors of
the Company through the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee communicated directly and
independently with the auditors and without the presence of the Executive Directors at least once a
year.
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5. UPHOLD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING (CONT’D)
5.2 	Assessment of Suitability and Independence of External Auditors (Cont’d)
		The Audit Committee at its meeting held on February 28, 2017 undertook an annual evaluation of
the suitability, independence and professionalism of the external auditors. In its evaluation, the Audit
Committee considered several factors, which included adequacy of experience and resources of the
firm and the professional staff assigned to the audit together with the independence of Deloitte PLT
(“Deloitte”) for the financial year ended December 31, 2016.
		Deloitte, has in place policies on rotation for partners and managers of an audit engagement to ensure
objectivity, independence and integrity of the audit. They have declared their independence to the
Group and their compliance with By-Laws (on professional ethics, conduct and independence) of the
Malaysian Institute of Accountants.
		
Being satisfied with Deloitte’s performance, technical competency and audit independence and
professionalism, the Audit Committee recommended the re-appointment of Deloitte as external
auditors of the Company for the financial year ending December 31, 2017. The Board at its meeting
held on February 28, 2017 approved the Audit Committee’s recommendation for the approval to be
obtained at the 44th AGM on the re-appointment of Deloitte as external auditors of the Company for
the financial year ending December 31, 2017.

6. RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISKS
6.1

Sound Framework to Manage Risks

		The Board has established a comprehensive framework for risk management and a sound internal
control system. The Group’s Risk Management Advisory Committee oversees its enterprise risk
management, review and approve actions developed to mitigate key risks and advising the Board on
risk related issues. In addition, it also provides direction and counsel to the risk management process
as well as involves in the evaluation of the structure for the Group’s risk management processes and
support system.
6.2

Internal Control Function

		The Group continues to maintain and review its internal control procedures to ensure, as far as possible,
the protection of its assets and its shareholders’ investments.
		Details of the Group’s internal control system are set out in the Statement on Risk Management and
Internal Control on pages 48 to 55 of this Annual Report.

7. ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY DISCLOSURE
7.1

Corporate Disclosure Policy

		The Board has adopted its Corporate Disclosure Policy to promote timely and high quality disclosure
of material information to the public. The Corporate Disclosure Policy is available on the Company’s
website at http://www.yeelee.com.my.
		The Board adheres strictly to the Bursa Securities’ disclosure framework to provide investors and the
public with accurate and complete information on a timely basis. The Board ensures that confidential
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7. ENSURE TIMELY AND HIGH QUALITY DISCLOSURE (CON’D)
7.1

Corporate Disclosure Policy (Cont’d)

		information is handled properly by authorised personnel to avoid leakage and improper use of such
information. The Board is also mindful that information which is expected to be material must be
announced immediately.
7.2

Leverage on Information Technology for Effective Dissemination of Information

		The Board endeavours to provide timely and accurate disclosure of all material information of the
Group to the shareholders and investors. Information is disseminated through various disclosures and
announcements made to the Bursa Securities which includes the quarterly financial results, audited
financial statements and Annual Reports. This information is also electronically published at the Bursa
Securities’ and the Company’s websites at http://www.bursamalaysia.com and http://www.yeelee.
com.my respectively and it is accessible by public.

8. STRENGTHEN RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN COMPANY AND SHAREHOLDERS
8.1

Encourage Shareholder Participation at General Meetings

		The Board regards the AGM and other general meetings as an opportunity to communicate directly with
shareholders and encourages attendance and participation in dialogue. The Board takes cognisance
in serving longer than the required minimum notice period for AGMs, when possible. The Chairman
together with the Group Chief Executive Officer ensure that the Board is accessible to shareholders and
an open channel of communication is cultivated. The Board has ensured that an explanatory statement
will accompany each item of special business included in the notice of meeting on the effects of the
proposed resolutions. Each shareholder can vote in person or by appointing a proxy/proxies to attend
and vote on his behalf. Separate issues are tabled in separate resolutions at general meetings, voting is
carried out systematically and resolutions are properly recorded.
8.2

Encourage Poll Voting

		Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the Listing Requirements, the Company is required to ensure that
any resolution set out in the notice of general meetings is voted by poll. Hence, all the resolutions set
out in the notice of the Company’s forthcoming 44th AGM will be voted by poll.
8.3

Effective communication and proactive engagement

		At the 43rd AGM, all Directors were present in person to engage directly with, and be accountable to the
shareholders for their stewardship of the Company. The Directors, Management and external auditors
were in attendance to respond to the shareholders’ queries.
		The Board welcomes questions and feedback from shareholders during and at the end of shareholders’
meeting and ensures their queries are responded in a proper and systematic manner.

COMPLIANCE STATEMENT
The Board is satisfied that the Company has in year 2016 complied with the principles and recommendations of
the MCCG 2012 except where it was specifically stated otherwise.
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OTHER INFORMATION
1. 	Utilisation of Proceeds raised from Corporate Proposals
	The Company did not raise any funds from any corporate proposals during the financial year ended December
31, 2016.
2. 	Non-audit Fees
	For the financial year ended December 31, 2016, the amount of audit and non-audit fees paid/payable to the
external auditors and its affiliated company are as follows:				
				

Company
RM

Group
RM

Audit fee		
Non-audit fee

80,000
8,000

435,007
80,615

Total			

88,000

515,622

3. 	Material Contracts
	There was no material contract which has been entered into by the Group, involving the Directors’ and major
shareholders’ interests, entered into since the end of the previous financial year and at the end of the financial
period.
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for preparing the Audited Financial Statements

The Directors are required by the Companies Act, 1965 (“Act”) to prepare the financial statements for the financial
year ended December 31, 2016 which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Company and
of the Group and the financial performance and cash flows for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 in
accordance with the Financial Reporting Standard and the provisions of the Act in Malaysia.
In preparing the financial statements, the Directors have:•
•
•

Adopted appropriate accounting policies and applied them consistently;
Made judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and
Prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that proper accounting records are kept which disclose with reasonable
accuracy the financial position of the Company and of the Group to enable them to ensure that the financial
statements are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act.
The Directors are responsible for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the
Company and of the Group to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.
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INTRODUCTION
The Malaysian Code on Corporate Governance 2012 (MCCG 2012) requires listed companies to maintain a sound
system of risk management and internal control to safeguard shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets.
Pursuant to Paragraph 15.26(b) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
(“Listing Requirements”), the Board of Directors (“the Board”) of Yee Lee Corporation Bhd. is pleased to present
the following Statement on Risk Management and Internal Control. This Statement outlines the nature and scope
of the risk management and internal control of the Group and covers all of its operations except for an associated
company in which the Group does not have full management and control over it.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITIES
The Board affirms its overall responsibility for the Group’s system of internal control which includes the
establishment of an appropriate control environment and framework as well as reviewing its adequacy and
integrity. These systems are designed to manage and minimise rather than to completely eliminate the risk of
failure in achieving the Group’s business objectives. Such systems can only provide reasonable, but not absolute
assurance against material loss or failure. This denotes that the internal control system has been applied to
manage risks within cost levels appropriate to the significance of the risks. Accompanying these regular reviews
and evaluations of internal control system is a continuous process for identifying, evaluating and managing
significant risks which are faced by the Group. This process is subjected to regular reviews by the Directors as
set out in the “Statement on Risk Management & Internal Control – Guidelines for Directors of Listed Issuers”.

RISK MANAGEMENT FRAMEWORK
The key elements of the Risk Management Framework of the Group are as follows:
(a) Risk Governance Structure
(b) Risk Appetite
(c) Risk Management and Internal Control Processes

RISK GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board has delegated the Group’s risk oversight function to the Audit Committee. It has also assigned the
Group Risk Management Advisory Committee (GRMAC) which is assisted by the Group Risk Management
Department (GRMD) to monitor and ensure that the Group’s risk management practices are aligned with the
framework.
The GRMAC will provide direction and counsel to the GRMD. It involves in the evaluation of the Group’s risk
management processes and support system. In addition, it will review and approve actions developed to mitigate
key risks and advising the Board on risk related matters.
The GRMD is structured to ensure that ample support is provided at both the Head Office and divisional level, and
it is mainly responsible for the following:•
•
•
•

Formulates, recommends, and manages sound and best practice ERM programmes for the Group;
Promotes risk awareness within the Group;
Assists the Risk Management Committee or Management Committee of all subsidiaries in establishing their
internal risk management policy and structures;
Maintaining a proper ERM documentation and data control system;
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•
•
•

Establish risk appetite;
Compiling risk reports from the Group for the GRMAC’s review; and
Organising risk management training and workshop for employees.

KEY COMMITTEE INVOLVED IN OVERALL RISK MANAGEMENT
Board of Directors

Audit Committee

Group Risk Management
Advisory Committee

Group Internal Audit
Department (GIAD)

Group Risk Management
Department (GRMD)

A summary of significant risks is submitted by the Risk Assessor (Head of GRMD) to the Audit Committee for
its attention. The Audit Committee will review and monitor the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
system, and advises the Board accordingly.
The risk management programme has served the Group with structured, consistent approaches and
methodologies in responding to the uncertainties in its operating environment. This warrants the strategic and
rapid response by the Management to impede the impact on its key risks in order to achieve the Group’s business
objectives.
A yearly risk assessment was undertaken by the Risk Management Committee or Management Committee
of each subsidiary to review and evaluate the risk management system as to its effectiveness. This provides
assurance to the Head Office that their existing risk management processes and related controls are functioning
effectively to manage the Company’s exposure to risk.

RISK APPETITE
The Group’s risk appetite defines the amount and types of risk that the organisation is willing to accept in pursuit
of its strategic objectives. It also sets out appropriate controls and actions to reduce the risk to an acceptable
level based on its financial and operational capabilities. The strategic objectives, business plans and desired risk
profile are aligned to the risk appetite. As an effort to further enhance clarity on the risk that the Group is willing
to pursue or retain, the Group has also subsequently established a Risk Appetite Statement: The statement will
help formalize and clarify the Group’s overall approach to risk.

“Yee Lee Group shall take practical yet reasonable steps to mitigate or eliminate risks to ensure reliable and
competitive business operations towards achieving the Group’s objectives. In pursuit of business growth and
sustainability, the Board recognises the need for strategic decision to be made with complete understanding
of risks and the Group’s capacity to manage them. Hence, the Management is responsible for the development
of the risk appetite, risk capacity and risk tolerance.”
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RISK MANAGEMENT PROCESS
The Group has adopted a systematic approach which applies management policies, procedures and practices
to a set of activities in establishing the context, communicate and consult with stakeholders, identify, analyse,
evaluate, treat, monitor and review risks.
The risk management process is outlined in the following diagram:-

Establish The Context

Risk Identification
Communication
And
Consultation

Risk Analysis

Monitor
And
Review

Risk Evaluation

Risk Treatment
The risk management process is explained as follows:A.	ESTABLISH THE CONTEXT
	This is the strategic, organisational and risk management context against which the rest of the risk management
process in the Companies will take place. Criteria against which risk will be evaluated had been established
whereas the structure of the risk analysis is clearly defined.
B. RISK IDENTIFICATION
	All potential events that could adversely impact the Group from achieving its objectives, including failure to
capitalise on opportunities are identified. The Management and key operating personnel of each subsidiary
company are required to identify those risks which relate to their area of works as well as the Company’s
business and activities. They are encouraged to come out with appropriate action plans to mitigate such risks.
The GRMD had compiled all the information which will be shared throughout the Group.
C. RISK ANALYSIS
	The Companies determine the existing controls and analyse the risks in terms of the consequence and
likelihood in the context of those controls. The analysis considers the range of potential consequences and
how likely they are to occur. Consequence and likelihood are combined to produce an estimated level of risk.
Risk impact is analysed from both qualitative and quantitative perspectives.
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D. RISK EVALUATION
	The estimated risk levels are compared against the pre-established criteria. This will enable risks to be rated
and prioritised. Each subsidiary company is having a Risk Consequence Scale of which risks are quantified
based on the Management’s risk appetite and tolerance limit.
E. RISK TREATMENT
	For higher priority risks, the Companies are required to develop and implement specific risk action plans.
Lower priority risks may be accepted and monitored via list of observation.
F.	MONITOR AND REVIEW
	The Companies review their risk management systems and any changes that might affect them. Monitoring
and reviewing occur concurrently throughout the risk management process. Proper documentation system
had been developed for this purpose.
G. COMMUNICATION AND CONSULTATION
	Appropriate communication and consultation with internal and external stakeholders would occur at each
stage of the risk management process as well as on the process as a whole.
The main risk areas faced by the Group together with the key risk management processes are outlined below.
1.	BUSINESS / OPERATION RISK
• R
 eview of economic conditions, commodity pricing and implications to business operations.
• Day-to-day management of operational risks through an effective system of internal controls and monitoring
measures.
• Workplace safety and security procedures are designed to enhance the safety of facilities and handle
situations such as unlawful entries, theft and fire breakouts.
2. CREDIT RISK
• Implementation of policies and procedures in opening of new accounts of customers, application of credit
term/credit limit, invoicing, overdue debts, doubtful debts, cash receipts and collections as well as credit
controls.
• Clearly defined levels of authority to ensure the role of approving authorized personnel commensurate with
the level of credit experience and clear segregation of duties between parties originating and approving
credits.
3. FIDELITY RISK
• C
 omprehensive Standard Operating Procedures had been established for the strict control on the handling,
recording and reporting of daily sales proceeds and inventory in order to reduce risk exposure.
• There are guidelines in the recruitment of sales personnel and periodic independent audit inspection by the
finance team.
• To ensure that insurance coverage on fidelity guarantee policy is adequate to mitigate any financial impact
in the event of a loss.
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4. INVESTMENT RISK
• In order to sustain growth and remain competitive in businesses, the Group has embarked on various
projects which include spending on capital expenditures for its business units and utilising part of its land
bank in Ranau, Sabah for palm trees plantation. Investment activities are managed through careful planning,
feasible study and thorough financial analysis as well as close monitoring by the project management team
to ensure that the investments are viable and successful.
5. CYBER SECURITY RISK
	The Group has developed an Information Technology (IT) Computer Usage & Security Policy to detect,
protect and react to cyber-invasion. They comprised of:• A
 comprehensive IT Audit Policy had been established in ensuring integrity, confidentiality and availability of
information systems being adequately maintained.
• IT compliance audit will be performed regularly by the IT management team in accordance with the
prescribed procedures.
• The Information Security Risk Assessments will be conducted periodically by the IT risk assessment team for
the purpose of determining the areas of vulnerability and to initiate appropriate remediation there-of.
• Disaster Recovery Plan was set up in the form of contingency planning to mitigate the risk of system
and service unavailability by focusing on effective and efficient recovery solutions. This can be done by
performing some or all of the affected business processes using manual means for short-term disruptions
as well as restoration of IT operations at different location with alternate equipment.
The Group will proceed to monitor and enhance the IT infrastructures to cope with the fast-growing cyber
threats in this era of information technology.

CONTROL ENVIRONMENT AND STRUCTURE
The Board and Management have not only established processes in identifying, evaluating and managing the
significant risks being faced by the Group, but also in updating the internal control system when there are
changes to the business environment or regulatory guidelines.
1.	Board and Management Committees
	Board Committees such as Audit Committee, Nomination Committee, Remuneration Committee, ESOS
Committee and Group Risk Management Advisory Committee had been set up by the Board, and delegated
with specific responsibilities of which, are all governed by clearly defined terms of reference and authority
for areas within their scope. The Board Charter and Audit Committee Charter set out the responsibilities and
functions of the Board and the Audit Committee respectively. The various Management Committees were
established to oversee and manage the business units being assigned to them.
2. Policies and Procedures
	There is extensive documentation of policies, procedures and guidelines in the form of Standard Operating
Procedures (SOP) and Operational Manuals on key business processes and supporting functions which
include financial reporting, human capital, procurement and information technology systems. The Group also
has an Occupational Safety and Health Management System Manual which outlines the security and safety
policies and procedures. These policies and manuals are reviewed and revised periodically to meet changing
business, operational and statutory reporting needs.
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3. Limits of Authority (LOA)
	Major investment and capital expenditure are reviewed and approved by the Board. All other procurements
and payments are approved by the various levels of Management in accordance to their authorisation limits.
The LOA is reviewed and updated periodically to reflect any changes.
4. System and Information Security
	The Group Information Technology Department is responsible for continuously monitoring and resolving
security threats to the Company both internally and externally. The Group has a Computer Usage & Security
Policy that regulates the use of information technology resources and system data.
5. Organisation Structure
	The Group has a defined organisational structure with clear lines of responsibility, authority and accountability
which enable the Management to act in the best interest of the shareholders.

INTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTION
The Group Internal Audit Department (GIAD) is constantly upgrading its audit approach, maintaining a highly
dedicated and competent audit team, and expanding its scope to encompass risk-based plans. The internal audit
team visits the business units, and carries out its functions in monitoring the effective application of policies,
procedures and activities related to internal controls, risk management and governance processes. In the course
of performing its duties, the GIAD has unrestricted access to all functions, records, documents, personnel, or any
other resource or information, at all levels throughout the Group.
The GIAD has a clear line of reporting to the Audit Committee and its performance is reviewed by the Audit
Committee on an annual basis. Thus, the GIAD is independent of the financial, operational and management
activities in which they are auditing. Its work practices are governed by the internal audit charter and the annual
audit plan is reviewed and approved by the Audit Committee.
The internal audit team conducts risk-based audit and focus on effective risk management practices. Its mission
is to provide objective and independent assurance of the Group’s system of internal controls as well as reviewing
the adequacy and effectiveness of risk management, governance and control processes which were being
established to manage risks and operations. It also monitors compliance with policies, guidelines, laws and
regulations. Any internal control weaknesses and audit recommendations would be discussed and reported to
the Management for corrective and preventive measures. Significant findings and corrective measures in respect
of any non-compliances are highlighted to the Audit Committee.
The GIAD adopts the standards and principles as outlined in the International Professional Practices Framework
(IPPF) of the Institute of Internal Auditors, and is committed to provide value-added services to the Group.
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CONTROL ACTIVITIES
The control activities carried out by the Group include the following:1.	
The Group’s business units evaluate their performances by setting annual targets, objectives or Key
Performance Indices (KPIs) which are reviewed in the Management Meeting on a monthly basis.
2.	Annual financial and operational budgets are prepared by the business and operating units, and are approved
by the Executive Chairman, Group Chief Executive Officer and Group General Manager. The review of
budgeted against actual performance is performed on a quarterly basis where significant variances will be
investigated and followed up with appropriate remedial actions.
3.	The GIAD, GRMD and finance team play an important role in evaluating and improving the effectiveness of
key controls surrounding the financial reporting process and operating systems.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION
The Board has taken steps to enable consistent sharing of relevant information throughout the organisation as
well as with the external parties. The Board also emphasises communication with all the employees in carrying
out their duties and responsibilities to achieve the Group’s business objectives.
1. Financial and Operational Information
	The Group is equipped with computerised systems that are capable to capture, compile and analyse the data
for management decision-making purposes. Monthly management reports containing financial results, ratio
analysis and operational performance indicators are reviewed by the Management and Senior Management
while the quarterly report on consolidation results will be submitted for the Audit Committee and the Board’s
attention. Minutes of the Monthly Management Meeting and Operations Review Meeting are circulated to the
Departmental Heads and Senior Management.
2. Code of Conduct
	The Group is committed to conduct business fairly and ethically, and in compliance with the law and
regulations. The Board Charter’s Code of Ethics and Conduct stipulates how Directors should conduct
themselves in all business matters. As for the Employee Handbook, it defines the core principles, ethical
standard and expected code of conduct which the employees should follow in achieving the Group’s vision
and business objectives.
3.	Whistleblowing
	The Whistleblowing Policy is established to further strengthen the governance framework of the Group
by assisting the Board in reviewing, investigating and resolving any suspected violations. They may include
instances of possible fraud, corruption, misappropriation of assets and money, or other irregularities. This
policy provides a mechanism in which genuine whistleblowers will be able to raise concerns without fear of
reprisal. An overview of the Whistleblowing Policy is described in the Group’s website.
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MONITORING
The Audit Committee and Board Meetings are held at least on a quarterly basis where the Board is kept up-todate on significant changes in the business and the external environment in which the Group operates and also
to review the performance of the Group.
The Group’s management team shall carry out regular and periodic meetings to review, discuss and monitor the
financial and operational performance as well as to formulate action plans to address areas of concern.

REVIEW OF EFFECTIVENESS
The Board remains committed towards improving the system of internal control and risk management process
to meet its corporate objectives and to support all types of businesses and operations within the Group. The
Board has opined that the Group’s present system of internal control is sound and sufficient to safeguard the
Group’s interest and its business operations. It is also satisfied that the risks taken are at an acceptable level within
the control of the business environment of the Group.

REVIEW OF THE STATEMENT BY EXTERNAL AUDITORS
As required by Paragraph 15.23 of the Listing Requirements, the External Auditors, Deloitte PLT, have reviewed this
Statement in accordance with the Recommended Practice Guide 5 (Revised) issued by the Malaysian Institute of
Accountants, for inclusion in the Annual Report for the financial year ended December 31, 2016. Deloitte PLT had
reported to the Board that nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe that this Statement is
not prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with the disclosures required by Paragraph 41 and 42 of the
Guidelines, nor it is factually inaccurate.

CONCLUSION
The Board has received assurance from both the Group Chief Executive Officer and Group Financial Controller
that the Group’s risk management and internal control systems have operated adequately and effectively, in all
material aspects, during the financial year under review and up to the date of this Statement. Hence, the Board
is of the view that the system of risk management and internal control in place is sound and sufficient to protect
the Group’s interest and that of its stakeholders. In addition, the Board continues to take appropriate measures to
sustain, and, where required, to improve the Group’s risk management and internal control systems in meeting
the Group’s strategic objectives.
The Statement was approved by the Board of Directors on April 14, 2017.
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The directors of YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD. have pleasure in submitting their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ended December 31, 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The Company is principally involved in investment holding.
The information on the name, place of incorporation, principal activities, and percentage of issued and share
capital held by the holding company in each subsidiary is as disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements.

RESULTS
The results of the Group and of the Company for the financial year are as follows:
											
										
Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company		

The Group
RM’000

The Company
RM’000

44,487

10,122

In the opinion of the directors, the results of operations of the Group and of the Company during the financial
year have not been substantially affected by any item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature.

DIVIDENDS
Since the end of the previous financial year, the amount of dividends paid or proposed by the Company are in
respect of the following:
A first and final dividend of 3.5 sen per share, under the single tier system, amounting to RM6,573,458, proposed
in respect of ordinary shares in the previous financial year and dealt with in the previous directors’ report was paid
by the Company during the financial year.
The directors proposed a first and final dividend of 4.5 sen per share, under the single tier system, in respect of the
current financial year. The proposed final dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting of the Company and has not been included as a liability in the financial statements.
Upon approval by the shareholders, the dividend payment will be accounted for in equity as an appropriation of
retained earnings during the financial year ending December 31, 2017.

RESERVES AND PROVISIONS
There were no material transfers to or from reserves or provisions during the financial year other than those
disclosed in the financial statements.
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ISSUE OF SHARES AND DEBENTURES
The Company increased its issued and paid-up ordinary share capital during the financial year by the issuance
of 80,000 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at an exercise price of RM0.78 per ordinary share, 529,500 new
ordinary shares of RM0.50 each at an exercise price of RM1.26 per ordinary share, 1,410,300 new ordinary shares
of RM0.50 each at an exercise price of RM1.58 per ordinary share, and 2,708,900 new ordinary shares of RM0.50
each at an exercise price of RM1.45 per ordinary share pursuant to the exercise of Executives’ Share Option
Scheme (“ESOS”) of the Company.
The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares of the Company.
The resultant premium arising from the shares issued pursuant to the ESOS of the Company of RM4,521,399 has
been credited to the share premium account.
The Company has not issued any debentures during the financial year.

SHARE OPTION
Under the Company’s ESOS, which became effective on June 27, 2012, options to subscribe for new ordinary
shares of RM0.50 each in the Company were granted to eligible executives who include directors and executive
employees of the Group and of the Company. The details of the ESOS are disclosed in Note 31 to the financial
statements.

OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION
Before the financial statements of the Group and of the Company were prepared, the directors took reasonable
steps:
(a)

to ascertain that proper action had been taken in relation to the writing off of bad debts and the making of
allowance for doubtful debts and satisfied themselves that all known bad debts had been written off and
that adequate allowance had been made for doubtful debts; and

(b)

to ensure that any current assets which were unlikely to be realised in the ordinary course of business
including the value of current assets as shown in the accounting records of the Group and of the Company
had been written down to an amount which the current assets might be expected so to realise.

At the date of this report, the directors are not aware of any circumstances:
(a)

which would render the amount written off for bad debts or the amount of allowance for doubtful debts in
the financial statements of the Group and of the Company inadequate to any substantial extent; or

(b)

which would render the values attributed to current assets in the financial statements of the Group and of
the Company misleading; or

(c)

which have arisen which would render adherence to the existing method of valuation of assets or liabilities
of the Group and of the Company misleading or inappropriate; or

(d)

not otherwise dealt with in this report or the financial statements of the Group and of the Company which
would render any amount stated in the financial statements misleading.
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OTHER STATUTORY INFORMATION (CONT’D)
At the date of this report, there does not exist:
(a)

any charge on the assets of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial
year which secures the liabilities of any other person; or

(b)

any contingent liability of the Group and of the Company which has arisen since the end of the financial
year.

No contingent or other liability has become enforceable, or is likely to become enforceable, within the period of
twelve months after the end of the financial year which, in the opinion of the directors, will or may substantially
affect the ability of the Group and of the Company to meet their obligations when they fall due.
In the opinion of the directors, no item, transaction or event of a material and unusual nature has arisen in the
interval between the end of the financial year and the date of this report which is likely to affect substantially the
results of operations of the Group and of the Company in the financial year in which this report is made.

DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company in office during the financial year and up to the date of this report are:
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong, JSM, DPMP, JP
Mr. Thang Lai Sung
Mr. Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt, PMP
Mr. Lim Ee Young
Y.B. Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik, DJMK, SMK
Mr. Lee Kee Hong
Mr. Sow Yeng Chong
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha, DIMP (appointed on May 26, 2016)
Y. Bhg. Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji Mohamed Ariff, DSIS, DSPN, JSM, DJN, SMS, KMN, PPT, PJK 		
(retired on May 26, 2016)
The directors who hold office in the subsidiaries of the Company during the financial year and up to the date of
this report are:
Name of Directors

Subsidiary Companies

Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong
Datin Chua Shok Tim @ Chua Siok Hoon
Lim Ee Young
Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt
Thang Lai Sung
Lee Kon Cheng
Goh Mung Chwee
Lim Kim Kow
Chua Tiong Lee
Wong Hung
Chua Ah Bah @ Chua Siew Seng
Hooi Kok Wing @ Hooi Kok Weng
Wong Kai Leong

CP, CPVN, SEAPP, YLEO, YLPOIL, YLT
IW, DT, ST, YLEO, YLM, YLT, SMR
CP, CPVN, ST, YLEO, YLM, SP, YLT, SMR
IW, DT, ST, YLEO, YLPOIL, MM
SEAPP, YLPOIL, PK
DT, ST, SEAPP, SP
DT, ST, STR
CP, GC, YLT
SEAPP, MM
CP, CPVN, GC
IW, PK
YLT
CPVN
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DIRECTORS (CONT’D)
Denotes:
CP		
CPVN
GC		
		
IW		
DT		
ST		
STR		
SEAPP
YLEO
YLM		
YLPOIL
PK*		
SP		
YLT		
MM		
SMR		

Canpac Sdn.Bhd.
Canpac Vietnam Pte., Ltd.
Good Cans Sdn. Bhd.
(In Members’ Voluntary Winding-Up)
Intanwasa Sdn. Bhd.
Desa Tea Sdn. Bhd.
Sabah Tea Sdn. Bhd.
Sabah Tea Resort Sdn. Bhd.
South East Asia Paper Products Sdn. Bhd.
Yee Lee Edible Oils Sdn. Bhd.
Yee Lee Marketing Sdn. Bhd.
Yee Lee Palm Oil Industries Sdn. Bhd.
Palker Sdn. Bhd.
Sementra Plantations Sdn. Bhd.
Yee Lee Trading Co. Sdn. Bhd.
Mini Motors Sdn. Bhd.
Sementra Resort Sdn. Bhd.

* In the midst of striking off.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS
The interests in shares in the Company and in the holding company of those who were directors at the end of
the financial year according to the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings kept by the Company under Section 59
of the Companies Act 2016 are as follows:
			
			
Number of ordinary shares
										 Balance as of
1.1.2016/		
										
										
date of			
Balance as of
										 appointment
Bought
Sold
31.12.2016
Shares in the Company
Registered in the name of directors
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong		
Mr. Thang Lai Sung 			
Mr. Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt 		
Mr. Lim Ee Young				
Y.B. Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik 		
Mr. Lee Kee Hong				
Mr. Sow Yeng Chong 		
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin
Nik Mustapha 				

5,312,352
133,398
310,432
771,356
181,664
119,976
11,000

230,000
175,000
230,000
50,000
50,000
95,000

(213,000)
(410,000)
(160,000)
(50,000)
(70,000)

5,542,352
95,398
130,432
771,356
71,664
119,976
36,000

1,550,000

-

-

1,550,000

Yee Lee Corporation Bhd

060

DIRECTORS’
REPORT

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS (CONT’D)
			
Number of ordinary shares
										 Balance as of
										
1.1.2016/		
										
date of			
Balance as of
										 appointment
Bought
Sold
31.12.2016
Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by
a company in which a director has interest
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong		

97,516,113

-

-

97,516,113

Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by
immediate family members of the directors
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong
Mr. Lim Ee Young 				
Mr. Sow Yeng Chong		

2,244,854
14,000
1,808

80,000
-

-

2,324,854
14,000
1,808

			
Number of options over ordinary shares
										 Balance as of			
Balance as of
										
1.1.2016
Granted
Exercised
31.12.2016
Share options of the Company
Registered in the name of directors
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong		
Mr. Thang Lai Sung 			
Mr. Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt 		
Mr. Lim Ee Young				
Y.B. Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik 		
Mr. Lee Kee Hong				
Mr. Sow Yeng Chong 		

230,000
262,500
230,000
727,500
50,000
95,000
140,000

-

(230,000)
(175,000)
(230,000)
(50,000)
(50,000)
(95,000)

87,500
727,500
45,000
45,000

			
Number of ordinary shares
										 Balance as of			
Balance as of
										
1.1.2016
Bought
Sold
31.12.2016
Shares in the holding company,
Yee Lee Organization Bhd.
Registered in the name of directors
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong		
Mr. Thang Lai Sung			
Mr. Lim Ee Young				
Mr. Lee Kee Hong				

2,751
1,716
71,544
19,800

-

-

2,751
1,716
71,544
19,800
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Number of ordinary shares
										 Balance as of			 Balance as of
										
1.1.2016
Bought
Sold
31.12.2016
Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by
companies in which a director has interest
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong		

7,799,820

-

-

7,799,820

Deemed interest by virtue of shares held by
immediate family members of a director
Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong		

409,086

-

-

409,086

By virtue of Y. Bhg. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong, JSM, DPMP, JP’s interests in the shares of the Company,
he is also deemed to have an interest in the shares of all the subsidiaries to the extent that the Company has
interests.

DIRECTORS’ BENEFITS
Since the end of the previous financial year, none of the directors of the Company has received or become
entitled to receive a benefit (other than a benefit included in the aggregate amount of remuneration received
or due and receivable by directors as disclosed in the financial statements) by reason of a contract made by the
Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member, or with a company in
which he has a substantial financial interest except for any benefit which may be deemed to have arisen by virtue
of the transactions between the Company and certain companies in which certain directors of the Company are
also directors and/or shareholders as disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements.
During and at the end of the financial year, no arrangement subsisted to which the Company was a party whereby
directors of the Company might acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the
Company or any other body corporate except for the options granted to the directors pursuant to the Company’s
ESOS as disclosed above and in Note 31 to the financial statements.

INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE FOR DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS
The Company maintains directors’ liability insurance for purposes of Section 289 of the Companies Act 2016,
throughout the year, which provides appropriate insurance cover for the directors and/or officers of the Group
and of the Company. The total amount of insurance premium paid/payable during the year is as follows:
											
										
Insurance premium paid/payable			

The Group
RM’000

The Company
RM’000

12,305

2,220
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HOLDING COMPANY
The immediate and ultimate holding company of the Company is Yee Lee Organization Bhd., a company
incorporated in Malaysia.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION
The amount paid/payable as remuneration of the auditors for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 is as
disclosed in Note 8 to the financial statements.

AUDITORS
The auditors, Deloitte PLT, have indicated their willingness to continue in office.

Signed on behalf of the Board
in accordance with a resolution of the Directors,

mr. lim ee young
Group Chief Executive Officer

MR. CHOK HOOA @ CHOK YIN FATT, PMP
Executive Director

Ipoh,
April 14, 2017
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TO THE MEMBERS OF YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD.
(Incorporated in Malaysia)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD., which comprise the statements of
financial position of the Group and of the Company as of December 31, 2016, and the statements of profit or loss,
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements
of cash flows of the Group and of the Company for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies, as set out on pages 68 to 159.
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Group and of the Company as of December 31, 2016 and of their financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act,
1965 in Malaysia.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards
on Auditing. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Independence and Other Ethical Responsibilities
We are independent of the Group and of the Company in accordance with the By-Laws (on Professional Ethics,
Conduct and Practice) of the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“By-Laws”) and the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the By-Laws and the IESBA Code.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Key Audit Matters

Our audit performed and responses thereon

Investment in subsidiary companies
The Company’s investment in subsidiary companies
is measured at fair value using the valuation technique
as disclosed in Notes 4(b) and 14 to the financial
statements. This involves use of estimates and
judgements that need to be continually evaluated
based on historical experience and other factors,
including expectation of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
The fair value gain recognised on the investment in
subsidiaries during the financial year amounted to
RM64 million.
Refer to “Critical accounting judgements and key
sources of estimation uncertainty” in Note 4 and
additionally Note 14 “Investments in subsidiary
companies”.

Our audit procedures included, among others:
•
Assessment of competency of personnel
performing the valuation exercise
by evaluating their qualifications and
experience with the Group, and also
through observation of the competence
of the personnel based on prior year
experience with them.
•
Use of our valuation specialists to compare
key assumptions used by management in
their valuation exercises against external
benchmarks (for example, discount and
growth rates).
•
Performance of retrospective reviews
against prior year assumptions and
budgets to evaluate the reasonableness
of
management’s
current
year
assumptions, and significant deviations
were investigated through discussions
with management.
•
Verification of cash flow projections
to approved/draft budgets and capital
expenditure budgets that have been
reviewed by senior management. Where
companies making losses in the current
year were budgeted to turnaround
in subsequent years, explanations on
plans to rectify the loss situations were
obtained, and the reasonableness and
viability of such plans were assessed.
•
Performance of sensitivity assessments
to determine the effects arising from
changes in assumptions and estimates
used in the cash flow projections.
We noted no material exceptions and consider
management’s key assumptions used in their
valuation to be within a reasonable range.
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Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors’ Report Thereon
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the
information included in the Annual Report, but does not include the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company and our auditors’ report thereon.
Our opinion on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company does not cover the other information
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, our responsibility is
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements of the Group and of the Company or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Statements
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group
and of the Company that give a true and fair view in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the
requirements of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia. The directors are also responsible for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements of the Group and of the
Company that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements of the Group and of the Company, the directors are responsible for assessing
the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related
to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intends to liquidate
the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards
on Auditing will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with approved standards on auditing in Malaysia and International Standards
on Auditing, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Group’s and of the Company’s internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s or the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Company to cease to continue as
a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements of the Group and of
the Company, including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements of the Group and of the
Company represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the financial statements of the Group. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
We also provide the directors with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the current year and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
In accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia, we report that the subsidiary
companies of which we have not acted as auditors, are disclosed in Note 14 to the financial statements.

Other Reporting Responsibilities
The supplementary information set out in Note 36 is disclosed to meet the requirement of Bursa Malaysia
Securities Berhad and is not part of the financial statements. The directors are responsible for the preparation of
the supplementary information in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1 “Determination of Realised
and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing
Requirements” as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants (“MIA Guidance”) and the directive of Bursa
Malaysia Securities Berhad. In our opinion, the supplementary information is prepared in all material respects, in
accordance with the MIA Guidance and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.

Other Matters
This report is made solely to the members of the Company, as a body, in accordance with Section 266 of the
Companies Act, 2016 in Malaysia and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility to any other person
for the content of this report.

DELOITTE PLT (LLP0010145-LCA)
Chartered Accountants (AF 0080)

LEE CHENG HEOH
Partner - 2225/04/18(J)
Chartered Accountant

April 14, 2017
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Note
Revenue 						

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

5

1,057,810

799,208

10,826

7,534

Investment revenue		
7
Other gains and losses
8
Changes in inventories of finished goods,
trading merchandise and work		in-progress			
8
Raw materials and consumables used
8
Purchase of finished goods and trading
merchandise 				
Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment				
12
Employee benefits expense
8
Finance costs				
9
Other expenses				
8
Share of profit of an associated company
15

1,348
6,728

931
11,683

-

-

22,078
(290,720)

1,647
(248,879)

-

-

(553,594)

(364,647)

-

-

(13,287)
(72,677)
(6,154)
(103,080)
8,054

(11,874)
(62,940)
(6,030)
(84,913)
7,299

(340)
(56)
(308)
-

(265)
(57)
(243)
-

Profit before tax				
Tax expense 					
10

56,506
(12,019)

41,485
(9,573)

10,122
-

6,969
-

Profit for the year attributable to
owners of the Company		 44,487

31,912

10,122

6,969

Earnings per share
Basic (sen)					

11

23.78

17.52

Diluted (sen)					

11

23.63

17.28

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Profit for the year				

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

44,487

31,912

10,122

6,969

-

156,487

-

-

8,503

1,581

-

-

1,222

2,306

-

-

9,725

3,887

-

-

7

-

-

-

-

-

64,668

148,291

										
Others
Income tax relating to item that will not be
		 reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

7

-

64,668

148,291

-

(22,206)

-

-

Total other comprehensive income for the year

9,732

138,168

64,668

148,291

54,219

170,080

74,790

155,260

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Gain on revaluation of property		
Items that may be reclassified subsequently
to profit or loss:
Share of other comprehensive income of
		 associated company		
Exchange differences on translating
		 foreign entity			
										
Available-for-sale financial assets:
Net fair value gain on:
		 available-for-sale financial assets during
			 the year				
		 investments in subsidiary companies
			 during the year		

Total comprehensive income attributable to
owners of the Company		
			

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Investments in
subsidiary companies
Investment in an
associated company
Other investments		
Goodwill on consolidation

12
13

429,364
6,810

419,142
8,310

-

-

14

-

-

459,462

394,810

15
16
17

107,816
20
1,612

74,684
13
1,612

55,249
-

35,658
-

Total non-current assets		 545,622

503,761

514,711

430,468

Current assets
Inventories					
Trade and other receivables
Current tax assets			
Other assets					
Deposits, cash and bank balances

94,293
205,789
1,532
7,898
79,422

70,474
165,976
1,000
7,535
92,444

17,289
311
4
227

17,035
311
2
750

Total current assets		 388,934

337,429

17,831

18,098

Total assets						

934,556

841,190

532,542

448,566

94,332
216,070
267,242

91,968
203,394
227,750

94,332
384,782
38,013

91,968
317,170
32,902

577,644

523,112

517,127

442,040

25
27

9,428
41,735

11,920
42,255

-

-

Total non-current liabilities		

51,163

54,175

-

-

144,858
135,306
2,689
22,896

114,917
124,708
3,599
20,679

14,153
1,000
262

5,296
1,000
230

Total current liabilities		 305,749

263,903

15,415

6,526

Total liabilities 				

356,912

318,078

15,415

6,526

Total equity and liabilities		 934,556

841,190

532,542

448,566

18
19
10
21
22

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capital and reserves
Share capital					
Reserves						
Retained earnings 		

23
24
24

Total equity						
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 					
Deferred tax liabilities

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Borrowings					
Current tax liabilities 		
Other liabilities				

28
25
10
29

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

2,997

1,645

-

-

-

-

-

-

134,281
-

134,281

-

										

Total comprehensive
income for the year
Payment of dividend
30
Recognition of sharebased payments 		
Exercise of ESOS		

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive
income for the year		

53,578

-

-

-

-

(7)

-

2,306
-

2,306

-

343

1,329
(1,112)

-

-

-

2,382

-

1,581
-

1,581

-

3,454

1,112

31,912
(5,489)

-

31,912

200,215

1,329
4,642

170,080
(5,489)

138,168

31,912

352,550

2,262

Balance as of
January 1, 2015		

90,323

Total
Equity
RM’000

Attributable to Owners of the Company
Non-distributable Reserves
									
Equity
									 Settled		
Distributable
						
Property
Investment		Employee		 Reserve Share
Share Revaluation Revaluation Translation
Benefits
Capital
Retained
				
				
Capital Premium
Reserve
Reserve
Reserve
Reserve
Reserve
Earnings
The Group
Note RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
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9,781

187,859

-

-

-

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

										

December 31, 2016		

94,332

2,364

Total comprehensive
income for the year		
Payment of dividend
30
Exercise of ESOS		

Balance as of

-

-

4,522

-

-

Profit for the year		
Other comprehensive
income for the year

187,859

-

7
-

7

-

(7)

3,871

1,222
-

1,222

-

2,649

1,021

(1,578)

-

-

2,599

13,538

8,503
-

8,503

-

5,035

267,242

44,487
(6,573)
1,578

-

44,487

227,750

577,644

54,219
(6,573)
6,886

9,732

44,487

523,112

5,259

Balance as of
December 31, 2015		

91,968

Total
Equity
RM’000

Attributable to Owners of the Company
Non-distributable Reserves
									
Equity
									 Settled		
Distributable
						
Property
Investment		Employee		 Reserve Share
Share Revaluation Revaluation Translation
Benefits
Capital
Retained
				
				
Capital Premium
Reserve
Reserve
Reserve
Reserve
Reserve
Earnings
The Group
Note RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
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-

2,364
94,332

Total comprehensive income for the year		
Payment of dividend
30

Exercise of ESOS		

Balance as of December 31, 2016		
9,781

4,522

-

5,259

2,997

-

2,262

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

										

-

Profit for the year		
Other comprehensive income for the year		

91,968

1,645

Total comprehensive income for the year		
Payment of dividend
30
Recognition of share-based payments 		
Exercise of ESOS		

Balance as of December 31, 2015		

-

90,323

Profit for the year		
Other comprehensive income for the year		

Balance as of January 1, 2015		

373,980

-

64,668
-

64,668

309,312

148,291
-

148,291

161,021

1,021

(1,578)

-

-

2,599

1,329
(1,112)

-

2,382

Non-distributable Reserves
							
Equity
							
Settled
						
Investment
Employee
				
Share
Share
Revaluation
Benefits
Reserve
				
Capital
Reserve
Earnings
The Company
Note
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

38,013

1,562

10,122
(6,573)

10,122
-

32,902

6,969
(5,489)
1,112

6,969
-

30,310

Distributable
Reserve Retained
Equity
RM’000

517,127

6,870

74,790
(6,573)

10,122
64,668

442,040

155,260
(5,489)
1,329
4,642

6,969
148,291

286,298

RM’000

Total
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Note
CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 						
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment			
Tax expense recognised in statements of profit or loss			
Finance costs						
Inventories written off				
Bad debts written off				
Property, plant and equipment written off				
Impairment losses recognised on receivables 			
Inventories written down - net				
Share of profit of an associated company 				
Investment revenue recognised in statements of profit or loss			
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange				
Reversal of impairment losses recognised on receivables 			
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment - net			
Waiver of debt						
Equity-settled share-based payments 				
Impairment loss recognised on property, plant and equipment 		
Changes in fair value of investment properties			
Gain on disposal of non-current asset held for sale			

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000
44,487

31,912

13,287
12,019
6,154
1,600
326
98
57
2
(8,054)
(1,348)
(1,030)
(95)
(81)
(13)
-

11,874
9,573
6,030
2,344
444
399
148
5
(7,299)
(931)
(795)
(296)
(22)
1,329
1,318
(570)
(228)

												
Movements in working capital:
(Increase)/Decrease in:
Inventories							
Trade and other receivables				
Other assets 							
Increase/(Decrease) in:
Trade and other payables				
Other liabilities 						

67,409

55,235

(25,157)
(38,781)
(3,400)

(1,714)
(39,986)
(3,581)

29,104
2,216

34,302
(603)

Cash Generated From Operations				
Tax refunded 							
Tax paid									

31,391
184
(14,123)

43,653
1,377
(7,585)

17,452

37,445

Net Cash Generated From Operating Activities				
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Note

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Dividends received from an associated company			
Interest received						
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment			
Rental from investment properties received 				
Dividends received from quoted shares				
Purchase of additional shares in associated company			
Purchase of property, plant and equipment			
33(a)
Proceeds from disposal of non-current asset held for sale			

3,016
1,096
360
251
1
(19,591)
(16,936)
-

2,364
701
521
229
1
(2,124)
(10,408)
828

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities				

(31,803)

(7,888)

10,657
6,886
(6,573)
(6,154)
(2,333)
(2,331)

28,109
4,642
(5,489)
(6,030)
(1,879)
(3,831)

152

15,522

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		

(14,199)

45,079

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR			
Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash held in
foreign currencies					

89,880

45,311

586

(510)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR		 33(b)

76,267

89,880

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from bankers’ acceptances - net 				
Proceeds from issuance of shares arising from exercise of ESOS		
Dividend paid							
Finance costs paid					
Repayment of hire-purchase payables				
Repayment of term loans - net 				
Net Cash From Financing Activities				

		

The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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Note
CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit for the year 						
Adjustments for:
Finance costs						
Dividend income					
Equity-settled share-based payments
			

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000
10,122

6,969

56
(10,826)
-

57
(7,534)
64

(648)

(444)

(2)

1

(460)
32

697
31

Cash (Used In)/Generated From Operations				
Dividends received					
Tax refunded 							

(1,078)
10,826
-

285
7,534
57

Net Cash Generated From Operating Activities				

9,748

7,876

CASH FLOWS USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchase of additional shares in associated company			
Advances granted to subsidiary company - net 				

(19,591)
(254)

(2,124)
-

Net Cash Used In Investing Activities				

(19,845)

(2,124)

9,310
6,886
10
2
(6,573)
(56)
(5)

(4,134)
4,642
(5,489)
(57)
5

9,574

(5,033)

NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

(523)

719

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF YEAR			

750

31

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR		33(b)

227

750

												
Movements in working capital:
(Increase)/Decrease in other assets				
(Decrease)/Increase in:
Other payables 					
Other liabilities						

CASH FLOWS FROM/(USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Advances received from/(Repayment to) subsidiary company - net		
Proceeds from issuance of shares arising from exercise of ESOS		
Advances received from associated company				
Advances received from immediate holding company			
Dividend paid							
Finance costs paid					
Advances received from related parties 				
Net Cash From/(Used In) Financing Activities				

		
The accompanying Notes form an integral part of the financial statements.
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1.

GENERAL INFORMATION
The Company is a company with limited liability, domiciled in Malaysia, and listed on the Main Market of
Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
The Company is principally involved in investment holding.
The information on the name, place of incorporation, principal activities, and percentage of issued and
share capital held by the holding company in each subsidiary is as disclosed in Note 14.
The Companies Act 2016 (“New Act”) was enacted to replace the Companies Act, 1965 and was passed by
Parliament on April 4, 2016. The New Act was subsequently gazetted on September 15, 2016. On January
26, 2017, the Minister of Domestic Trade, Co-operatives and Consumerism announced that the effective
date of the New Act, except for section 241 and Division 8 of Part III of the New Act, to be January 31, 2017.
Amongst the key changes introduced in the New Act which will affect the financial statements of the Group
and of the Company would include the removal of the authorised share capital, replacement of no par value
shares in place of par or nominal value shares and the treatment of share premium.
The adoption of the New Act is not expected to have any financial impact on the Group and on the
Company for the financial year ended December 31, 2016 as any accounting implications will only be
applied prospectively, if applicable, and the effect of adoption mainly will be on the disclosures to the
annual report and financial statements of the Group and of the Company for the financial year ending
December 31, 2017.
The registered office and principal place of business of the Company are located at Lot 85, Jalan Portland,
Tasek Industrial Estate, 31400 Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan, Malaysia.
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company were authorised for issue by the Board of
Directors in accordance with a resolution of the directors on April 14, 2017.

2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared in accordance with Financial
Reporting Standards (“FRS Framework”) and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965 in Malaysia.
2.1 Adoption of the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards
On November 19, 2011, the Malaysian Accounting Standards Board (“MASB”) has issued a new MASB
approved accounting framework, the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards Framework (“MFRS
Framework”), a fully International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) compliant framework. Entities
other than private entities shall apply the MFRS Framework for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2012, with the exception of Transitioning Entities (“TEs”).
TEs, being entities within the scope of MFRS 141 Agriculture and/or IC Interpretation 15: Agreements
for the Construction of Real Estate, including its parents, significant investors and venturers were
allowed to defer the adoption of the MFRS Framework until such time as mandated by the MASB.
On September 2, 2014, with the issuance of MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and Amendments to MFRS 116 and MFRS 141 Agriculture: Bearer Plants, the MASB announced that
TEs which have chosen to continue with the FRS Framework are now required to adopt the MFRS
Framework latest by January 1, 2018.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
2.1 Adoption of the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (Cont’d)
The Group and the Company being TEs have availed themselves of this transitional arrangement and
will continue to apply FRSs in the preparation of their financial statements. Accordingly, the Group and
the Company will be required to apply MFRS 1 First-time Adoption of Malaysian Financial Reporting
Standards in their financial statements for the financial year ending December 31, 2018, being the first
set of financial statements prepared in accordance with the new MFRS Framework. Further, an explicit
and unreserved statement of compliance with IFRSs will be made in these financial statements.
MFRS 15 and MFRS 16 which become effective on or after January 1, 2018 and January 1, 2019
respectively, are discussed below:
MFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers
MFRS 15 establishes a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising
from contracts with customers. Subsequently, amendments to MFRS 15 were issued in June 2016
which provide clarification on certain requirements of MFRS 15 and provide additional transitional
relief upon implementing MFRS 15. MFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition guidance
including MFRS 118 Revenue, MFRS 111 Construction Contracts and the related Interpretations when
it becomes effective.
The core principle of MFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which
the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Standard
introduces a 5-step approach to revenue recognition.
•
•
•
•
•

Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Step 3: Determine the transaction price
Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract
Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance obligation

Under MFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation is satisfied, i.e.
when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying the particular performance obligation is transferred
to the customer. Far more prescriptive guidance has been added in MFRS 15 to deal with specific
scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by MFRS 15.
The directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of MFRS 15 in the
future may have a material impact on the amounts reported and disclosures made in these financial
statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of MFRS 15
until the Group and the Company complete a detailed review.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
2.1 Adoption of the Malaysian Financial Reporting Standards (Cont’d)
MFRS 16 Leases
MFRS 16 specifies how an MFRS reporter will recognise, measure, present and disclose leases. The
standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to recognise assets and liabilities
for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low value. Lessors
continue to classify leases as operating or finance, with MFRS 16’s approach to lessor accounting
substantially unchanged from its predecessor, MFRS 117.
At lease commencement, a lessee will recognise a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The right-ofuse asset is treated similarly to other non-financial assets and depreciated accordingly and the liability
accrues interest. The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments
payable over the lease term, discounted at the rate implicit in the lease if that can be readily determined.
If that rate cannot be readily determined, the lessees shall use their incremental borrowing rate.
The directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of MFRS 16 in the future
may have an impact on the amounts reported and disclosures made in the Group’s and the Company’s
financial statements. However, it is not practicable to provide a reasonable estimate of the effect of
MFRS 16 until the Group and the Company perform a detailed review.
2.2 Adoption of new and revised Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”)
2.2.1

Amendments to FRSs that are mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group and the Company have applied a number of amendments to
FRSs issued by the MASB that are mandatorily effective for an accounting period that begins
on or after January 1, 2016.
The adoption of the new and revised FRSs has had no material impact on the disclosures or on
the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

2.2.2

Standards in issue but not yet effective
The directors anticipate that the following Standards will be adopted in the annual financial
statements of the Group and of the Company when they become mandatorily effective for
adoption. The adoption of these Standards is not expected to have a material impact on the
financial statements of the Group and of the Company except as further discussed below:

FRS 9
Financial Instruments2
Amendments to FRS 2#
Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
				Transactions2
Amendments to FRS 10
Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
		 and FRS 128		 Associate or Joint Venture3
Amendments to FRS 107
Disclosure Initiative1
Amendments to FRS 112
Recognition of Deferred Tax Assets for Unrealised Losses1
Amendments to FRS 140#
Transfers of Investment Property2
IC Interpretation 22#
Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration2
Amendments to FRSs#
Annual Improvements to FRSs 2014 - 2016 Cycle2
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
2.2 Adoption of new and revised Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) (Cont’d)
2.2.2

Standards in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)
1

2

3

#

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2017, with earlier application
permitted.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with earlier application
permitted.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
The Group and the Company shall apply MFRS for the annual period beginning January
1, 2018, and as such, shall apply the corresponding amendments under MFRS instead of
these amendments, on or after January 1, 2018.

FRS 9 Financial Instruments
FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in November 2009) introduced new requirements for the
classification and measurement of financial assets. FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued by IASB in October
2010) include requirements for the classification and measurement of financial liabilities and
for derecognition, and in February 2014, the new requirements for general hedge accounting
was issued by MASB. Another revised version of FRS 9 was issued by MASB - FRS 9 (IFRS 9 issued
by IASB in July 2014) mainly to include a) impairment requirements for financial assets and b)
limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements by introducing a ‘fair
value through other comprehensive income’ (“FVTOCI”) measurement category for certain
simple debt instruments.
Key requirements of FRS 9:
•

all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of FRS 139 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement are required to be subsequently measured at amortised
cost or fair value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business model
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding are
generally measured at amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose objective is achieved both by
collecting contractual cash flows and selling financial assets, and that have contractual
terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, are measured
at FVTOCI. All other debt investments and equity investments are measured at their fair
value at the end of subsequent accounting periods. In addition, under FRS 9, entities
may make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the fair value of an
equity investment (that is not held for trading) in other comprehensive income, with only
dividend income generally recognised in profit or loss.

•

with regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as at fair value through
profit or loss, FRS 9 requires that the amount of change in the fair value of the financial
liability that is attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability, is presented in other
comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s credit
risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under FRS 139, the entire amount
of the change in the fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair value through
profit or loss is presented in profit or loss.
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2.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
2.2 Adoption of new and revised Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) (Cont’d)
2.2.2

Standards in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)
FRS 9 Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
Key requirements of FRS 9: (Cont’d)
•

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, FRS 9 requires an expected credit loss
model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss model under FRS 139. The expected credit
loss model requires an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at the end of each reporting period to reflect changes in credit
risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer necessary for a credit event to
have occurred before credit losses are recognised.

•

the new general hedge accounting requirements retain the three types of hedge
accounting mechanisms currently available in FRS 139. Under FRS 9, greater flexibility has
been introduced to the types of transactions eligible for hedge accounting, specifically
broadening the types of instruments that qualify for hedging instruments and the types
of risk components of non-financial items that are eligible for hedge accounting. In
addition, the effectiveness test has been overhauled and replaced with the principle of
an ‘economic relationship’. Retrospective assessment of hedge effectiveness is also no
longer required. Enhanced disclosure requirements about an entity’s risk management
activities have also been introduced.

The directors of the Group and of the Company anticipate that the application of FRS 9 in the
future may have a material impact on amounts reported in respect of the Group’s and of the
Company’s financial assets and financial liabilities. However, it is not practicable to provide
a reasonable estimate of the effect of FRS 9 until the Group and the Company complete a
detailed review.
Amendments to FRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions
The amendments clarify that in estimating the fair value of a cash-settled share-based
payment, the accounting for the effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions should follow
the same approach as for equity-settled share-based payments.
Where tax law or regulation requires an entity to withhold a specified number of equity
instruments equal to the monetary value of the employee’s tax obligation to meet the
employee’s tax liability which is then remitted to the tax authority (typically in cash), i.e. the
share-based payment arrangement has a ‘net settlement feature’, such an arrangement should
be classified as equity-settled in its entirety, provided that the share-based payment would
have been classified as equity-settled had it not included the net settlement feature.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONT’D)
2.2 Adoption of new and revised Financial Reporting Standards (“FRSs”) (Cont’d)
2.2.2

Standards in issue but not yet effective (Cont’d)
Amendments to FRS 2 Classification and Measurement of Share-based Payment
Transactions (Cont’d)
A modification of a share-based payment that changes the transaction from cash-settled to
equity-settled should be accounted for as follow:
•
•

•

the original liability is derecognised;
the equity-settled share-based payment is recognised at the modification date fair value
of the equity instrument granted to the extent that services have been rendered up to the
modification date, and
any difference between the carrying amount of the liability at the modification date and
the amount recognised in equity should be recognised in profit or loss immediately.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1,
2018 with earlier application permitted. Specific transition provisions apply.
Amendments to FRS 10 and FRS 128 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint Venture
The amendments deal with situations where there is a sale or contribution of assets between
an investor and its associate or joint venture. FRS 128 and FRS 10 are amended, as follows:
FRS 128 has been amended to reflect the gains and losses resulting from transactions
involving assets that do not constitute a business between an investor and its associate or
joint venture are recognised to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate or
joint venture. Gains or losses from downstream transactions involving assets that constitute a
business between an investor and its associate or joint venture should be recognised in full in
the investor’s financial statements.
FRS 10 has been amended to reflect the gains or losses resulting from the loss of control
of a subsidiary that does not contain a business in a transaction with an associate or a joint
venture that is accounted for using the equity method, are recognised in the parent’s profit or
loss only to the extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in that associate or joint venture.
Similarly, gains and losses resulting from the remeasurement of investments retained in any
former subsidiary (that has become an associate or a joint venture that is accounted for using
the equity method) to fair value are recognised in the former parent’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investors’ interests in the new associate or joint venture.
In December 2015, the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment indefinitely
pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. Earlier
application of these amendments is still permitted.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of Accounting
The financial statements of the Group and of the Company have been prepared on the historical cost basis
except for certain non-current assets and financial instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or
fair values, at the end of each reporting period as explained in the accounting policies below. Historical cost
is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for assets.
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is
directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset
or a liability, the Group and the Company take into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if
market participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the
measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated financial
statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are within the
scope of FRS 2, leasing transactions that are within the scope of FRS 117, and measurements that have some
similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net realisable value in FRS 102 or value in use in FRS
136.
In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3
based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and the significance
of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:
•
•
•

Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
entity can access at the measurement date;
Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and
Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
Subsidiaries and Basis of Consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and of the
subsidiary companies controlled by the Company. Control is achieved where the Company:
•
•
•

has power over the investee;
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that
there are changes to one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it has power over the
investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
the investee unilaterally. The Company considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether
or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it power, including:
•
•
•
•

the size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the
other vote holders;
potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties;
rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the
current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time that decisions need to be made, including
voting patterns at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Yee Lee Corporation Bhd

084

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Subsidiaries and Basis of Consolidation (Cont’d)
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Company loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Company gains control until the date when the Company
ceases to control the subsidiary.
Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group’s accounting policies.
All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.
Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the noncontrolling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any
difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value of the
consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as
the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of
any retained interest and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of
the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the relevant
assets or liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of
equity as specified/permitted by applicable FRSs). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under FRS 139 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement or, when applicable, the
cost on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.
Business Combinations
Acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the acquisition method. The consideration transferred
in a business combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date
fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the
acquiree and equity instruments issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisitionrelated costs are recognised in profit or loss as incurred.
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Business Combinations (Cont’d)
At acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value,
except that:
•

•

•

deferred tax assets or liabilities and assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with FRS 112 Income Taxes and FRS 119 Employee Benefits
respectively;
liabilities or equity instruments related to the share-based payment arrangements of the acquire
or share-based payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-based payment
arrangements of the acquire are measured in accordance with FRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date; and
assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with FRS 5 Non-current
Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that Standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed. If, after reassessment, the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any noncontrolling interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a proportionate
share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially measured either at fair value or at
the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. The choice of measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of
non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, when applicable, on the basis specified in another
FRSs.
Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination includes assets or liabilities
resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent consideration is measured at
its acquisition-date fair value. Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments against
goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.
The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of contingent consideration that do not qualify as
measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or liability
is remeasured at subsequent reporting dates in accordance with FRS 139 or FRS 137 Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets, as appropriate, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Business Combinations (Cont’d)
Where a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously held equity interests in the
acquiree is remeasured to its acquisition date fair value and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have
previously been recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss, where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.
If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the end of the reporting period in
which the combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period (see
above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts
and circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have affected the amounts
recognised at that date.
The policy described above is applied to all business combinations that take place on or after January 1,
2011.
Revenue Recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. Revenue is reduced for
estimated customer returns, rebates and other similar allowances.
Sale of goods
Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the following conditions are satisfied:
•
•
•
•
•

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the goods;
the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership nor effective control over the goods sold;
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and
the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Sale of timber
Sale of timber is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership pass to the purchasers which is
generally when the land acres is harvested.
Rendering of services
Revenue from accommodation, entrance fee for tea garden tow and other tourism related services is
recognised when services are provided.
Dividend revenue
Dividend income represents gross dividends from quoted and unquoted investments and is recognised
when the shareholder’s rights to receive payment is established.
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Revenue Recognition (Cont’d)
Interest income
Interest revenue from a financial asset is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefits will
flow to the Group and the Company and the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest revenue
is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life
of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Rental income
Rental income is recognised on a straight line basis over the term of the relevant agreements.
Employee Benefits
Short-term employee benefits
Wages, salaries, bonuses and social security contributions are recognised in the year in which the associated
services are rendered by employees of the Group. Short-term accumulating compensated absences such
as paid annual leave are recognised when services rendered by employees that increase their entitlement
to future compensated absences. Short-term non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick leave
are recognised when the absences occur.
Defined contribution plans
The Group makes statutory contributions to approved provident funds and the contributions are charged
to profit or loss as incurred. The approved provident funds are defined contribution plans. Once the
contributions have been paid, there are no further payment obligations.
Share-based compensation benefits
The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan, where shares and/or options
are issued by the Company to eligible directors and executive employees of the Group and of the Company.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the shares and/or options
is recognised as an expense with a corresponding entry to reserves over the vesting period. The total
amount to be expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the shares
and/or options granted at the grant date and the number of shares and/or options vested by vesting date,
excluding the impact of any non-market vesting conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in
the estimates of the number of the options that are expected to become exercisable. The grant of options
by the Company over its equity instruments to the directors and employees of subsidiary undertakings in
the Group is treated as a capital contribution. The fair value of employee services received, measured by
reference to the grant date fair value, is recognised over the vesting period as an increase to investment in
subsidiary undertakings, with a corresponding credit to equity.
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Foreign Currencies
The individual financial statements of each group entity are presented in the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the
consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of each entity are expressed in Ringgit
Malaysia, which is the functional currency of the Company, and also the presentation currency for the
consolidated financial statements.
In preparing the financial statements of the individual entities, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of the entity (foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. At the end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that
are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.
Exchange differences are recognised in profit or loss in the year in which they arise except for exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value in respect of which gains
and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income. For such non-monetary items, the exchange
component of that gain or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income.
For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, assets and liabilities of the foreign
incorporated subsidiary of the Group are expressed in Ringgit Malaysia using exchange rates prevailing at
the end of each reporting period. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates
for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuated significantly during that year, in which case the exchange
rates at the dates of the transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the translation reserve of the Group. Such exchange differences
are reclassified to profit or loss in the year in which the foreign incorporated subsidiary is disposed of.
The closing rate per unit of Ringgit Malaysia used in the translation of functional currency of the subsidiary
company (foreign currency) is as follows:

												
2016
		Foreign currency				RM
		 Vietnamese Dong (“VND”)				

5,075.00

2015
RM
5,240.00

Borrowing Costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets,
which require a substantial period of time to get them ready for their intended use, are capitalised and
included as part of the cost of the related assets. Capitalisation of borrowing costs will cease when the
assets are ready for their intended use.
All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the year in which they are incurred.
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Government Grants
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.
Government grants related to income are recognised as income or as a deduction against the related
expenses in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable.
Government grants related to assets are deducted against the carrying amount of the assets.
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.
Current tax
The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit as reported
in statements of profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible
in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The liability of the Group
and of the Company for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.
Deferred tax
Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences, unused tax losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit.
The tax effects of unutilised reinvestment allowance are only recognised upon actual realisation.
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of
the asset to be recovered.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period in
which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the
end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Taxation (Cont’d)
Deferred tax (Cont’d)
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such properties are presumed
to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective is to
consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time, rather
than through sale. The directors of the Company reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolio and
concluded that none of the Group’s investment properties are held under a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time,
rather than through sale. Therefore, the directors have determined that the “sale” presumption set out in the
amendments to FRS 112 is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred taxes on changes
in fair values of investment properties based on the expected tax rate that would apply on disposal of the
investment properties.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Current and deferred tax for the year
Current and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in statements of profit or loss, except
when they relate to items that are recognised outside statements of profit or loss (whether in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity), in which case the tax is also recognised outside statements
of profit or loss, or where they arise from the initial accounting for a business combination. In the case of a
business combination, the tax effect is taken into account in calculating goodwill or determining the excess
of the interest of the acquirer in the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
over cost of the acquiree.
Earnings per Share
Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is calculated by dividing the consolidated profit or loss attributable to
owners of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.
Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the consolidated profit or loss attributable to owners of the Company
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding, adjusted for the effects of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares.
Property, Plant and Equipment
Land and buildings are stated in the statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being
the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent
accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the carrying
amounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the end of the
reporting period.
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Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)
Any revaluation increase arising from the revaluation of such land and buildings is credited to the property
revaluation reserve, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset previously
recognised in statements of profit or loss, in which case the increase is credited to statements of profit
or loss to the extent of the decrease previously expensed. A decrease in carrying amount arising from
the revaluation of such land and buildings are charged to statements of profit or loss to the extent that it
exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation of
that asset.
Depreciation on revalued buildings are charged to statements of profit or loss. On subsequent sale or
retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus remaining in the property revaluation
reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. No transfer is made from the revaluation reserve to
retained earnings except when the asset is derecognised.
Buildings, electricity and water supply system, plant and machinery, motor vehicles, furniture, fixtures
and equipment and renovations are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
Freehold land, plantation development expenditure and capital work-in-progress are not depreciated.
Capital work-in-progress comprises contractors’ payments and directly attributable costs incurred in
preparing these assets for their intended use. Depreciation on assets under construction commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.
Bearer plants are defined as living plants that are used in the production or supply of agriculture produce
and for which there is only a remote likelihood that the plant will also be sold as agriculture produce. Bearer
plants (before maturity) representing oil palm nursery and immature plantations are measured at cost which
consists of the costs incurred in the preparation of the nursery, purchase of seedlings and maintenance of
the oil palm plantation. A plantation is considered matured when it has reached 36 months of age or more
at the beginning of the financial year. No depreciation is computed for bearer plants (before maturity).
Bearer plants (after maturity) are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Bearer plants (after maturity) are depreciated over the estimated useful lives of the
bearer plants of 25 years.
Leasehold land is amortised over the lease period ranging from 32 to 99 years. Depreciation of other
property, plant and equipment is computed on the reducing balance method to write off the cost of the
various property, plant and equipment over their estimated useful lives at the following annual rates:
Buildings
Electricity and water supply system
Plant and machinery
Motor vehicles
Furniture, fixtures and equipment
Renovations

2% to 20%
10%
2% to 50%
10% to 20%
10% to 33%
10%

The estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment are reviewed at each
year end, with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for prospectively.
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Property, Plant and Equipment (Cont’d)
Assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful lives on the same basis as
owned assets. However, where there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be obtained by the end
of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful lives.
All direct expenses incurred for plantation development and attributable overheads, including depreciation
of property, plant and equipment which are principally used for newly planted areas and finance costs
on funds borrowed to finance newly planted areas are capitalised up to the maturity period as plantation
development expenditure. Subsequent replanting costs and all other expenditure incurred subsequent to
maturity are charged to the statements of profit or loss as and when incurred.
New planting costs are not amortised as the useful life of the plantation assets is effectively maintained
through a regular systematic programme of replanting which results in replanting costs in an accounting
period approximating the depreciation that would have been charged. Replanting costs are thus regarded
as substitutes for amortisation and are taken to represent the cost of a continuous rejuvenation process for
the plantation assets.
The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined
as the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in the
statements of profit or loss.
Property, Plant and Equipment Under Hire-Purchase Arrangements
Assets acquired under hire-purchase arrangements which transfer substantially all of the risks and rewards
incident to ownership of the assets are capitalised under property, plant and equipment. The assets and the
corresponding hire-purchase obligations are recorded at their fair values or, if lower, at the present value of
the minimum hire-purchase payments of the assets at the inception of the respective arrangements.
Finance costs, which represent the differences between the total hire-purchase commitments and the fair
values of the assets acquired, are charged to statements of profit or loss over the term of the relevant hirepurchase period so as to give a constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining balance of the obligations
for each accounting period.
Leases
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases, other than leasehold properties classified as investment
property, are classified as operating leases. Property interest held under an operating lease to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both is classified as investment property.
Assets held under finance leases are initially recognised as assets of the Group at their fair value at the
inception of the lease or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding
liability to the lessor is included in the statements of financial position as a finance lease obligation. Lease
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease obligation so as to achieve
a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. Finance charges are charged to the
statements of profit or loss, unless they are directly attributable to qualifying assets, in which case they are
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s general policy on borrowing costs.
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Leases (Cont’d)
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from
the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an
expense in the year in which they are incurred.
In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised
as a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straightline basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Investment Properties
Investment properties, which are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital appreciation, are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are
stated at fair value. Fair value is arrived by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties. Gain or loss arising from changes in the fair values of investment properties are included in
statements of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.
Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment
properties are permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its
disposal. Gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is determined as the difference
between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in statements of profit or
loss in the year in which the retirement or disposal arise.
Investments in Subsidiary Companies
Investments in subsidiary companies, which are eliminated on consolidation, are classified as availablefor-sale assets and are stated at fair value, with any resultant fair value changes recognised in equity under
investments revaluation reserve account, except for impairment losses. When these investments are
derecognised, the cumulative fair value gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is reclassified to
statements of profit or loss.
The fair values of the subsidiary companies are determined based on valuation technique as disclosed in
Note 14.
Investments in Associated Company
An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
an interest in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating
policy decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held for sale, in which
case it is accounted for in accordance with FRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates are carried in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost and adjusted for post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of the net assets
of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments. Losses of an associate in excess
of the Group’s interest in that associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance, form
part of the Group’s net investment in the associate) are recognised only to the extent that the Group has
incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Investments in Associated Company (Cont’d)
Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets,
liabilities and contingent liabilities of the associate recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised
as goodwill. The goodwill is included within the carrying amount of the investment and is assessed for
impairment as part of that investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
When a group entity transacts with an associate of the Group, profits and losses are eliminated to the extent
of the Group’s interest in the relevant associate.
Investment in associated company is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill
Goodwill acquired in a business combination is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the
excess of cost of business combination over the interest of the Group in the net fair values of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities recognised of the acquiree at the date of the combination.
Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or
changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the cash-generating units of the
Group expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. Cash-generating units to which goodwill
has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that
the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying
amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount
of each asset in the unit. Any impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and any impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not subsequently reversed.
On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the
determination of profit or loss on disposal.
Any excess of the interest of the Group in the net fair values of the acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities over cost of acquisition (previously known as negative goodwill) is reassessed and
is recognised immediately to statements of profit or loss.
The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an associate is described at Investments in
Associated Company policy above.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Non-Current Asset Held for Sale
Non-current asset and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered
principally through a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. This condition is regarded as met
only when the sale is highly probable and the asset (or disposal group) is available for immediate sale in its
present condition. Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for
recognition as a completed sale within one year from the date of classification.
Non-current asset and disposal groups classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.
Impairment of Assets excluding Goodwill
At the end of each reporting period, the Group and the Company review the carrying amounts of their assets
(other than inventories, financial assets and investment properties which are dealt with in their respective
policies) to determine if there is any indication that those assets may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated.
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group and the
Company estimate the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where
a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to
individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which
the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised
in the statements of profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease to the extent that the impairment loss does not exceed
the amount held in the asset revaluation reserve for the same asset. An impairment loss is reversed if there
has been a change in the estimate used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss is only reversed to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal is recognised immediately in the statements of
profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined principally on
the “First-in, First-out” and “Weighted Average” methods. Cost of trading merchandise, raw materials,
consumables, factory supplies, fertilisers and goods-in-transit comprise the original purchase price plus
cost incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. Cost of finished goods
and work-in-progress comprise the cost of raw materials, direct labour and a proportion of production
overheads. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less
selling and distribution costs and all other estimated costs to completion.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Research and Development Costs
Research costs relating to the original and planned investigation undertaken with the prospect of gaining
new technical knowledge and understanding, are recognised as an expense when incurred.
Development costs represent costs incurred in the application of research findings or other knowledge to a
plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved materials, devices, products, processes,
systems, or services prior to the commencement of commercial production or use. Development costs
are charged to statements of profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred except where a clearly-defined
project is undertaken and it is probable that the development costs will give rise to future economic benefits.
Such development costs are recognised as an intangible asset and amortised on a straight-line method
over the life of the project from the date of commencement of commercial operation.
Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group and the Company have a present obligation (legal or constructive)
as a result of past event and it is probable that the Group and the Company will be required to settle the
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.
The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from
a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.
Financial Instruments
Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when, and only when the Group
and the Company become a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instruments.
Where the purchase or sale of a financial asset is under a contract whose terms require delivery of the
financial asset within the timeframe established by the market concerned, such financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on trade date.
Financial instruments are initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs, except for those financial
assets and financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), which are initially
measured at fair value.
Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and
of allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period,
to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Income and expense is recognised on an effective interest basis for debt instruments other than those
financial assets and financial liabilities classified as at FVTPL.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
Effective interest method (Cont’d)
(a)

Financial assets
Financial assets of the Group and of the Company are classified into ‘available-for-sale’ (“AFS”)
financial assets and ‘loans and receivables’. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of
the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.
(i)

AFS financial assets
AFS financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated as available-for-sale or are not
classified as loans and receivables, held-to-maturity investments or financial assets at FVTPL. All
AFS assets are measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. Gains and losses arising
from changes in fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the investments revaluation reserve, with the exception of impairment losses, interest calculated
using the effective interest method, and foreign exchange gains and losses on monetary assets,
which are recognised in the statements of profit or loss. Where the investment is disposed of
or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the
investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to the statements of profit or loss.
Dividends on AFS equity instruments are recognised in the statements of profit or loss when the
Group’s right to receive the dividends is established.

(ii)

Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments
that are not quoted in an active market. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate, except for short-term receivables when the recognition of
interest would be immaterial.

(iii) Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets, other than those at FVTPL, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end
of each reporting period. Financial assets are considered to be impaired when there is objective
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been affected.
Objective evidence of impairment could include:
•
•
•
•

significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty; or
breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in interest or principal payments; or
it becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or financial re-organisation;
or
the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
Effective interest method (Cont’d)
(a)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
(iii) Impairment of financial assets (Cont’d)
For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade receivables, assets that are assessed not to
be impaired individually are, in addition, assessed for impairment on a collective basis. Objective
evidence of impairment for a portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past experience
of collecting payments, an increase in the number of delayed payments in the portfolio past the
average credit period, as well as observable changes in national or local economic conditions
that correlate with default on receivables.
AFS investments are considered to be impaired when there is objective evidence that, as a result
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the AFS investments, the
estimated future cash flows of the investments have been affected. For unlisted equity investments
classified as AFS, a significant or prolonged decline in the fair value of the investments below
their costs is considered to be objective evidence of impairment. When an AFS investment is
considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in investments
revaluation reserve are reclassified to the statements of profit or loss even though the investment
has not been derecognised. Impairment losses of AFS investments previously recognised in the
statements of profit or loss are not reversed through the statements of profit or loss. Any increase
in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in investments revaluation reserve.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate.
The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all
financial assets with the exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced
through the use of an allowance account. When a trade receivable is considered uncollectible,
it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously
written off are debited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of the
allowance account are recognised in the statements of profit or loss.
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can
be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is reversed through the statements of profit or loss to the extent
that the carrying amount of the financial assets at the date the impairment is reversed does not
exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been recognised.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
Effective interest method (Cont’d)
(a)

Financial assets (Cont’d)
(iv) Derecognition of financial assets
The Group and the Company derecognise a financial asset only when the contractual rights to
the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group and the Company
neither transfer nor retain substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and continues
to control the transferred asset, the Group and the Company recognise their retained interest
in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group and the
Company retain substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial
asset, the Group and the Company continue to recognise the financial asset and also recognise
a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.
On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the difference between the asset’s carrying
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable and the cumulative gain or
loss that had been recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity is
recognised in statements of profit or loss.

(b)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
(i)

Classification as debt or equity
Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the definition of a financial liability and
an equity instrument.

(ii)

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Group and the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

(iii) Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities of the Group and of the Company, including borrowings, are classified into
“other financial liabilities” category, and are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.
Other financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, with interest expense recognised on an effective yield basis.
(iv) Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Group and the Company derecognise financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s
and the Company’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or they expire. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid or payable
is recognised in statements of profit or loss.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
Effective interest method (Cont’d)
(c)

Derivative financial instruments
The Group enters into foreign exchange forward contracts to manage its exposure to foreign exchange
rate risk.
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The resulting gain
or loss is recognised in statement of profit or loss immediately unless the derivative is designated and
effective as a hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in statements of profit
or loss depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.
A derivative with a positive fair value is recognised as a financial asset; a derivative with a negative
fair value is recognised as a financial liability. A derivative is presented as a non-current asset or a
non-current liability if the remaining maturity of the instrument is more than 12 months and it is not
expected to be realised or settled within 12 months. Other derivatives are presented as current assets
or current liabilities.

Statements of Cash Flows
The Group and the Company adopt the indirect method in the preparation of the statements of cash flows.
Cash and cash equivalents consists of cash and bank balances, deposits with licensed banks, bank overdrafts
and highly liquid investments which are readily convertible to cash with insignificant risks of changes in
value. For the purpose of the statements of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents are presented net of bank
overdrafts.

4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the accounting policies of the Group and of the Company, the directors are required
to make estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.
In the process of applying accounting policies of the Group and of the Company, the directors are of the
opinion that there are no instances of application of judgement which are expected to have a significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period,
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT’D)
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below:
(a)

Impairment of Goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually in accordance with its accounting policy. More
regular reviews are performed if events indicate that this is necessary.
For the purpose of assessing impairment, goodwill is allocated to CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on a financial forecast, approved by the management covering a
period of five years. The terminal value is calculated based on the projected terminal growth of the
CGUs at the end of the fifth year.
The key assumptions for value-in-use include the management’s expectation of revenue growth and
operating costs, drawing from past experience and current assessment of the market and industry
growth as well as the maximum capacity available.

(b)

Fair Value Estimation on Investments in Subsidiary Companies
The Company holds unquoted shares in subsidiary companies that are not traded in an active market.
The Company used the Free Cash Flow to Equity valuation technique by forecasting free cash flow
to equity for financial years 2017 to 2021 and discounting these cash flows back to the present at an
appropriate required rate of return. The assumptions to the discounted cash flow analysis incorporate
observable business conditions and other factors that are likely to affect the subsidiary companies as
mentioned in Note 14.

(c)

Impairment of Property, Plant and Equipment
The Group assesses impairment of assets whenever the events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, i.e. the carrying amount of the asset is
more than the recoverable amount.
Where there are signs of impairment in the value of the Group’s property, plant and equipment, a review
of recoverable amounts is performed. The recoverable amount is determined based on value-in-use
calculations. These calculations use cash flow projections based on a financial forecast, approved
by the management covering a period of five years. The terminal value is calculated based on the
projected residual value of the CGUs at the end of the fifth year.
The key assumptions for value-in-use include the management’s expectation of revenue growth and
operating costs, drawing from past experience and current assessment of the market and industry
growth as well as the maximum capacity available.
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4.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (CONT’D)
(d)

Write Down of Inventories
The Group writes down inventories based on an assessment of the recoverability of the inventories
through sales and recycling for alternative uses. Write downs are applied to inventories where events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the costs may not be recoverable.
The identification of inventories to be written down requires use of judgement and estimates.
Where the expectation is different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of the inventories and inventory write down expenses in the period in which such estimate has
been changed.

(e)

Recoverability of Receivables
The Group makes allowance for doubtful receivables based on an assessment of the recoverability
of trade and other receivables. An allowance is established for trade or other receivable when there
is objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the
original terms of transactions. The identification of doubtful receivables requires use of judgement
and estimates with reference to the ageing profile and collection patterns. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying value of the trade and
other receivables and doubtful receivables expenses in the period in which such estimate has been
changed.

(f)

Income Taxes
The Group is subject to income taxes of numerous jurisdictions. Judgement is required in determining
the capital allowances and deductibility of certain expenses during the estimation of the provision for
income taxes. There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination
is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax
and deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(g)

Deferred Tax Assets
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary differences can be utilised. This involves judgement regarding
the future financial performance of the particular entity in which the deferred tax asset has been
recognised.

(h)

Deferred Tax on Investment Properties
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors have reviewed the Group’s
investment property portfolio and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are not being
held under a business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits
embodied in the investment properties over time, rather than through sale. Therefore, in determining
the Groups’ deferred tax on investment properties, the directors have determined that the presumption
that the carrying amounts of the investment properties measured using the fair value model are
recovered entirely through sale is not rebutted. As a result, the Group has recognised deferred taxes on
changes in fair value investment properties based on the expected rate that would apply on disposal of
the investment properties.
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5.

REVENUE

			
										
										

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Sale of goods			
		 Tourism related services		
		Dividend income:
			 Subsidiary companies		
			 Associated company		
										

1,055,291
2,519

797,324
1,884

-

-

-

-

7,810
3,016
10,826

5,170
2,364
7,534

										

1,057,810

799,208

10,826

7,534

6.

SEGMENT REPORTING
An operating segment is a component of the Group that engages in business activities from which it may
earn revenue and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of
the Group’s other components. Operating segment results are reviewed regularly by the chief operating
decision maker and senior management of the Group, to make decisions about resources to be allocated
to the segment and to assess its performance, and for which discrete financial information is available.
The Group has four reportable segments, which are the Group’s strategic business units. The strategic
business units offer different products and services and are managed separately as they require different
technology and marketing strategies. The chief operating decision maker and senior management reviews
the management reports of each of the strategic units on a monthly basis.
Segments comprise:
Segment

Products and services

Manufacturing

Cooking oils, margarine, shortening, corrugated paper cartons, crude palm oil, kernel
and general line tin cans

Trading

Edible oils and other consumer products

Plantation

Tea and palm oil

Others

Tourism related services and investment holding

For financial statements presentation purposes, these individual operating segments have been aggregated
into a single operating segment taking into account the following factors:
-

the production of merchandise of the products are similar; and

-

the methods used to distribute the products to the customers are the same.
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SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

		The Group					
		 2016 					
Note

Manufacturing
RM’000

Trading
RM’000

Plantation
RM’000

Others
RM’000

		Revenue
		External sales				
		 Inter-segment sales		

271,583
260,511

783,683
49,822

25
6,146

2,519
10,898

(327,377)

1,057,810
-

		Total revenue				

532,094

833,505

6,171

13,417

(327,377)

1,057,810

31,097

23,483

(682)

13,092

(13,732)

53,258

		Results
		 Segment results 		

Eliminations
RM’000

Consolidated
RM’000

		Finance costs			
9						
		 Share of profit of an
			associated company 15						
		 Investment revenue
7						

(6,154)

		 Profit before tax								
		Tax expense			
10						

56,506
(12,019)

		 Profit for the year							

44,487

8,054
1,348
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

		The Group					
		 2016 						

		Other information
		 Capital additions		
		 Unrealised gain on
			 foreign exchange		
		 Reversal of impairment
			losses recognised
			 on receivables
		 Gain on disposal of
			property, plant
			 and equipment 		
		 Waiver of debts 		
		Depreciation 				
		 Inventories written off		
		 Realised loss on
			 foreign exchange		
		 Bad debts written off		
		Property, plant
			and equipment
			written off				
		Impairment losses
			recognised on
			 receivables 			
		Inventories write
			 down - net 			
		Preliminary expenses
			 written off				

Manufacturing
RM’000

Trading
RM’000

Plantation
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations
RM’000

Consolidated
RM’000

7,914

8,685

5,130

187

-

21,916

1,030

-

-

-

-

1,030

-

95

-

-

-

95

20
(8,019)
-

34
13
(3,323)
(1,600)

27
(1,833)
-

(112)
-

-

81
13
(13,287)
(1,600)

(385)
(21)

(305)

-

-

-

(385)
(326)

(15)

(62)

(21)

-

-

(98)

-

(57)

-

-

-

(57)

(2)

-

-

-

-

(2)

-

-

-

(2)

-

(2)

		Consolidated Statement
			of Financial Position
		Assets
		Segment assets			
435,926 357,060
162,074
584,011
(713,893)
		 Investment in an associated
			company									
		 Unallocated corporate assets						

825,178

		 Consolidated total assets							

934,556

		Liabilities
68,402 168,905
18,941
31,313
(119,807)
		Segment liabilities		
		 Unallocated corporate liabilities						

167,754
189,158

		 Consolidated total liabilities						

356,912

107,816
1,562
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

		The Group					 Manufacturing
		 2015 					
Note
RM’000

Trading
RM’000

Plantation
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations
RM’000

Consolidated
RM’000

		Revenue
		External sales				
		 Inter-segment sales		

235,763
241,664

561,540
20,941

21
4,885

1,884
7,552

(275,042)

799,208
-

		Total revenue				

477,427

582,481

4,906

9,436

(275,042)

799,208

25,626

13,193

18

7,778

(7,330)

39,285

		Results
		 Segment results 		
		Finance costs			
		 Share of profit of an
			associated company
		 Investment revenue

9						

(6,030)

15						
7						

7,299
931

		 Profit before tax								
		Tax expense			
10						

41,485
(9,573)

		 Profit for the year							

31,912
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)

		The Group					 Manufacturing
		 2015 						
RM’000

		Other information
		Revaluation increase
			on property, plant
			 and equipment 		
		Capital additions		
		Depreciation 				
		 Realised gain/(loss) on
			 foreign exchange		
		 Unrealised gain on
			 foreign exchange		
		 Changes in fair value of
			 investment properties		
		 Reversal of impairment losses
			 recognised on receivables
		 Gain on disposal of non			 current asset held for sale
		 (Loss)/Gain on disposal of
			property, plant and
			 equipment - net 		
		 Inventories written off		
		 Impairment loss recognised
			on property, plant
			 and equipment		
		 Bad debts written off		
		 Property, plant and
			 equipment written off		
		 Impairment losses recognised
			 on receivables 		
		 Inventories write down - net

Trading
RM’000

Plantation
RM’000

Others
RM’000

Eliminations
RM’000

Consolidated
RM’000

25,411
7,777
7,716

37,525
5,218
3,013

92,233
1,199
1,037

24
108

(121)
-

155,169
14,097
11,874

3,368

(172)

-

-

-

3,196

672

-

-

-

123

795

110

470

-

(10)

-

570

16

280

-

-

-

296

-

228

-

-

-

228

(23)
(805)

45
(1,539)

-

-

-

22
(2,344)

(105)
-

(1,213)
(444)

-

-

-

(1,318)
(444)

(132)

(258)

(9)

-

-

(399)

(6)
(5)

(142)
-

-

-

-

(148)
(5)

		Consolidated Statement
			of Financial Position
		Assets
		Segment assets			
395,644
307,421
157,693
518,773
(614,049)
		 Investment in an associated
			company									
		 Unallocated corporate assets						

765,482

		 Consolidated total assets							

841,190

		Liabilities
		Segment liabilities		
56,656 138,964
18,341
22,453
(100,818)
		 Unallocated corporate liabilities						

135,596
182,482

		 Consolidated total liabilities						

318,078

74,684
1,024
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6.

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONT’D)
Geographical segments
The analysis of the carrying amounts of segment assets by geographical segment has not been provided as
the segment assets of the Group located outside Malaysia is less than 10% of its total segment assets.
The capital additions of the Group by geographical segment is as follows:

												
											

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

		Malaysia							
		Vietnam 							

20,500
1,416

12,879
1,218

												

21,916

14,097

The analysis of the segment revenue of the Group from external customers by geographical area based on
the geographical location of its customers has not been provided as the export sales of the Group is less
than 10% of its total revenue.

7.

INVESTMENT REVENUE

				
												
											

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Interest income from fixed and short-term deposits			
		 Rental income from investment properties				
		 Dividend income from quoted shares				

1,096
251
1

701
229
1

												

1,348

931

The following is an analysis of investment revenue by category of assets:
				
												
											

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Investment revenue for financial assets not designated as at fair value
			 through profit or loss				
		 Investment revenue earned on non-financial assets 			
		 Dividend income earned on available-for-sale financial assets 		

1,096
251
1

701
229
1

												

1,348

931
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8.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, TRADING
MERCHANDISE AND WORK-IN-PROGRESS, OTHER EXPENSES, RAW MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES
USED AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE
Included in other gains and losses and other expenses are the following:

			
										
									
		 Unrealised gain on foreign exchange 		
		Rental income:
			 Premises				
			 Motor vehicles 		
		 Reversal of impairment losses recognised
			 on receivables		
		 Gain on disposal of property, plant and
			 equipment - net		
		 Waiver of debts			
		 Bad debts recovered		
		Directors’ remuneration:
			 Directors of the Company:
				Fees					
				Other emoluments		
			 Directors of the
				subsidiary companies:
					Fees				
					 Other emoluments		
		Rental expense:
			 Premises 				
			 Factory equipment 		
		 Inventories written off		
		 Hire of machinery		
		Auditors’ remuneration:
			 Statutory audit:
				Current year		
				 Prior year			
			 Non-audit services 		
		 Realised (loss)/gain on foreign exchange - net
		 Bad debts written off		
		 Property, plant and equipment written off		
		 Impairment losses recognised on receivables
		 Research and development expenses		
		 Inventories written down - net 		
		 Preliminary expenses written off		
		 Lease rental				
		 Impairment loss recognised on property,
			 plant and equipment		
		 Changes in fair value of investment properties
		 Gain on disposal of non-current asset
			 held for sale 		

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

1,030

795

-

-

106
7

61
8

-

-

95

296

-

-

81
13
8

22
3

-

-

(318)
(4,083)

(212)
(3,187)

(196)
(144)

(162)
(39)

(114)
(2,997)

(50)
(2,398)

-

-

(2,278)
(169)
(1,600)
(493)

(1,547)
(119)
(2,344)
(433)

-

-

(435)
(9)
(12)
(385)
(326)
(98)
(57)
(29)
(2)
(2)
(1)

(406)
11
(3)
3,196
(444)
(399)
(148)
(26)
(5)
(1)

(80)
-

(70)
-

-

(1,318)
570

-

-

-

228

-

-
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8.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, CHANGES IN INVENTORIES OF FINISHED GOODS, TRADING
MERCHANDISE AND WORK-IN-PROGRESS, OTHER EXPENSES, RAW MATERIALS AND CONSUMABLES
USED AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS EXPENSE (CONT’D)
Included in raw materials and consumables used and other expenses are subsidies received and receivable
from the Government by a subsidiary company under the Cooking Oil Price Stabilization Scheme and
Cooking Oil Price Standardization Scheme amounting to RM32,312,877 (2015: RM24,954,195) and
RM1,609,059 (2015: RM2,038,484) respectively.
Other gains include net income from sale of timber amounting to RM609,440 (2015: RM1,396,000) from a
subsidiary from its land clearing activities during the financial year.
Included in employee benefits expense and directors’ remuneration are the following:

			
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Contributions to EPF:
			 Employee benefits expense		
			 Directors’ remuneration		

6,472
494

5,377
409

-

-

		 Rental of hostel:
			 Employee benefits expense		

140

130

-

-

		 Equity-settled share-based payments:
			 Employee benefits expense		
			 Directors’ remuneration		

-

910
419

-

64

The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind received and receivable by the directors otherwise than
in cash from the Group amounted to RM136,262 (2015: RM140,636).

9.

FINANCE COSTS

			
										
									
		Interest on:
			 Bankers’ acceptances		
			 Term loans			
			 Revolving credits		
			 Bank overdrafts		
			 Hire-purchase		
		 Bank charges and commitment fees		

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

3,883
697
662
278
229
463

3,323
813
684
316
218
676

45
11

46
11

										
		 Less: Term loan interest capitalised under
				plantation development
					 expenditure (Note 12)		

6,212

6,030

56

57

(58)

-

-

-

										

6,154

6,030

56

57
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10. TAX EXPENSE
			
										
									
		Income tax:
			 Current year:
				 Malaysian 			
				Foreign				
										
			Prior year:
				 Malaysian 			
				 Foreign				
										

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

13,125
255
13,380

9,862
647
10,509

-

-

(355)
(486)
(841)

(17)
(17)

-

-

										
		 Deferred tax (Note 27):
			 Relating to origination and reversal of
				 temporary differences		
			 Relating to crystallisation of deferred
				 tax liability on revaluation surplus
				 of land and buildings and investment
				properties 		
			 Prior years			
										
		 Real Property Gains Tax

12,539

10,492

-

-

127

(165)

-

-

(564)
(83)
(520)
-

(322)
(463)
(950)
31

-

-

										

12,019

9,573

-

-

The Group’s and the Company’s income tax rate is at 24% for the year of assessment 2016 (2015: 25%)
except for its foreign subsidiary company.
The Budget 2017 announced on October 21, 2016 reduced the corporate income tax rate from 24% to rates
below based on the percentage of increase in chargeable income as compared to the immediate preceding
year of assessment:
Percentage of increase in
chargeable income as
Percentage point
compared to the immediate
of reduction in
preceding year of assessment
income tax rate
			
Less than 5%
5% - 9.99%
10% - 14.99%
15% - 19.99%
20% and above

Nil
1
2
3
4

Reduced income
tax rate on increase
in chargeable income
%
24
23
22
21
20

The above changes are effective for years of assessment 2017 and 2018. Following this, the applicable tax
rates to be used for the measurement of any applicable deferred tax will be at the expected rates.
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10. TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)
The total tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the accounting profit as follows:
			
										
									
		 Profit before tax		
		 Tax at the applicable statutory income tax
			 rate of 24% (2015: 25%)		
		 Tax effects of:
			 Expenses that are not deductible in
				determining taxable profit		
			 Loss not available for offset against
				 future taxable profit 		
			 Share of profit of an associated company
			 Income that is not taxable in determining
				taxable profit		
			 Effect of difference in tax rate of a
				 subsidiary operating in other jurisdiction
			 Allowance for increase in export sales		
			 Revenue expenses capitalised		
			 Expenses eligible for double deduction		
		Prior years:
			 Income tax 			
			 Deferred tax			
		 Real Property Gains Tax		
		 Tax expense recognised in statements
			 of profit or loss 		

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

56,506

41,485

10,122

6,969

13,561

10,371

2,430

1,743

3,504

2,445

169

141

48
(1,933)

6
(1,825)

-

-

(1,422)

(805)

(2,599)

(1,884)

(763)
(27)
(15)
(10)

(154)
(1)
(15)

-

-

(841)
(83)
-

(17)
(463)
31

-

-

12,019

9,573

-

-

As of December 31, 2016, the Company has tax-exempt accounts balances of approximately RM37,216,590
(2015: RM37,216,590). The tax-exempt accounts arose from claims for abatement of statutory income for
exports under Section 37(1) of the Promotion of Investment Act, 1986, reinvestment allowances claimed
and utilised under Schedule 7A of the Income Tax Act, 1967 and chargeable income waived in 1999 in
accordance with the Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 1999. The tax-exempt accounts are available for
distribution as tax-exempt dividends to the shareholders of the Company.
As of December 31, 2016, certain subsidiary companies have tax-exempt accounts balances of approximately
RM8,696,905 (2015: RM8,696,905). The tax-exempt accounts arose from abatement of statutory income
for exports under Section 37(1) of the Promotion of Investment Act, 1986, reinvestment allowances claimed
and utilised under Schedule 7A of the Income Tax Act, 1967 and chargeable income waived in 1999 in
accordance with the Income Tax (Amendment) Act, 1999. The tax-exempt accounts are available for
distribution as tax-exempt dividends to the shareholder of the subsidiary companies.
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10. TAX EXPENSE (CONT’D)
Current tax assets and liabilities
		The Group						
											

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

1,532

1,000

2,689

3,599

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

311

311

		Current tax assets
		 Tax refund receivable				
		Current tax liabilities
		 Income tax payable 				
		The Company					
											
		Current tax assets
		 Tax refund receivable				

11. EARNINGS PER ORDINARY SHARE
The basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated as follows:
				
												

The Group
2016
2015

		Basic
		 Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (RM’000)		

44,487

31,912

		 Number of ordinary shares in issue as of January 1 (’000)			
		 Effect of exercise of ESOS (’000)				

183,935
3,127

180,647
1,583

		 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000)			

187,062

182,230

		 Basic earnings per ordinary share (sen)				

23.78

17.52

		 Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company (RM’000)		

44,487

31,912

		 Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (’000)			
		 Effect of exercise of ESOS (’000)				

187,062
1,164

182,230
2,446

		 Adjusted weighted average number of ordinary shares for calculating
			 fully diluted earnings per ordinary share (’000)			

188,226

184,676

		 Diluted earnings per ordinary share (sen)				

23.63

17.28

		Diluted

Total

Freehold land:
		 At valuation
		 At cost
Long-term leasehold
		 land and improvements:
At valuation
Short-term leasehold land
		 and improvements:
		 At valuation
Buildings:
At valuation
		 At cost
Electricity and water
		 supply system
Plant and machinery
Plant and machinery
		 under hire-purchase
Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles under
		 hire-purchase
Furniture, fixtures
		 and equipment
Plantation development
		 expenditure
Renovations
Capital work-in-progress

2016

The Group

			
			

1,500
-

20,960

84,355
-

1,028
133,118

5,106
14,583

8,681

17,415

9,079
2,943
805
1,500

-

109,119

532,442

-

RM’000

21,916

494
692
9,814

1,132

1,612

1,467

1
4,035

372

-

-

2,297

RM’000

(1,585)

-

(9)

-

(1,576)

-

-

-

-

-

RM’000

(663)

(18)
-

(46)

(87)

(317)

(195)

-

-

-

-

RM’000

investment 				
properties
Additions
Disposals
Written off

Cost except as otherwise stated
Transfer from				

125,250
-

RM’000

beginning
of year

At

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Currency

839

-

11

-

31

384

238
-

175

-

-

RM’000

-

(787)
-

-

(3,552)

(2,111)
3,552

2,111

787

-

-

-

RM’000

translation 		
reserve
Reclassification

554,449

9,555
2,848
10,619

18,503

6,654

2,995
17,740

1,029
139,453

84,593
2,659

21,135

109,119

125,250
2,297

RM’000

At end
of year
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Total

Freehold land:
		 At valuation
		 At cost
Long-term leasehold
		 land and
		improvements:
		 At valuation
Short-term leasehold
		 land and
		improvements:
At valuation
Buildings:
		 At valuation
At cost
Electricity and water
		 supply system
Plant and machinery
Plant and machinery
		 under hire-purchase
Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles under
		 hire-purchase
Furniture, fixtures
		 and equipment
Plantation development
		 expenditure
Renovations
Capital work-in-progress

2016

				
				
The Group

Accumulated depreciation

594
1,878
53
77
5,155
278
1,338
961
1,039
181
-

-

-

330
88,470

1,278
11,307

2,705

8,187

982
13,303

1,749

-

113,259

-

RM’000

-

RM’000

(1,306)

-

(2)

-

(1,304)

-

-

-

-

-

RM’000

(565)

-

(31)

(38)

(309)

(187)

-

-

-

-

RM’000

353

-

11

-

24

276

21
-

21

-

-

RM’000

1,163
-

9,204

2,047

761
12,637

407
94,509

1,899
53

615

1,749

-

RM’000

- 125,044

-

-

(1,581)

(795)
1,581

795

-

-

-

-

RM’000

41

-

-

-

-

41

-

-

-

-

RM’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

RM’000

Additions/
(Write back)

41

-

-

-

-

41

-

-

-

-

RM’000

At end
of year

Accumulated impairment loss

At 				
Currency			
At
beginning Charge for			 translation		
At end beginning
of year
the year Disposals Written off
reserve Reclassification
of year
of year
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Total

Freehold land:
		 At valuation
		 At cost
Long-term leasehold
		 land and improvements:
		 At valuation
Short-term leasehold
		 land and improvements:
		 At valuation
		 At cost
Buildings:
		 At valuation
		 At cost
Electricity and water
		 supply system
Plant and machinery
Plant and machinery
		 under hire-purchase
Motor vehicles
Motor vehicles under
		 hire-purchase
Furniture, fixtures
		 and equipment
Plantation development
		 expenditure
Renovations
Capital work-in-progress

2015

			
			
The Group

1,769
2
3,169
1,119
868
2,903
2,636
283
676
672

13,335
4,621

53,027
33,146

1,026
128,005

4,167
15,348

6,133

15,701

8,805
2,267
1,121
14,097

-

49,099

381,106

-

RM’000

39,634
5,671

RM’000

(2,067)

-

(22)

-

(1,762)

(283)

-

-

-

-

RM’000

(1,317)

(9)
-

(945)

(247)

(81)

(35)

-

-

-

-

RM’000

1,769

-

45

-

102

1,622

-

-

-

-

RM’000

-

(988)

-

(108)

(180)
108

640

32,327
(31,799)

4,621
(4,621)

-

5,671
(5,671)

RM’000

Currency		
translation 		
reserve
Reclassification

Cost except as otherwise stated

At 				
beginning				
of year
Additions
Disposals
Written off

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

138,854

-

-

-

-

-

(2,768)
(1,347)

3,004
-

60,020

79,945
-

RM’000

Revaluation
Increase/
(Decrease)

532,442

9,079
2,943
805

17,415

8,681

5,106
14,583

1,028
133,118

84,355
-

20,960
-

109,119

125,250
-

RM’000

At end
of year
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Total 		

Accumulated depreciation

Accumulated impairment loss

RM’000

119,192

-

-

(269)
(1,291)
(8)

(1,568)

714

364
110

791
1,107

86
5,204

233
1,042

1,092

966

165
-

11,874

(918)

-

(790)

(89)

(7)

(32)

-

-

-

-

RM’000 RM’000

-

RM’000

994

-

26

-

69

899

-

-

-

-

RM’000

-

39
-

(155)

(53)

(82)
(87)

82

3,235
(2,979)

368
(368)

-

-

RM’000

982
-

8,187

2,705

1,278
11,307

330
88,470

-

-

-

-

RM’000

(16,315) 113,259

-

-

-

-

-

(9,174)
(306)

(2,547)
-

(4,288)

-

RM’000

41

-

-

-

-

41

-

-

-

-

RM’000

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

41

-

-

-

-

41

-

-

-

-

RM’000 RM’000

At 				 Currency
			
At
beginning Charge for		 Written translation		 Eliminated on
At end beginning Additions/
At end
of year
the year Disposals
off
reserve Reclassification revaluation of year
of year (Write back) of year

Freehold land:
		 At valuation
		 At cost
Long-term leasehold
		 land and
		improvements:
		 At valuation
3,574
Short-term leasehold
		 land and
		improvements:
		 At valuation
1,815
		 At cost
258
Buildings:
		 At valuation
5,148
At cost
2,178
Electricity and water
		 supply system
244
Plant and machinery
82,586
Plant and machinery
		 under hire-purchase
1,127
Motor vehicles
11,581
Motor vehicles under
		 hire-purchase
1,755
Furniture, fixtures
		 and equipment
8,148
Plantation
		development
		 expenditure
Renovations
778
Capital work-in-progress
-

2015		

					
					
The Group
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)
				
												
		The Group						
		Freehold land:
			 At valuation					
			At cost							
		 Long-term leasehold land and improvements:
			 At valuation					
		 Short-term leasehold land and improvements:
			 At valuation					
		Buildings:
			 At valuation					
			At cost							
		 Electricity and water supply system				
		 Plant and machinery				
		 Plant and machinery under hire-purchase				
		Motor vehicles					
		 Motor vehicles under hire-purchase				
		 Furniture, fixtures and equipment 				
		 Plantation development expenditure				
		Renovations 						
		Capital work-in-progress				
		Total									

Carrying amounts
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000
125,250
2,297

125,250
-

107,370

109,119

20,520

20,960

82,694
2,606
622
44,903
2,234
5,103
4,607
9,299
9,555
1,685
10,619

84,355
698
44,607
3,828
3,276
5,976
9,228
9,079
1,961
805

429,364

419,142

Included in plantation development expenditure and capital work-in-progress are the following current
year’s expenditure:
												
		The Group						

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

58
17

-

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

		 Statements of profit or loss 				
		 Plantation development expenditure				

13,287
16

11,874
-

												

13,303

11,874

		 Term loan interest (Note 9)				
		 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment			
During the financial year, depreciation expense is charged to the following:
												
		The Group						
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)
In 2015, the freehold land, leasehold land and improvements and buildings of the subsidiary companies
were revalued by the directors based on valuations carried out by independent qualified valuers, who have
the appropriate qualification and recent experience in the fair value measurement of properties in the
relevant location.
The fair values of freehold and leasehold land were determined based on the market comparable approach
that reflects recent transaction prices for similar properties. The fair value of buildings was determined using
the cost approach that reflects the cost to a market participant to construct assets of comparable utility
and age, adjusted for obsolescence. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use
of the properties is their current use. The significant inputs include the estimated construction costs and
other ancillary expenditure of approximately RM82,235,000 and depreciation factors ranging from 2% to
10% applied to the estimated construction costs. A slight increase in the depreciation factor would result in
a significant decrease in the fair value of the buildings, and a slight increase in the estimated construction
costs would result in a significant increase in the fair value of the buildings.
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:
				
				
				
				
				
												
												

Fair value
measurements
significant
unobservable
inputs (Level 3)
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 At beginning of year				
		 Currency translation reserve				
		 Revaluation loss included in:
			 Profit or loss					
			 Other comprehensive income				
		Purchases 						
		 Addition to Level 3 since the last valuation in 2009			
		 Transfer out of Level 3				

82,235
238

52,537
-

-

(1,318)
(2,062)
1,769
31,799
(490)

		 At end of year					

82,473

82,235

Details of the Group’s land and buildings and information about the fair value hierarchy as of December 31,
2016 and 2015 are as follows:
		
		 The Group					
		2016							

Level 1
RM’000

Fair Value
Level 2
RM’000

Level 3
RM’000

		 Freehold land				
		 Long-term leasehold land			
		 Short-term leasehold land
		
		Buildings 					

-

125,250
109,119
21,135
2,120

82,473

											

-

257,624

82,473
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12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)
		
		 The Group					
		2015							

Level 1
RM’000

Fair Value
Level 2
RM’000

Level 3
RM’000

		 Freehold land 			
		 Long-term leasehold land			
		 Short-term leasehold land			
		Buildings 					

-

125,250
109,119
20,960
2,120

82,235

											

-

257,449

82,235

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.
The carrying amounts of the revalued assets that would have been included in the financial statements had
the assets been carried at cost less accumulated depreciation have not been disclosed due to the absence
of historical records.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

-

1,760
3,730

8,310

		 As of December 31,
			2016					

-

980

1,650
3,550

7,740

		 As of December 31,
			2015					
-

-

1,560

		 At fair value:
			 Freehold land		
			Long-term
				leasehold land
			Short-term
				leasehold land
				 Buildings		

		The Group
		2015

-

1,090

-

-

1,730

		 At fair value:
			 Freehold land		
			Long-term
				 leasehold land
			Short-term
				leasehold land
				Buildings		

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(1,500)

(1,500)

-

-

570

110
180

110

170

-

-

-

-

Cost except as otherwise stated
													
Transfers to
													
property,
									
At beginning				
plant and
Changes in
		 The Group			
of year
Additions
Disposals
equipment
fair value
		2016						
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000
RM’000

13.

-

-

-

-

-

(200)
200

-

-

Reclassification
RM’000

8,310

1,760
3,730

1,090

1,730

6,810

1,560
2,430

1,090

1,730

At end
of year
RM’000
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13. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT’D)
In 2015, the freehold land, leasehold land and buildings of the subsidiary companies were revalued by
the directors based on valuations carried out by independent qualified valuers, who have the appropriate
qualification and recent experience in the fair value measurement of properties in the relevant location.
The fair values of the investment properties were determined based on the market comparable approach
that reflects recent transacted prices for similar properties. In estimating the fair value of the properties, the
highest and best use of the properties is their current use.
As of December 31, 2016, there were no contractual obligations of the Group for future repairs and
maintenance (2015: Nil).
During the financial year ended December 31, 2016, direct operating expenses incurred relating to the
investment properties of the Group amounted to RM11,856 (2015: RM12,067).
Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the fair value hierarchy as of December
31, 2016 and 2015 are as follows:
		
		 The Group					
		2016							

Level 1
RM’000

Fair Value
Level 2
RM’000

Level 3
RM’000

		 Freehold land 			
		 Long-term leasehold land			
		 Short-term leasehold land			
		Buildings 						

-

1,730
1,090
1,560
2,430

-

										

-

6,810

-

		 Freehold land				
		 Long-term leasehold land			
		 Short-term leasehold land			
		Buildings 						

-

1,730
1,090
1,760
3,730

-

											

-

8,310

-

		The Group
		2015

There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 during the year.
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
												
		The Company					

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

		 Unquoted shares - available-for-sale:
			 At beginning of year 				
			 Movements during the year 				
			 Fair value adjustment				

394,810
(16)
64,668

245,254
1,265
148,291

			 At end of year				

459,462

394,810

Movements during the year related to net share options (lapsed)/granted to the directors and executive
employees of the subsidiary companies.
The fair values of the investments in subsidiary companies are determined using valuation technique as
there is currently no active market for the equity shares of the subsidiary companies, all of which are not
listed. Management has adopted the Free Cash Flow to Equity valuation technique by forecasting free cash
flow to equity and discounting these cash flows back to the present at an appropriate required rate of
return. The assumptions to the discounted cash flow analysis incorporate observable business conditions
and other factors that are likely to affect the subsidiary companies as follows:
•
•
•

•

Receivables, payables and inventories turnover period are estimated to be consistent with the current
financial year.
There will be no material changes in prevailing economic and political climate and government
policies and regulations that would significantly affect the operations of the respective companies.
The five years cash flow projections extrapolate the results using steady growth rates ranging from
-0.50% to 3.00% per annum for the Malaysian companies and 6.00% per annum for the Vietnam
company while terminal growth rates used for the Malaysian and Vietnam companies are 2.30% and
5.00% respectively.
The following discount rates applied have incorporated elements of country-specific risk, time value
of money as well as business risk:
»
15.11% - 18.58% for companies which manufacture palm based products;
»
13.93% for company that manufactures paper cartons;
»
18.00% and 18.46% for companies that manufacture tin cans in Malaysia and Vietnam respectively;
»
11.83% - 15.38% for trading companies; and
»
8.41% - 14.33% for other companies.
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)
The subsidiary companies are as follows:

			
Name of Company

Place of
Incorporation

Proportion of
ownership
interest and
voting power
held by the
Group
2016
2015
%
%

Principal Activities

Direct Subsidiary Companies
Yee Lee Trading Co.
Malaysia
100.00 100.00
Sdn. Bhd. 				

Marketing and distribution of edible
oils and other consumer products.

Yee Lee Palm Oil
Malaysia
100.00 100.00
Industries Sdn. Bhd.				

Milling and selling of crude palm oil
and kernel.

Yee Lee Edible Oils
Malaysia
100.00 100.00
Sdn. Bhd.				

Manufacturing of cooking oil, margarine
and shortening and trading of consumer
products.

South East Asia Paper
Malaysia
100.00 100.00
Products Sdn. Bhd.				

Manufacturing and selling of corrugated
paper cartons.

Canpac Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100.00

100.00

Manufacturing and trading of general
line tin cans.

Intanwasa Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100.00

100.00

Investment holding.

Yee Lee Marketing
Malaysia
100.00 100.00
Sdn. Bhd.*				

Marketing, distribution and trading of
consumer products.

Sementra Resort
Sdn. Bhd.

Pre-operating.

Malaysia

100.00

-

100.00

100.00

Investment holding.

100.00

100.00

Oil palm cultivation.

Indirect Subsidiary Companies
Held through Yee Lee Trading Co.
Sdn. Bhd.
Mini Motors Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

Held through Yee Lee Palm Oil
Industries Sdn. Bhd.
Sementra Plantations
Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)
The subsidiary companies are as follows (Cont’d):

			
Name of Company

Place of
Incorporation

Proportion of
ownership
interest and
voting power
held by the
Group
2016
2015
%
%

Principal Activities

Indirect Subsidiary Companies (Cont’d)
Held through Yee Lee Palm Oil
Industries Sdn. Bhd. (Cont’d)
Palker Sdn. Bhd.@

100.00

100.00

Ceased its business activity since
December 31, 2010. In the midst of
striking off.

100.00

100.00

Pre-operating. In the midst of Members’
Voluntary Winding-Up.

Canpac Vietnam Pte.,
Vietnam
100.00 100.00
Ltd.#				

Manufacturing and trading of general
line tin cans.

Malaysia

Held through Canpac Sdn. Bhd.
Good Cans Sdn. Bhd.^

Malaysia

Held through Intanwasa Sdn. Bhd.
Desa Tea Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100.00

100.00

Planting, processing and distribution of
tea.

Sabah Tea Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100.00

100.00

Oil palm cultivation.

Sabah Tea Resort
Sdn. Bhd.

Malaysia

100.00

100.00

Tourism related services.

*

The financial statements of this company are examined by an auditor other than the auditors of the
Company.

#

The financial statements of this company are examined by a member firm of the auditors of the
Company.

^

Commenced Members’ Voluntary Winding-Up on December 19, 2016.

@

Applied for striking off from the Companies Commission of Malaysia on November 9, 2016.
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14. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES (CONT’D)
Composition of the Group
Information about composition of the Group at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
			
Place of
			
incorporation
Principal activity
and operation
												

Number of
wholly-owned
subsidiaries
2016
2015

		 Marketing and distribution of edible oils and
		
other consumer products

Malaysia

2

2

		 Oil palm cultivation, milling and selling of
			 crude palm oil and kernel

Malaysia

3

3

		 Manufacturing of cooking oil, margarine and
			 shortening and trading of consumer products

Malaysia

1

1

		 Manufacturing and selling of corrugated paper
			 cartons and general line tin cans

Malaysia
Vietnam

2
1

2
1

		 Investment holding

Malaysia

2

2

		 Planting, processing and distribution of tea

Malaysia

1

1

		 Tourism related services

Malaysia

1

1

		 Pre-operating/Ceased business activity

Malaysia

3

2

16

15

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

		 Quoted shares, at cost				

55,249

35,658

		 Share of post-acquisition results, net of dividends received			
		 Share of post-acquisition reserves				

37,153
15,414

32,115
6,911

												

52,567

39,026

												

107,816

74,684

		 Market value of:
			 Quoted shares				
			 Quoted Warrants				

146,224
-

96,884
5,606

										

15. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY
												
		The Group						
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15. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY (CONT’D)
												
		The Company					

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

		 Quoted shares, at cost				

55,249

35,658

		 Market value of:
			 Quoted shares				
			 Quoted Warrants				

146,224
-

96,884
5,606

The interest in the associated company of the Group is analysed as follows:
				
												
												

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Share of net assets				
		 Goodwill on acquisition				
												

93,683
14,133

74,327
357

107,816

74,684

The associated company of the Group is as follows:

Name of
Company

Place of
Incorporation

Proportion of
ownership
interest
2016
2015		
%
%
Principal Activity

Spritzer Bhd.
Malaysia
32.50
32.25
Investment holding.
							

Financial
Year End
December 31
(2015: May 31)

During the financial year, Spritzer Bhd. has changed its financial year end from May 31 to December 31
(2015: May 31).
For the purpose of applying equity method of accounting, the audited consolidated financial statements
of Spritzer Bhd. for the year ended May 31, 2015 have been used, and appropriate adjustments have been
made for the effects of significant transactions between that date and December 31, 2015.
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15. INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATED COMPANY (CONT’D)
Summarised financial information in respect of the associated company of the Group is set out below:
				
												
												

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Current assets 					

141,840

107,798

		Non-current assets				

225,645

215,511

		 Current liabilities 				

51,405

71,136

		 Non-current liabilities 				

27,825

21,698

320,589

267,197

		 Profit for the year				

24,766

27,031

		 Total comprehensive income for the year				

24,766

27,031

		 Dividends received from the associate during the year			

3,016

2,364

		Revenue						

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information to the carrying amount of the interest in
Spritzer Bhd. recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:
				
												
												

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Net assets of the associate				

288,255

230,475

		 Proportion of the Group’s ownership interest in Spritzer Bhd.*		

32.50%

32.25%

												
		Other adjustments:
			 Goodwill on acquisition				

93,683

74,327

14,133

357

107,816

74,684

		 Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in Spritzer Bhd.			
*

Rounded to nearest 2 decimal point.
In 2011, Spritzer Bhd. (“SB”) issued 10,564,185 free Warrants to the Company pursuant to SB’s Bonus
Issue of Warrants. Each Warrant carried the entitlement to subscribe for one (1) new Spritzer share at
the exercise price of RM1.18 per share at any time during the exercise period of 5 years. The Warrants
expired on December 13, 2016.
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16. OTHER INVESTMENTS
												
		The Group						
		 Available-for-sale investments carried at fair value:
			 Quoted shares in Malaysia:
			 At beginning and end of year				

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

20

13

The market value of quoted shares as of the reporting period approximate their fair value.

17.

GOODWILL ON CONSOLIDATION

												
		The Group						
		 At beginning of year and at end of year				

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

1,612

1,612

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

1,612

1,612

Impairment tests for cash-generating units (“CGU”) containing goodwill
Carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the following CGU:
												
		The Group						
		 Canpac Sdn. Bhd. (manufacturing operations)			

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
use cash flow projections based on a financial forecast, approved by management, covering a period of five
years from financial year 2017 to 2021. The following key assumptions are used to generate the financial
forecast:
Growth rate
Discount rate

-0.5% per annum
18.46% per annum

Receivables and payables turnover period is estimated to be consistent with the current financial year.
The above key assumptions were determined based on past business performance and management’s
expectations of market development.
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18. INVENTORIES
												
		The Group						

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

		 Finished goods and trading merchandise				
		Raw materials					
		Work-in-progress				
		 Factory supplies and consumables				
		Goods-in-transit				
		Fertilisers 						

60,836
18,032
9,739
3,106
2,580
-

43,666
17,627
4,774
3,418
985
4

												

94,293

70,474

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense during the year for the Group was RM867,872,251 (2015:
RM656,419,704).
Inventories written off recognised as an expense for the Group during the financial year amounted to
RM1,599,607 (2015: RM2,343,267).
Inventories written down by the Group during the year amounted to RM2,342 (2015: RM4,523).

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Trade receivables		
		 Less: Allowance for doubtful debts 		

170,831
(95)

139,355
(268)

-

-

										
		 Amount owing by a subsidiary company
			(Note 20)				
		 Amount owing by other related companies
			(Note 20)				
		 Amount owing by other related parties
			(Note 20)				

170,736

139,087

-

-

-

-

17,289

17,035

6,447

5,142

-

-

1,488

1,243

-

-

		 Other receivables		
		 Less: Allowance for doubtful debts 		

27,148
(30)

20,534
(30)

-

-

										

27,118

20,504

-

-

		Net							

205,789

165,976

17,289

17,035
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)
Trade receivables of the Group comprise amounts receivable for the sale of goods and for tourism related
services rendered.
The credit periods granted on sale of goods ranged from cash to 180 days (2015: cash to 180 days) whilst
the credit periods for tourism related services rendered ranged from 30 to 90 days (2015: 30 to 90 days).
No interest is charged on overdue outstanding balance of trade receivables. An allowance has been made
for estimated irrecoverable amounts from the sale of goods and other receivables of the Group amounting
to RM94,983 (2015: RM267,634) and RM29,670 (2015: RM29,670) respectively and have been determined
by reference to past default experience.
Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts is as follows:
			
										
The Group				

Trade receivables
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

Other receivables
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Balance at beginning of year		
		 Amounts written off during the year
			 as uncollectible		
		 Impairment losses recognised on receivables
		 Impairment losses reversed 		

268

637

30

30

(135)
57
(95)

(221)
148
(296)

-

-

										

95

268

30

30

Ageing of impaired trade and other receivables are as follows:
			
										
The Group				
		 Number of days past due:
			 Above 180 days		

Trade receivables
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000
95

268

Other receivables
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000
30

30

Ageing of trade receivables and trade account owing by other related companies and other related parties
which are past due but not impaired as at the end of the reporting period is as follows:
				
				
				
			
Trade receivables
										
2016
2015
The Group				
RM’000
RM’000

Amount owing by
other related 		
companies and
other related parties
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Number of days past due:
			 1 - 30 days 			
			 31 - 60 days			
			 61 - 90 days			
			 91 - 120 days		
			 More than 120 days		

27,172
9,127
3,157
1,904
625

20,620
6,762
815
233
647

640
156
158
203
2,371

371
35
4,496

										

41,985

29,077

3,528

4,902
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONT’D)
			
			
										
The Group				

Amount owing by
other related companies
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

Amount owing by
other related parties
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		Trade account			
		Current account		

6,423
24

5,130
12

1,417
71

1,167
76

										

6,447

5,142

1,488

1,243

Trade account comprises amounts receivable for sale of goods. The credit periods granted by the Group for
sale of goods range from cash to 120 days (2015: cash to 120 days). No interest was charged on overdue
outstanding balances. Current accounts owing by other related companies and other related parties
comprise mainly unsecured advances that are interest-free and repayable on demand and outstanding
professional and transportation fees respectively.
The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances which are past due nor does it have a legal right
to offset against any amounts owed by the Group to the counterparty.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding trade receivables and has a credit period
policy to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by management. The Group has not
provided for impairment loss on these trade receivable accounts that are past due as there has not been a
significant change in credit quality and the amounts are still considered recoverable.
Other receivables of the Group comprise mainly subsidy receivable from the Government by a subsidiary
company under the Cooking Oil Price Stabilization and Standardization Scheme, claims receivable from
suppliers for promotion expenses incurred on agency products and advance payments to suppliers for
trade purchases.
Transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 20.
Analysis of currency profile of trade and other receivables is as follows:
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		Ringgit Malaysia		
		 Vietnamese Dong 		
		 Australian Dollar		
		 Singapore Dollar		
		 United States Dollar		
		 European Euro			

190,601
10,961
3,529
409
247
42

150,214
8,835
3,969
421
2,537
-

17,289
-

17,035
-

										

205,789

165,976

17,289

17,035
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20. HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Company is a subsidiary of Yee Lee Organization Bhd., a company incorporated in Malaysia, which is
also the ultimate holding company.
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the related parties and their relationship with
the Company and its subsidiary companies are as follows:
Names of related companies		

Relationships

Yew Lee Chiong Tin Factory Sdn. Bhd.
Kasjaria-Kim Huat (M) Sdn. Bhd.
Practical Advanced Technology Sdn. Bhd.
Cranberry (M) Sdn. Bhd.
Yee Lee Oils & Foodstuffs (Singapore) Pte. Ltd.
Multisafe Sdn. Bhd.
Sri Puteh Development Sdn. Bhd.

Subsidiaries of Yee Lee Organization Bhd.

)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Related party transactions
Transactions with related companies are as follows:
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		Subsidiary companies
		 Dividends received (gross)		
		 Purchase of goods		

-

-

7,810
8

5,170
13

		Associated company
		 Sale of goods			
		 Dividends received (gross)		

2
-

-

3,016

2,364

		 Other related companies
		 Yew Lee Chiong Tin Factory Sdn. Bhd.
			 Sale of goods		
			 Purchase of goods		
			 Professional fees received/ receivable

3,323
147
-

352
151
1

-

-

		 Practical Advanced Technology Sdn. Bhd.
			 Maintenance of networking, system,
				training and management services
				rendered			
			 Rental received 		
			 Purchase of property, plant and equipment
			 Disposal of property, plant and equipment
			 Sale of goods 		

2,571
5
5
4
-

2,160
65
3

-

-
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20. HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)
Related party transactions (Cont’d)
		
										
									
		 Multisafe Sdn. Bhd.
		
Sale of goods		
			 Sale of steam 		
			 Rental received 		
			 Professional fees received/receivable		
			 Disposal of property, plant and equipment

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

1,805
401
12
1
-

934
309
9
10

-

-

		 Yee Lee Oils & Foodstuffs (Singapore)
			Pte. Ltd.
			 Sale of goods		

139

50

-

-

		 Kasjaria-Kim Huat (M) Sdn. Bhd.
			 Rental received 		

12

12

-

-

		 Cranberry (M) Sdn. Bhd.
			 Purchase of goods		
			 Sale of goods 		
			 Rental on premises received		

1
1
-

8
2
12

-

-

		 Sri Puteh Development Sdn. Bhd.
			 Sale of goods		

-

2

-

-

		 Transactions with other related parties
			 being companies in which persons
			 connected with certain directors are
			 directors and/or have substantial
			 interests are as follows:
		 Chuan Sin Sdn. Bhd.
			 Purchase of goods		
			 Sale of goods		
			 Professional fees received/receivable		
			 Transportation fees paid/payable		

164,795
5,130
6
1

139,431
4,599
6
-

-

-

		 Golden PET Industries Sdn. Bhd.
			 Purchase of goods		
			 Sale of goods		
			 Transportation fees received		
			 Professional fees received/receivable 		

13,209
529
37
9

13,123
452
48
7

-

-
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20. HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)
Related party transactions (Cont’d)
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Angenet Sdn. Bhd.
			 Purchase of goods		
			 Transportation fees received/receivable 		
			 Professional fees received/receivable 		

3,922
64
4

2,874
110
-

-

-

		 Unikampar Credit And Leasing Sdn. Bhd.
			 Hire-purchase loans obtained		
			 Interest on hire-purchase loans paid		
			 Sale of goods		

1,522
223
1

2,816
213
1

-

-

		 Cactus Marketing Sdn. Bhd.
			 Sale of goods		
			 Transportation fees paid/payable		

405
3

387
-

-

-

		 Sabah Tea Garden Sdn. Bhd.
			 Sale of goods		
			 Catering services 		
			 Professional fees received/receivable 		

118
14
6

78
-

-

-

		 Chuan Sin Cactus Sdn. Bhd.
			 Purchase of drinking water for staff		
			 Purchase of goods		
			 Professional fees received/receivable		
			 Rental received 		

81
65
5
2

69
4
2

-

-

		 Spritzer EcoPark Sdn. Bhd.
			 Professional fees received/receivable		

2

-

-

-

		 NOVA Liquids Sdn. Bhd.
			 Provision of Palm Oil Mill Effluent
				 treatment services 		

70

-

-

-

		 Multibase Systems Sdn. Bhd.
			 Secretarial fees paid/payable		
			 Professional fees paid/payable		
			 Sale of goods		

41
1
-

36
1

8
-

8
-
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20. HOLDING COMPANY AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONT’D)
Related party transactions (Cont’d)
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Uniyelee Service Agencies Sdn. Bhd.
			 Handling charges paid/payable		
			 Insurance premium paid/payable 		

18
-

214

-

-

		 Uniyelee Insurance Agencies Sdn. Bhd.
			 Handling charges paid/payable		
			 Insurance premium paid/payable

17
-

781

-

5

		 PET Master Sdn. Bhd.
			 Professional fees received/receivable 		

2

2

-

-

		 Scenic Cafe Garden Sdn. Bhd.
			 Sale of goods 		

-

17

-

-

The outstanding balances arising from related party transactions are disclosed in Notes 19, 26 and 28.
The amounts owing by/(to) subsidiary and ultimate holding companies were unsecured, interest-free,
repayable on demand and will be settled in cash.
Compensation of key management personnel
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Group either directly or indirectly. The key management
personnel of the Group includes members of senior management of the Group.
The remuneration of directors are disclosed in Note 8. The remuneration of other members of key
management personnel of the Group during the year are as follows:
				
												
												

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Short-term employee benefits				
		 Post-employment benefits - Defined contribution plan			
		 Equity-settled share-based payments 				

1,714
254
-

1,995
281
140

												

1,968

2,416

The estimated monetary value of benefits-in-kind received and receivable by the members of key
management personnel otherwise than in cash from the Group amounted to RM106,768 (2015: RM62,296).

137

Annual Report 2016

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

21. OTHER ASSETS
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		Deposits 					
		 Prepaid expenses		

5,167
2,731

4,019
3,516

2
2

2
-

										

7,898

7,535

4

2

22. DEPOSITS, CASH AND BANK BALANCES
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Deposits with licensed banks		
		 Cash on hand and at banks		

26,709
52,713

34,627
57,817

227

750

										

79,422

92,444

227

750

Fixed deposits of the Group amounting to RM10,000 (2015: RM10,000) have been pledged to a licensed
bank as security for bank guarantees granted to a subsidiary company.
The effective interest rates for deposits ranged from 2.65% to 5.00% (2015: 2.85% to 3.20%) per annum. The
deposits have maturity periods ranging from 5 days to 365 days (2015: 9 days to 365 days).
Analysis of currency profile of deposits, cash and bank balances are as follows:
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		Ringgit Malaysia		
		 Vietnamese Dong 		
		 United States Dollar		
		 Australian Dollar		

63,847
10,453
4,151
971

67,478
8,747
12,310
3,909

227
-

750
-

										

79,422

92,444

227

750
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23. SHARE CAPITAL
		
										
										
									
Par
									
value
									
RM
		Authorised:
		 At beginning and end of year
		 Issued and fully paid:
		 At beginning of year
		 Issuance of shares - exercise
			of ESOS			
		 At end of year		

2016
Number of
ordinary
shares
’000

The Group and The Company
2015
Number of
ordinary 		
shares
2016
’000
RM’000

2015
RM’000

0.50

200,000

200,000

100,000

100,000

0.50

183,935

180,647

91,968

90,323

0.50

4,729

3,288

2,364

1,645

0.50

188,664

183,935

94,332

91,968

The Company increased its issued and paid-up ordinary share capital during the financial year by the
issuance of 4,728,700 new ordinary shares of RM0.50 each pursuant to the exercise of Executives’ Share
Option Scheme of the Company.
The new ordinary shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares of the Company.

24. RESERVES
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		Non-distributable reserves:
		Share premium			
		 Property revaluation reserve 		
		 Investment revaluation reserve 		
		 Translation reserve 		
		 Capital reserves 		
		 Equity-settled employee benefits reserve 		

9,781
187,859
3,871
13,538
1,021

5,259
187,859
(7)
2,649
5,035
2,599

9,781
373,980
1,021

5,259
309,312
2,599

										
		Distributable reserve:
		Retained earnings		

216,070

203,394

384,782

317,170

267,242

227,750

38,013

32,902

										

483,312

431,144

422,795

350,072
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24. RESERVES (CONT’D)
(a)
		

Share premium
Share premium arose from the following:

				
				
												
												

The Group and
The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

				 Exercise of share options of shares issued at a premium of:
					 - 3,491,000 ordinary shares (2015: 3,411,000 ordinary shares)
						 of RM0.50 each at RM0.28 per ordinary share 			
					 - 3,520,000 ordinary shares (2015: 2,990,500 ordinary shares)
						 of RM0.50 each at RM0.76 per ordinary share 			
					 - 2,699,600 ordinary shares (2015: 1,289,300 ordinary shares)
						 of RM0.50 each at RM1.08 per ordinary share			
					 - 3,381,900 ordinary shares (2015: 673,000 ordinary shares)
						 of RM0.50 each at RM0.95 per ordinary share			

977

955

2,675

2,273

2,916

1,392

3,213

639

												

9,781

5,259

(b)

Property revaluation reserve
The property revaluation reserve of the Group arises from the revaluation of land and buildings. When
revalued land and buildings are sold, the portion of the property revaluation reserve that relates to the
disposed asset is effectively realised, and is transferred directly to retained earnings.

(c)

Investment revaluation reserve
The investment revaluation reserve of the Group and of the Company arise from changes in fair
values of investments. When investments are disposed of, the portion of the reserve that relates to the
disposed investments is effectively realised, and is transferred directly to statements of profit or loss.

(d)

Translation reserve
Exchange differences relating to the translation from the functional currency of the foreign subsidiary
of the Group into Ringgit Malaysia are recognised directly in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the foreign currency translation reserve.

(e)

Capital reserves
Capital reserves relate to the share of reserves of the associated company.

(f)

Equity-settled employee benefits reserve
The equity-settled employee benefits reserve relates to share options granted to the directors and
executive employees of the Group and of the Company under the Executives’ Share Option Scheme
as disclosed in Note 31.

(g)

Retained earnings
The entire retained earnings of the Company as of December 31, 2016 is available for distribution as
single tier tax-exempt dividend to the shareholders of the Company.
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25. BORROWINGS
		
										
									
		Unsecured:
			 Bankers’ acceptances		
			 Revolving credits		
			 Term loans			
			 Bank overdrafts		
		Secured:
			 Hire-purchase payables (Note 26)		
										
		 Less: Amount due within 12 months
					(shown under current liabilities)
		 Non-current portion		

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

114,011
14,000
10,766
3,145

103,354
14,000
13,097
2,554

1,000
-

1,000
-

2,812

3,623

-

-

144,734

136,628

1,000

1,000

(135,306)

(124,708)

(1,000)

(1,000)

9,428

11,920

-

-

The non-current portion is repayable as follows:
				
												
												

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Financial years ending December 31:
			2017 							
			2018 							
			2019 							
			2020 							
			2021 							
			 2022 and above				

2,148
1,529
2,034
1,871
1,846

3,906
2,218
1,815
1,021
1,206
1,754

												

9,428

11,920

The Group has seven (7) term loans:
(a)

An eleven (11) year term loan of RM12,000,000 (2015: Nil) which is repayable by 90 equal monthly
instalments commencing from the first day of 43rd month following the full release of the term loan
or the expiry of the availability period which is October 11, 2019, whichever is earlier;

(b)

A six (6) year term loan of RM1,540,000 (2015: Nil) which is repayable by 60 equal monthly instalments
commencing June, 2016;

(c)

A seven (7) year term loan of RM6,000,000 (2015: RM6,000,000) which is repayable by 84 equal
monthly instalments commencing November, 2010;

(d)

A seven (7) year term loan of RM4,000,000 (2015: RM4,000,000) which is repayable by 84 equal
monthly instalments commencing May, 2010;
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25. BORROWINGS (CONT’D)
The Group has seven (7) term loans (Cont’d):
(e)

A six (6) year term loan of RM6,000,000 (2015: RM6,000,000) which is repayable by 72 equal monthly
instalments commencing May, 2014. The term loan has been fully settled during the year;

(f)

A five (5) year term loan of RM993,000 (2015: RM993,000) which is repayable by 60 equal monthly
instalments commencing July, 2012; and

(g)

A seven (7) year term loan of RM6,200,000 (2015: RM6,200,000) which is repayable by 84 equal
monthly instalments commencing June, 2015.

The average effective interest rates per annum are as follows:
		
										
									
		Bankers’ acceptances		
		Revolving credits		
		Term loans				
		Bank overdrafts			

The Group
2016
2015
%
%
3.90
4.54
4.89
7.73

3.97
4.66
5.49
7.82

The Company
2016
2015
%
%
4.54
7.79

4.60
7.85

The credit facilities of the Group of RM295,802,000 (2015: RM287,907,000) are guaranteed by the Company.
The credit facilities of the Company of RM2,000,000 (2015: RM2,000,000) are secured by a negative pledge
over the assets of the Company.

26. HIRE-PURCHASE PAYABLES
				
			
Minimum
		
hire-purchase payments
										
2016
2015
The Group				
RM’000
RM’000

Present value of
minimum hirepurchase payments
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Amounts payable under hire-purchase
			arrangements:
			 Within one year		
			 In the second to fifth year inclusive		

1,792
1,191

2,035
1,877

1,662
1,150

1,859
1,764

										
		 Less: Future finance charges		

2,983
(171)

3,912
(289)

2,812
-

3,623
-

		 Present value of hire-purchase payables		

2,812

3,623

2,812

3,623

		 Less: Amount due within 12 months (shown
					 under current liabilities) 				

(1,662)

(1,859)

		 Non-current portion 				

1,150

1,764
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26. HIRE-PURCHASE PAYABLES (CONT’D)
The non-current portion is repayable as follows:
				
												
												

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Financial years ending December 31:
			2017								
			2018								
			2019								

955
195

1,001
600
163

												

1,150

1,764

As of December 31, 2016, hire-purchase obligations of the Group payable to a related party amounted to
RM2,940,314 (2015: RM3,835,202).
The terms for hire-purchase ranged from 2 to 5 years (2015: 2 to 5 years). For the financial year ended
December 31, 2016, the effective hire-purchase interest rates ranged from 4.57% to 7.84% (2015: 4.57% to
7.84%) per annum. Interest rates are fixed at the inception of the hire-purchase arrangements.
The Group’s hire-purchase payables are secured by the assets under hire-purchase and guaranteed by the
Company.

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
										 Recognised
										 in statements
									
At beginning
of profit or
		 The Group			
of year
loss
		2016					
RM’000
RM’000
		
		
		
		
		

Deferred tax liabilities
Property revaluation reserve
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange

Recognised
in other
comprehensive
income
RM’000

At end
of year
RM’000

(32,951)
(12,510)
(195)
(19)

559
(407)
6
(80)

-

(32,392)
(12,917)
(189)
(99)

(45,675)

78

-

(45,597)

		 Deferred tax assets
		 Unabsorbed capital allowances and
			 unutilised tax losses
		 Inventories 			

3,401
19

442
-

-

3,843
19

									

3,420

442

-

3,862
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONT’D)
										 Recognised
										 in statements
									
At beginning
of profit or
		 The Group			
of year
loss
		2015					
RM’000
RM’000
		
		
		
		
		

Deferred tax liabilities
Property revaluation reserve
Property, plant and equipment
Investment properties
Unrealised gain on foreign exchange

Recognised
in other
comprehensive
income
RM’000

At end
of year
RM’000

(11,096)
(11,977)
(166)
-

351
(533)
(29)
(19)

(22,206)
-

(32,951)
(12,510)
(195)
(19)

(23,239)

(230)

(22,206)

(45,675)

		 Deferred tax assets
		 Unabsorbed capital allowances and
			 unutilised tax losses
		Inventories 			
		 Allowance for doubtful debts

2,200
20
20

1,201
(1)
(20)

-

3,401
19
-

									

2,240

1,180

-

3,420

									

Deferred tax balances are presented in the statements of financial position after appropriate offsetting as
follows:
												
		The Group						

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

(41,735)

(42,255)

												
		The Group						

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

		 Deferred tax assets not recognised at the reporting period:
			 Unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed agricultural and tax
				capital allowances				

8,673

9,948

		 Net deferred tax liabilities 				
		 Unrecognised deferred tax assets

As mentioned in Note 3, the effects of unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed agricultural and tax capital
allowances which would give rise to deferred tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profits will be available against which these unutilised tax losses and unabsorbed
agricultural and tax capital allowances can be utilised.
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28. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Trade payables			
		 Amount owing to ultimate holding company
			(Note 20)				
		 Amount owing to subsidiary companies
			 (Note 20) 			
		 Amount owing to associated company
			(Note 20)				
		 Amount owing to other related companies
			(Note 20)				
		 Amount owing to other related parties
			(Note 20) 				
		Other payables			

95,309

64,019

-

-

5

-

2

-

-

-

13,892

4,582

10

-

10

-

264

287

-

-

34,780
14,490

34,793
15,818

249

5
709

										

144,858

114,917

14,153

5,296

Analysis of currency profile of trade and other payables is as follows:
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		Ringgit Malaysia		
		 Vietnamese Dong 		
		 United States Dollar		
		 Singapore Dollar		
		 British Pound			
		Thai Baht					

141,146
2,330
961
346
60
15

111,916
1,741
998
23
33
206

14,153
-

5,296
-

										

144,858

114,917

14,153

5,296

			
			
										
The Group				

Amount owing by
other related companies
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

Amount owing by
other related parties
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		Trade account			
		Current account		

238
26

252
35

31,020
3,760

29,566
5,227

										

264

287

34,780

34,793

Trade payables and trade account owing to other related companies and other related parties comprise
amounts outstanding for trade purchases. The credit periods granted to the Group for trade purchases
ranged from 30 to 120 days (2015: 30 to 120 days). No interest is charged on overdue outstanding balances
of trade payables. Current account comprises amounts outstanding for ongoing costs that are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.
Other payables comprise amounts outstanding for ongoing costs. The amounts owing to other payables of
the Group and of the Company are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
Transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 20.
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29. OTHER LIABILITIES
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Deposits received		
		Accrued expenses		

767
22,129

730
19,949

262

230

										

22,896

20,679

262

230

30. DIVIDEND
				
				
												
												
		 First and final dividend paid:
			 - 3.5 sen per share, single tier for 2016
				 (3.0 sen per share, single tier for 2015) 			

The Group and
The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

6,573

5,489

A first and final dividend of 3.5 sen per share, under the single tier system, amounting to RM6,573,458,
proposed in respect of ordinary shares in the previous financial year and dealt with in the previous directors’
report was paid by the Company during the financial year.
		
The directors proposed a first and final dividend of 4.5 sen per share, under the single tier system, in respect
of the current financial year. This dividend is subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting of the Company and has not been included as a liability in the financial statements.

31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Under the Company’s Executives’ Share Option Scheme (“ESOS”), which has been approved at an
Extraordinary General Meeting held on June 27, 2012, options to subscribe for new ordinary shares
(“Yee Lee Shares”) of RM0.50 each in the Company were granted to eligible executive employees, who
are employed for a continuous period of one year, and Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors
(“Eligible Executives”), who have held office for at least one year in the Company and its subsidiaries, which
are not dormant. The ESOS is administered by the ESOS Committee and governed by a set of by-laws.
The ESOS shall be in force for a period of five (5) years commencing August 17, 2012 and will expire on
August 16, 2017.
Options not exercised upon expiry of the ESOS on August 16, 2017 shall become null and void.
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31. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONT’D)
Basis of determining the Subscription Price
Subject to any adjustments made under the by-laws and pursuant to the Listing Requirements, the
subscription price shall be the higher of:
a.

The five (5)-day weighted average market price (“WAMP”) of Yee Lee Shares immediately preceding the
date on which an offer is made by the ESOS Committee in writing (“Date of Offer”), with a discount of
not more than 10% at the ESOS Committee’s discretion; or

b.

The par value of Yee Lee Shares.

Listing of and quotation for the new Yee Lee Shares
The approval has been obtained from Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad vide its letter dated May 29, 2012 for
the listing of and quotation for the new Yee Lee Shares to be issued arising from the exercise of the ESOS
option on the Main Market of Bursa Securities.
Details of the share options exercised and lapsed during the financial year are as follows:
No. of options over ordinary shares of RM0.50 each
				
Exercise price		
Balance			
Balance
				 per ordinary Fair value at
as of 			
as of
				
share
grant date
1.1.2016
Lapsed
Exercised 31.12.2016
Date of grant Expiry date
RM
RM ’000 units ’000 units ’000 units
’000 units
17.8.2012
19.8.2013
18.8.2014
17.8.2015

16.8.2017
16.8.2017
16.8.2017
16.8.2017

0.78
1.26
1.58
1.45

0.1921
0.3289
0.3699
0.3139

228
914
2,872
3,796

						
7,810

(8)
(38)
-

(80)
(530)
(1,410)
(2,709)

148
376
1,424
1,087

(46)

(4,729)

3,035

All the share options vested on the date of grant.
The weighted average of share prices at the date of exercise of the options exercised during the financial
year was RM2.25 (2015: RM1.98).
The share options outstanding at the end of the reporting period have a weighted average exercise price of
RM1.45 (2015: RM1.46), and the weighted average remaining contractual life for these options is 228 days
(2015: 594 days).
The fair value of the options was determined using the “Black-Scholes” model based on the closing market
price at offer date, exercise price and option life as mentioned above, expected volatility based on its
historical volatility for the past three years, expected dividend yield based on dividend declared in year 2012
and 2015, risk-free rate at grant date and historical employee exercise behaviour.

147

Annual Report 2016

NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT
Categories of financial instruments
		
										
									
		Financial assets
		 Loans and receivables:
			 Trade and other receivables		
			 Refundable deposits		
			 Cash and cash equivalents 				 Deposits, cash and bank balances		
			Available-for-sale:
				 Investments in subsidiary companies		
				 Other investments 		
		Financial liabilities
		 Other financial liabilities:
			 Trade and other payables		
			 Borrowings 			
			 Accrued expenses 		

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

205,789
676

165,976
495

17,289
2

17,035
2

79,422

92,444

227

750

20

13

459,462
-

394,810
-

144,858
144,734
22,129

114,917
136,628
19,949

14,153
1,000
262

5,296
1,000
230

Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies
Risk management is integral to the whole business of the Group and of the Company. Management
continually monitors the Group’s and the Company’s risk management process to ensure that an appropriate
balance between risk and control is achieved. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed regularly
to reflect changes in the market conditions on the Group’s and the Company’s activities.
There have been no changes to the Group’s and the Company’s exposure to these financial risks or the
manner in which they manage and measure the risk.
(a)
		

Market risk
(i)

Foreign currency risk
The Group transacts business in various foreign currencies including United States Dollar
(“USD”), Australian Dollar (“AUD”), Singapore Dollar (“SGD”), European Euro (“EUR”), Thai Baht
(“THB”), British Pound (“GBP”) and Vietnamese Dong (“VND”) and therefore, is exposed to foreign
exchange risk. The Group enters into foreign currency forward contracts to manage its exposure
against foreign currency fluctuations on foreign receipts and payments. The Company is not
exposed to foreign currency risk as it mainly transacts in RM.
The carrying amounts of the foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities of the
Group at the reporting period are disclosed in Notes 19, 22 and 28.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(a)
		

Market risk (Cont’d)
(i)

Foreign currency risk (Cont’d)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to fluctuation in exchange rates for the currencies of USD, AUD and
VND. The management considers the impact of other currencies to be minimal.
The following table details the sensitivity of the Group to a 1% (2015: 3%) increase and decrease
in RM against the relevant foreign currencies. The sensitivity rate of 1% (2015: 3%) is used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key management and represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates in the next 12 months.
The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items
and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting period for a 1% (2015: 3%) change in
foreign currency rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in profit after tax where RM
weakens by 1% (2015: 3%) against the respective currencies. For a 1% (2015: 3%) strengthening of
RM against the respective currencies, there would be a decrease in the profit after tax, and the
balances below would be negative.

			
										
					 The Group		
						USD impact		
						AUD impact		
						VND impact

Statements of profit or loss
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000
26
34
-

256
168
-

Other equity
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000
143

337

The above impacts are mainly attributable to the exposure on the respective currencies on
receivables and payables outstanding at the end of the reporting period in the Group. In the
opinion of the management, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure of the Group during the
year.
		

(ii)

Equity price risk
The Group and the Company are exposed to equity price risks arising from equity investments.
Equity investments are held for strategic rather than trading purposes.

			Equity price sensitivity analysis
			Quoted equity investments
Management does not consider the Group’s exposure to price risk significant at the end of the
reporting period due to the immaterial value of other investments held as shown in Note 16.
Therefore, sensitivity analysis for price risk of quoted investments is not disclosed.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(a)
		

Market risk (Cont’d)
(ii)

Equity price risk (Cont’d)

			Unquoted equity investments
The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the Company’s exposure to equity
price risks at the end of the reporting period.
As explained in Note 14, the fair values of investments in subsidiary companies are determined
using Free Cash Flow to Equity valuation technique by forecasting free cash flow to equity and
discounting these cash flows at an appropriate discount rate.
The following shows the impact on the Company’s investment revaluation reserve if there are
changes in the growth rates and discount rates used in the valuation. A negative figure indicates
a decrease in investment revaluation reserve while a positive figure indicates an increase in the
investment revaluation reserve:
												
						 					
						
						
						
						

Increase in growth rate by 0.80% (2015: 1.00%)			
Decrease in growth rate by 0.80% (2015: 1.00%)			
Decrease in discount rate by 2.50% (2015: 1.40%)			
Increase in discount rate by 2.50% (2015: 1.40%)			

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

35,023
(28,169)
256,719
(131,700)

44,300
(34,050)
90,630
(63,060)

In the above scenarios, the Company’s net profit for the year ended December 31, 2016 would
have been unaffected as the equity investments are classified as available-for-sale financial
assets.
		

(iii)

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of the Group’s and of the
Company’s financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.
The Group and the Company finance its operations by a mixture of internal funds and bank
and other borrowings. The Group and the Company regularly review the interest rate profile
of borrowings against prevailing and anticipated market rates. The repayment and maturity
profiles of borrowings are structured after taking into consideration the cash inflows expected
to be generated from the underlying assets or operations and the economic life of the assets or
operations being financed.
The policy of the Group and of the Company are to borrow both on the fixed and floating rate
basis. The objective for the mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings is set to reduce the
impact of an upward change in interest rates while enabling benefits to be enjoyed if interest
rates fall.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(a)
		

Market risk (Cont’d)
(iii)

Interest rate risk (Cont’d)

			Sensitivity analysis for interest rate risk
At the end of the reporting period, if interest rates increase/decrease in the range of 5 to 504
basis points (2015: 6 to 53 basis points), with all other variables held constant, the Group’s and
the Company’s profit net of tax would have been RM232,932 and RM456 (2015: RM228,676 and
RM1,425) respectively lower/higher arising mainly as a result of higher/lower interest expense on
floating rate borrowings. The assumed movement in the interest rates for interest rate sensitivity
analysis is based on the currently observable market environment.
(b)

Credit risk
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in
financial loss to the Group and the Company. The Group and the Company have adopted a policy of
only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from
defaults. The exposure of the Group to credit risk arises principally from its receivables, amount due
from related companies and other related parties and other financial assets. The credit risk exposure of
the Company arises from financial guarantees given to licensed banks and credit and leasing company
for credit and hire-purchase facilities granted to subsidiary companies and other financial assets.

		Receivables
The Group established policies on credit control involves comprehensive credit evaluations, setting
up appropriate credit limits, ensuring the sales are made to customers with good credit history and
regular review of customers’ outstanding balances and payment trends. The Group considers the risk
of material loss in the event of non-performance by the customers to be unlikely.
At the end of the reporting period, the Group is not subject to significant concentration of credit risk.
As the Group does not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk arising from receivables
is represented by the carrying amounts in the statement of financial position. The Group uses ageing
analysis to monitor the credit quality of the trade receivables.
For other receivables, management does not foresee any credit risk due to the nature of other
receivables which comprise mainly subsidy receivable from the Government under the Cooking
Oil Price Stabilization and Standardization Scheme, claims receivable from suppliers for promotion
expenses incurred on agency products and advance payments made to suppliers.
The ageing of trade receivables and amount owing by other related companies and other related
parties that are past due are disclosed in Note 19.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(b)

Credit risk (Cont’d)

		Amount Due From Related Companies and Other Related Parties
The Group undertook trade transactions with other related companies and other related parties and
credit periods ranging from 30 to 120 days were set. The Company provided unsecured advances to
subsidiaries and there are no fixed repayment terms imposed on amount due from subsidiaries as the
credit risk is managed on a Group basis by the management of the Company to ensure that risk of
losses incurred by the Company due to non-repayment by subsidiaries is minimised.
At the end of the reporting period, the maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by their carrying
amounts in the statement of financial position.
At the end of the reporting period, there was no indication that the balances due from subsidiaries,
other related companies and other related parties are not recoverable.
		Financial Guarantee
The Company provides unsecured financial guarantees to licensed banks and credit and leasing
companies in respect of credit and hire-purchase facilities granted to subsidiary companies. The
Company monitors on an ongoing basis the trend of repayments made by the subsidiary companies.
The maximum exposure to credit risk amounts to RM298,742,000 (2015: RM291,743,000) representing
the limit of credit and hire-purchase facilities of the subsidiary companies as of the end of the reporting
period.
At the end of the financial period, there was no indication that the subsidiary companies would default
on repayment.
		Other Financial Assets
The credit risk on liquid funds are limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.
(c)

Liquidity and cash flow risks
The Group and the Company practice prudent liquidity risk management to minimise the mismatch
of financial assets and liabilities and to maintain sufficient credit facilities for contingent funding
requirement of working capital.
The Group’s and the Company’s principal source of liquidity has historically been cash flows from
operations and funds obtained from long and short-term borrowings.
The Group and the Company expect that the cash generated from their operations, their existing
credit facilities and the trade terms provided by suppliers will be sufficient to meet the Group’s and the
Company’s currently anticipated capital expenditure and working capital needs for at least the next 12
months.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(c)

Liquidity and cash flow risks (Cont’d)
The Group and the Company have credit facilities of approximately RM154,880,000 and RM1,000,000
(2015: RM156,902,000 and RM1,000,000) respectively which are unused at the end of the reporting
period. The Group and the Company expect to meet their financial obligations from their operating
cash flows and proceeds from maturing financial assets.
The maturity profile of the Group’s and of the Company’s non-derivative financial assets and financial
liabilities at the reporting period based on contractual undiscounted repayment obligations are as
follows:

										 On demand
										
or within
				 The Group		
one year
				2016				
RM’000

One year to
five years
RM’000

Over five
years
RM’000

Total
RM’000

				Non-derivative financial assets:
					 Trade and other receivables		
					Refundable deposits		
					 Deposits, cash and bank balances		

205,789
644
80,309

6
-

26
-

205,789
676
80,309

				Total undiscounted non-derivative
					financial assets 		

286,742

6

26

286,774

				Non-derivative financial liabilities:
					 Trade and other payables		
					Borrowings		
					Accrued expenses		

144,858
136,016
22,129

9,765
-

1,026
-

144,858
146,807
22,129

				Total undiscounted non-derivative
					financial liabilities		

303,003

9,765

1,026

313,794

				Total net undiscounted non-derivative
					financial liabilities 		

(16,261)

(9,759)

(1,000)

(27,020)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(c)

Liquidity and cash flow risks (Cont’d)

										 On demand
										
or within
				 The Group		
one year
				2015				
RM’000

One year to
five years
RM’000

Over five
years
RM’000

Total
RM’000

				Non-derivative financial assets:
					 Trade and other receivables		
					Refundable deposits		
					 Deposits, cash and bank balances		

165,976
495
93,250

-

-

165,976
495
93,250

				Total undiscounted non-derivative
					financial assets 		

259,721

-

-

259,721

				Non-derivative financial liabilities:
					 Trade and other payables		
					Borrowings		
					Accrued expenses		

114,917
125,548
19,949

11,309
-

2,357
-

114,917
139,214
19,949

				Total undiscounted non-derivative
					financial liabilities		

260,414

11,309

2,357

274,080

				Total net undiscounted non-derivative
					financial liabilities 		

(693)

(11,309)

(2,357)

(14,359)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(c)

Liquidity and cash flow risks (Cont’d)

										 On demand
										
or within
				 The Company		
one year
				2016				
RM’000

One year to
five years
RM’000

Over five
years
RM’000

Total
RM’000

				Non-derivative financial assets:
					 Trade and other receivables		
					Refundable deposit 		
					 Cash and bank balances		

17,289
2
227

-

-

17,289
2
227

				Total undiscounted non-derivative
					financial assets 		

17,518

-

-

17,518

				Non-derivative financial liabilities:
					 Trade and other payables		
					Borrowings		
					Accrued expenses		
					Financial guarantee contracts		

14,153
1,000
262
143,863

-

-

14,153
1,000
262
143,863

				Total undiscounted non-derivative
					financial liabilities		

159,278

-

-

159,278

				 Total net undiscounted non-derivative
					financial liabilities 		

(141,760)

-

-

(141,760)
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Financial Risk Management Objectives and Policies (Cont’d)
(c)

Liquidity and cash flow risks (Cont’d)

										 On demand
										
or within
				 The Company		
one year
				2015				
RM’000

One year to
five years
RM’000

Over five
years
RM’000

Total
RM’000

				Non-derivative financial assets:
					 Trade and other receivables		
					Refundable deposit 		
					 Cash and bank balances		

17,035
2
750

-

-

17,035
2
750

				Total undiscounted non-derivative
					financial assets 		

17,787

-

-

17,787

				Non-derivative financial liabilities:
					 Trade and other payables		
					Borrowings		
					Accrued expenses		
					Financial guarantee contracts		

5,296
1,000
230
135,840

-

-

5,296
1,000
230
135,840

				Total undiscounted non-derivative
					financial liabilities		

142,366

-

-

142,366

				 Total net undiscounted non-derivative
					financial liabilities 		

(124,579)

-

-

(124,579)

(d)

Capital risk management
The Group and the Company manage their capital to ensure the Group and the Company will be able
to continue as going concern while optimising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s and the Company’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from 2015.
The capital structure of the Group and of the Company consist of net debt and equity.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Fair Values of Financial Instruments
Foreign exchange forward contracts
The notional amounts and estimated fair values of the Group’s foreign currency forward contracts
outstanding at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

				
				
Outstanding contracts
		 denominated in:
		 USD
		 AUD

2016
RM’000

2015
RM’000

601

159
883

Notional value
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

647

162
940

Fair value - Net
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

46

3
57

The fair values are calculated by reference to the current rates for contracts with similar maturity profiles.
The management does not consider the above fair value of foreign exchange forward contracts significant
enough to be adjusted in the financial statements.
Financial instruments carried at amortised cost
The carrying amounts of short-term financial assets and financial liabilities recognised at amortised cost in
the financial statements approximate their respective fair values due to the relatively short-term maturity of
these financial instruments.
The fair values of term loans have been estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the current
borrowing rates for similar types of term loan arrangements. There is no material difference between the
carrying amounts and the estimated fair values of term loans.
The fair values of hire-purchase have been estimated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the
current borrowing rates for similar types of hire-purchase arrangements and approximate their carrying
amounts.
The fair value of unquoted and quoted investments classified as available-for-sale are disclosed in Notes 14
and 16 respectively.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Fair Values of Financial Instruments (Cont’d)
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position
The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.
										
		The Group				

Level 1
RM’000

Level 2
RM’000

Level 3
RM’000

Total
RM’000

20

-

-

20

13

-

-

13

Level 2
RM’000

Level 3
RM’000

Total
RM’000

-

-

459,462

459,462

-

-

394,810

394,810

		2016
		 Other investments 		
		2015
		 Other investments 		

There were no transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 during the financial year.
										
Level 1
		
The Company			 RM’000
		2016
		 Investments in subsidiary companies		
		2015
		 Investments in subsidiary companies		

Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets
				
				
				
				
												
		The Company					

Available-for-sale
financial assets
Investments in
subsidiary companies
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 At beginning of year				
		 Movements during the year 				
		 Total gain recognised in other comprehensive income			

394,810
(16)
64,668

245,254
1,265
148,291

		 At end of year					

459,462

394,810
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
Reconciliation of Level 3 fair value measurements of financial assets (Cont’d)
Although the Company believes that its estimates of fair value are appropriate, the use of different
methodologies or assumptions could lead to different measurements of fair value. The effects of changing
one or more of the assumptions used are disclosed above under equity price sensitivity analysis for unquoted
equity investments.
The favourable and unfavourable effects of using reasonably possible alternative assumptions have been
calculated by changing the growth rates and discount rates used in Free Cash Flow to Equity valuation
technique based on the probability of the Company’s changes of possible outcomes, as documented in the
Equity Price Sensitivity Analysis in Note 32(a)(ii).

33. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(a)
		

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
The details of additions to property, plant and equipment were as follows:

				
												
												

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

				Cash purchase 				
				Hire-purchase financing				
				 Amount included in prior year - deposit paid			
				Outstanding included in:
					Other payables				
					Accrued expenses				
				 Plantation development expenditure capitalised 			
				 Finance costs capitalised 				

16,878
1,522
3,075

10,408
2,816
346

366
17
58

302
225
-

												

21,916

14,097

The principal amounts of instalment repayments for property, plant and equipment acquired by hirepurchase are reflected as cash outflows from financing activities.
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33. STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (CONT’D)
(b)

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the reporting period as shown in the statements of cash flows
can be reconciled to the related items in the statements of financial position as follows:

		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

				Deposits 			
				Cash and bank balances		
				Bank overdrafts		

26,709
52,713
(3,145)

34,627
57,817
(2,554)

227
-

750
-

										
				 Less: Fixed deposits pledged to a
							licensed bank		

76,277

89,890

227

750

(10)

(10)

-

-

										

76,267

89,880

227

750

34. COMMITMENTS
As of December 31, 2016, the Group has the following commitments in respect of property, plant and
equipment:
				
The Group
												
2016
2015
												
RM’000
RM’000
		Capital expenditure:
			 Approved and contracted for				
			 Approved but not contracted for				

19,222
5,618

14,540
7,438

												

24,840

21,978

35. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable
operating leases, which fall due as follows:
				
The Group
												
2016
2015
												
RM’000
RM’000
		 Within one year					
		 In the second to fifth year 				

81
-

73
1

												

81

74

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for leasehold land, photostat machine,
warehouse and hostels. Leases are negotiated for terms which range from one to five years (2015: one to
ten years) with an option to renew the lease after that date.
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36. SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION - DISCLOSURE ON REALISED AND UNREALISED PROFITS OR
LOSSES
The breakdown of the retained earnings of the Group and of the Company as of December 31, 2016 into
realised and unrealised profits or losses, pursuant to the directive issued by Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad
on March 25, 2010, is as follows:
		
										
									

The Group
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

The Company
2016
2015
RM’000
RM’000

		 Total retained earnings of the Company
			and its subsidiary companies
		Realised 					
		 Unrealised 				

232,130
(10,085)

201,429
(9,315)

38,013
-

32,902
-

		 Total share of retained earnings from
			 associated company
		Realised 					

37,153

32,115

-

-

										
		 Add: Consolidation adjustments		

259,198
8,044

224,229
3,521

38,013
-

32,902
-

		Total retained earnings as per statements
			 of financial position 		

267,242

227,750

38,013

32,902

The determination of realised and unrealised profits or losses is based on Guidance of Special Matter No. 1
“Determination of Realised and Unrealised Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa
Securities Listing Requirements” as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants on December 20, 2010.
This supplementary information have been made solely for complying with the disclosure requirements as
stipulated in the directives of Bursa Malaysia and is not made for any other purposes.
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STATEMENT BY
DIRECTORS

The directors of YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD. state that, in their opinion, the accompanying financial statements
are drawn up in accordance with Financial Reporting Standards and the provisions of the Companies Act, 1965
in Malaysia so as to give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group and of the Company as of
December 31, 2016 and of the financial performance and the cash flows of the Group and of the Company for
the year ended on that date.
The supplementary information set out in Note 36, which is not part of the financial statements, is prepared in all
material respects, in accordance with Guidance on Special Matter No. 1 “Determination of Realised and Unrealised
Profits or Losses in the Context of Disclosure Pursuant to Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad Listing Requirements”
as issued by the Malaysian Institute of Accountants and the directive of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad.
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors,

mr. lim ee young
Group Chief Executive Officer

MR. CHOK HOOA @ CHOK YIN FATT, PMP
Executive Director
Ipoh,
April 14, 2017

DECLARATION BY THE OFFICER
PRIMARILY RESPONSIBLE FOR

THE FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY

I, MR. YAP SIN KHEONG, the officer primarily responsible for the financial management of YEE LEE CORPORATION
BHD., do solemnly and sincerely declare that the accompanying financial statements are, in my opinion, correct
and I make this solemn declaration conscientiously believing the same to be true, and by virtue of the provisions
of the Statutory Declarations Act, 1960.

MR. YAP SIN KHEONG
Subscribed and solemnly declared by the abovenamed
MR. YAP SIN KHEONG at IPOH this 14th day of April, 2017.

Before me,

CHONG TAT CHEONG
NO:A234
COMMISSIONER FOR OATHS
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SHARE CAPITAL
Number of Issued Share
Issued Share Capital
Class of Shares
Voting Rights

:
:
:
:

189,685,200 ordinary shares
RM95,218,970.00
Ordinary shares
One vote per ordinary share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDINGS
			
Size of Shareholdings

Number of Shareholders
Number
%

Number of Issued Shares
Number
%

Less than 100 shares
100 to 1,000 shares
1,001 to 10,000 shares
10,001 to 100,000 shares
100,001 to less than 5% of issued shares
5% and above of issued shares

136
588
2,157
774
122
1

3.60
15.56
57.09
20.49
3.23
0.03

6,970
404,402
10,721,620
22,832,513
63,923,843
91,795,852

**
0.21
5.65
12.04
33.70
48.39

Total

3,778

100.00

189,685,200

100.00

** Negligible

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS ACCORDING TO THE REGISTER OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
			
			
Substantial Shareholders
1. Yee Lee Organization Bhd (“YLO”)
2. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong
3. Datin Chua Shok Tim @ Chua Siok Hoon
4. Unikampar Credit And Leasing
		 Sdn Bhd (“UCL”)
5. Uniyelee Sdn Bhd (“UYL”)
6. Yeleta Holdings Sdn Bhd (“YH”)
7. Young Wei Holdings Sdn Bhd (“YW”)

Direct Interest
Number of
% of
Issued Shares Issued Shares

Deemed Interest
Number of
% of
Issued Shares Issued Shares

97,312,682
5,802,352
1,539,369
20,350

51.30
3.06
0.81
0.01

100,113,467 a
104,363,084 b
97,312,682 c

52.78
55.02
51.30

81,762
51,243
12,715

0.04
0.03
0.01

97,336,677 d
97,438,789 e
97,490,032 f

51.31
51.37
51.40

Notes:	Deemed interest by virtue of his shareholdings in YW and Unipon Enterprise Sdn Bhd (“UP”), and the shares
held by his spouse and children in the Company pursuant to Section 8 of the Companies Act 2016 (“Act”).
b
	Deemed interest by virtue of her shareholding in YW, and the shares held by her spouse and children in the
Company pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
c
	Deemed interest held through YLO pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
d
	Deemed interest held through Uniyelee Insurance Agencies Sdn Bhd and YLO pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
e
Deemed interest held through UCL and UYL pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
f
Deemed interest held through YH pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
a
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DIRECTORS’ SHAREHOLDINGS IN THE COMPANY AND ITS RELATED CORPORATION
The interests of the Directors in the shares of the Company and its related corporation maintained by the
Company in the Register of Directors’ Shareholdings pursuant to Section 59 of the Act are as follows:-

Shares in the Company
			
			
Name of Directors
1. Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong
2. Thang Lai Sung
3. Chok Hooa @ Chok Yin Fatt
4. Lim Ee Young
5. Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik
6. Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena
		 bin Nik Mustapha
7. Lee Kee Hong
8. Sow Yeng Chong

Direct Interest
Number of
% of
Issued Shares Issued Shares

Deemed Interest
Number of
% of
Issued Shares Issued Shares

5,802,352
95,398
130,432
1,043,856
96,664
1,550,000

3.06
0.05
0.07
0.55
0.05
0.82

100,113,467 a
156,500 b
-

52.78
0.08
-

119,976
26,000

0.06
0.01

1,808 c

**

Notes:	Deemed interest by virtue of his shareholdings in YW and UP, and the shares held by his spouse and children
in the Company pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
b
	Deemed interest by virtue of the shares held by his spouse in the Company pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.
a

** Negligible

Shares in the holding company, Yee Lee Organization Bhd
			
			
Name of Directors
1.
2.
3.
4.

Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong
Thang Lai Sung
Lim Ee Young
Lee Kee Hong

Direct Interest
Number of
% of
Issued Shares Issued Shares
2,751
1,716
83,919
19,800

0.03
0.02
0.76
0.18

Deemed Interest
Number of
% of
Issued Shares Issued Shares
8,221,281 a
-

74.74
-

	Deemed interest by virtue of his shareholding in YW and UP, and the shares held by his spouse and children
in YLO pursuant to Section 8 of the Act.

a

By virtue of Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong’s interest in the shares of the holding company, Yee Lee
Organization Bhd, he is also deemed to have an interest in the shares of all the subsidiary companies to the
extent that the holding company has interest.
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TOP THIRTY SECURITIES ACCOUNT HOLDERS
			
Shareholders

Number of
Issued Shares

1. Yee Lee Organization Bhd
2. Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong
3. Yee Lee Organization Bhd
4. AmanahRaya Trustees Berhad
		 Public Strategic Smallcap Fund
5. Dato’ (Dr.) Haji Mohamed Ishak bin Haji Mohamed Ariff
6. Amanah Raya Berhad
		 Kumpulan Wang Bersama Syariah
7. HSBC Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
		 Exempt An for Credit Suisse
8. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha
9. Chua Shok Tim @ Chua Siok Hoon
10. Jailani Bin Abdullah
11. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
		 Employees Provident Fund Board (ARIM)
12. Lai Ka Chee
13. UOB Kay Hian Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
		 Exempt An for UOB Kay Hian Pte Ltd
14. AmanahRaya Trustees Berhad
		 Public Islamic Treasures Growth Fund
15. Lim Ee Young
16. Tan Kah Hock
17. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
		 Employees Provident Fund Board (PHEIM)
18. AmanahRaya Trustees Berhad
		 Public Mutual PRS Moderate Fund
19. Lim Peng Jin
20. Citigroup Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
		 Kumpulan Wang Persaraan (Diperbadankan) (Affin Hwng SM CF)
21. UOBM Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
		 UOB Asset Management (Malaysia) Berhad For Gibraltar BSN Aggressive Fund
22. RHB Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
		 Exempt An for RHB Securities Singapore Pte Ltd
23. DB (Malaysia) Nominee (Tempatan) Sendirian Berhad
		 Deutsche Trustees Malaysia Berhad for Hong Leong
		 Consumer Products Sector Fund
24. Maybank Nominees (Tempatan) Sdn Bhd
		 Etiqa Takaful Berhad
25. Citigroup Nominees (Asing) Sdn Bhd
		 Exempt An for Citibank New York
26. Teo Hong Beng
27. Eletechnics Sdn Bhd
28. Tan Eng Guan
29. Lim Kok Boon
30. Mary Wong Yoke Ling
Total

% of
Issued Shares

91,795,852
5,802,352
5,516,830
5,121,500

48.40
3.06
2.91
2.70

3,050,000
2,350,000

1.61
1.24

2,100,000

1.11

1,550,000
1,539,369
1,433,264
1,300,000

0.82
0.81
0.76
0.69

1,275,232
1,115,232

0.67
0.59

1,109,700

0.59

1,043,856
1,000,000
988,200

0.55
0.53
0.52

980,000

0.52

800,000
775,000

0.42
0.41

609,000

0.32

606,664

0.32

600,000

0.32

593,000

0.31

588,800

0.31

538,000
500,000
500,000
490,070
445,000

0.28
0.26
0.26
0.26
0.23

136,116,921

71.77
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TOP 10 PROPERTIES
OF THE GROUP
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

			
Approximate		
Land/		
		 Age of		
Gross
Date of
		
Current
Building		 Floor Area
Last
Location
Tenure
Use
(Year)		(sq.metres) Revaluation
Lot No. 57252
Freehold
Town of Kepong		
District of Gombak,
Selangor Darul Ehsan

3-storey office
16		
and warehouse			

Provisional Lease
No. 066290168,
Kg Nalapak,
District of Ranau, Sabah

31.12.2015

51,756

Vacant
agriculture
land

31.12.2015

44,308

Plantation,
35		 8,314,820/
office, factory,			
13,492
warehouse and				
labour housing				

31.12.2015

41,746

Lot Nos. 15917-15918,
Freehold
Oil palm estate
-		 1,984,093
46292, 46300-46301, 						
46303-46315, 						
20276 & 20338, 						
Mukim of Kampar						
Lot Nos. 20339 & 20340,
Mukim of Teja,
District of Kinta,
Perak Darul Ridzuan

31.12.2015

37,000

3-storey
41		
34,368/
31.12.2015
office,			
18,967		
factory,				
warehouse				
and adjoining				
vacant land				

19,840

Lot No. 119
Freehold
2-storey office,
20		
10,866/
31.12.2015
Rawang Integrated		
factory and 			
7,441		
Industrial Park		
warehouse				
Mukim of Rawang						
District of Gombak
Selangor Darul Ehsan						

17,896

Leasehold
expiring on
31.12.2080

Provisional Lease
Leasehold
No. 066290168,
expiring on
Kg Nalapak,
31.12.2080
District of Ranau, Sabah		

Lots No. 72169,
158022 and
PT80026,
Mukim of Ulu Kinta,
District of Kinta,
Perak Darul Ridzuan

Leasehold
expiring on
01.09.2075,
30.07.2088
and
28.03.2050
respectively

14,729/
12,274

Net
Book
Value
RM’000

-		 13,003,967

Yee Lee Corporation Bhd
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TOP 10 PROPERTIES
OF THE GROUP
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2016

			
Approximate		
Land/		
		 Age of		
Gross
Date of
		
Current
Building		 Floor Area
Last
Location
Tenure
Use
(Year)		(sq.metres) Revaluation

Net
Book
Value
RM’000

Lot Nos. 3858-3864,
Freehold
Oil palm estate
-		 970,590
3867, 3879, 3882-3883, 						
3888, 3921-3926, 						
3928-3931, 3933-3947,
3950-3951, 3965-3967,
3970, 3972-3975, 3977,						
Mukim and District of Batang						
Padang, Perak Darul Ridzuan						

31.12.2015

17,550

Lot 91
Freehold
2-storey office,
3		
8,710
Rawang Integrated 		
factory and 				
Industrial Park		
warehouse
Mukim of Rawang 						
District of Gombak						
Selangor Darul Ehsan						

31.12.2015

16,456

Leasehold
2-storey
32		
145,732/
31.12.2015
expiring on
palm oil			
11,637		
30.06.2046
mill, office				
and
and factory				
05.07.2048
warehouse				
respectively						

16,372

Lot Nos. 9399,
and 10169,
Mukim of Bidor,
District of Batang,
Batang Padang,
Perak Darul Ridzuan

HS(M) 3292 Freehold
One storey
4		
25,353/
Lot PTD102569,		
warehouse			
4,604
Mukim Senai, 		
and office				
Daerah Kulai Jaya, 						
Johor Darul Takzim

31.12.2015

15,560

FORM OF PROXY
No. of Shares Held
CDS Account No.
I/We,
					

(Full name in block letters)

NRIC/Passport/Company No.

of

					

(Address)

being a member of YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD, hereby appoint
						

(Full name in block letters)

NRIC/Passport/Company No.
of
						(Address)

or failing whom,
			

NRIC/Passport/Company No.
(Full name in block letters)

of
					

(Address)

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us and on my/our behalf at the Forty-Fourth Annual General Meeting of the Company to be
held on Tuesday, May 30, 2017 at 10.30 a.m. at Weil Ballrooms 3 & 4, Level 6, The Weil Hotel, No. 292, Jalan Sultan Idris Shah,
30000 Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan and at any adjournment thereof for/against* the resolutions to be proposed thereat.
RESOLUTION NO.

DESCRIPTIONS

FOR

AGAINST

ORDINARY BUSINESS
1

To declare a first and final dividend

2

To re-elect Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik as Director

3

To re-elect Sow Yeng Chong as Director

4

To re-elect Dato’ Ir. Nik Mohamad Pena bin Nik Mustapha as Director

5

To re-appoint Dato’ Lim A Heng @ Lim Kok Cheong as Director

6

To re-appoint Thang Lai Sung as Director

7

To approve the payment of Directors’ fees

8

To approve the payment of allowances to Non-Executive Directors

9

To re-appoint Deloitte PLT as Auditors of the Company and to authorise the Directors
to fix their remuneration
SPECIAL BUSINESS

10

To authorise the Directors to issue shares pursuant to Section 75 of the Companies
Act 2016

11

To approve the Proposed Shareholders’ Mandate

12

Continuing in Office for Dato’ Mohd Adhan bin Kechik as an Independent NonExecutive Director

13

Continuing in Office for Lee Kee Hong as an Independent Non-Executive Director

Dated this

day of

2017.

Signatures/Common Seal of Members
*	Please indicate with an “X” in the space provided whether you wish your votes to be cast for or against the resolutions.
If no specific direction as to voting is given, the proxy will vote or abstain from voting at his discretion.
Notes:(i)
A proxy may but need not be a member of the Company. A proxy appointed to attend and vote at the meeting shall have the same rights as the
member to speak at the meeting.
(ii) The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing or if such
appointor is a corporation, under its Seal or the hand of its attorney.
(iii) A member may appoint up to two (2) proxies to attend and vote at the same meeting. Where a member appoints more than one (1) proxy and
such appointment shall be invalid unless he specifies the proportion of his shareholding to be represented by each proxy.
(iv) Where a member of the Company is an exempt authorised nominee as defined under the Securities Industry (Central Depositories) Act 1991
which holds ordinary shares in the Company for multiple beneficial owners in one securities account (“omnibus account”), there is no limit to
the number of proxies which the exempt authorised nominee may appoint in respect of each omnibus account it hold.
(v) This instrument duly completed must be deposited at the Registered Office of the Company at Lot 85, Jalan Portland, Tasek Industrial Estate,
31400 Ipoh, Perak Darul Ridzuan not less than forty-eight (48) hours before the time appointed for holding the meeting.
(vi) Only a depositor whose name appears on the Record of Depositors as at May 23, 2017 shall be entitled to attend the said meeting or appoint
proxies to attend and/or vote on his behalf.
(vii) Pursuant to Paragraph 8.29A(1) of the Main Market Listing Requirements of Bursa Malaysia Securities Berhad, all the Resolutions set out in the
Notice will be put to vote by poll.

Fold this flap for sealing
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stamp

The Company Secretary
YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD (13585-A)
Lot 85, Jalan Portland
Tasek Industrial Estate
31400 Ipoh,
Perak Darul Ridzuan
MALAYSIA

2nd Fold here
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YEE LEE CORPORATION BHD (13585-A)
Lot 85, Jalan Portland, Tasek Industrial Estate,
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